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Merger Plan

The Boards of Directors of Arcus ASA ("Arcus") and Altia Plc ("Altia") propose to the Extraordinary
General Meetings of the respective companies that the Extraordinary General Meetings resolve on a
merger of Arcus into Altia where all assets, rights and liabilities of Arcus shall be transferred through a
statutory cross-border absorption merger without a liquidation procedure to Altia, as set forth in this
merger plan (the "Merger Plan") (the "Merger").

As merger consideration, the shareholders of Arcus shall receive new shares of Altia, in proportion to
their existing shareholdings with aggregated fractional entitlements to new shares being sold in public
trading on Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd (the "Helsinki Stock Exchange") or Oslo Bgrs for the benefit of the
shareholders entitled to such fractions. Arcus shall automatically dissolve as a result of the Merger.
However, the Board of Directors of the Recipient Company may at its sole discretion decide to maintain
a branch office of the Combined Company in Norway following the dissolution of Arcus.

The Merger shall be carried out in accordance with Chapter 16 of the Finnish Companies Act (624/2006,
as amended) (the "Finnish Companies Act"), Chapter 13 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability
Companies Act of 13 June 1997 No. 45 (the "Norwegian Public Companies Act"), Section 52 a of the
Finnish Business Tax Act (360/1968, as amended), and Chapter 11 of the Norwegian Income Tax Act.

1. COMPANIES INVOLVED IN THE MERGER
1.1 Merging Company

Corporate name:  Arcus ASA ("Arcus" or the "Merging Company")

Business ID: 987 470 569

Corporate form: Norwegian Public Limited Liability Company
(nw. allmennaksjeselskap)

Address: Destilleriveien 11, 1481 Hagan, Norway

Domicile: Nittedal, Norway

Register authority  The Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises, Havnegata 48,
and its address: Brgnngysund, Norway (the "Norwegian Business Register")

The Merging Company is a public limited liability company, the shares of which are publicly
traded on the official list of Oslo Bars.

1.2 Recipient Company

Corporate name:  Altia Plc ("Altia" or the "Recipient Company")

Business ID: 1505555-7

Corporate form: Finnish Public Limited Liability Company (fi. julkinen osakeyhti®)
Address: Kaapeliaukio 1, 00180 Helsinki, Finland

Domicile: Helsinki, Finland

Register authority ~ Finnish Patent and Registration Office, Sérnaisten rantatie 13 C,
and its address: FI-00530 Helsinki, Finland (the "Finnish Trade Register")

The Recipient Company is a public limited liability company, the shares of which are publicly
traded on the official list of the Helsinki Stock Exchange.

The Merging Company and the Recipient Company are hereinafter individually also referred
to as a "Party” and jointly referred to as the “Parties” or the “Companies Involved in the
Merger” and the Recipient Company after the Merger is hereinafter referred to as the
"Combined Company".
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Combined Company

The corporate details of the Combined Company will be as set out above for the Recipient
Company, except for the corporate name which shall change to Anora Group Plc. The
Combined Company shall have its domicile in Helsinki, Finland, and headquarter functions in
Helsinki.

The Combined Company will continue to be listed on the official list of Nasdaq Helsinki. The
Parties will seek to ensure that the shares in the Combined Company or depository receipts
or interests representing the shares in the Combined Company, as the case may be, will be
subject to a secondary listing on the Oslo Bgars, in connection with the completion of the Merger
or as soon as possible thereatfter, for a transitional period of four (4) months from the first day
of the secondary listing on the Oslo Bars, after which the shares in the Combined Company
(or depository receipts or interests representing the shares in the Combined Company, as the
case may be) shall be delisted from the Oslo Bars. The Board of Directors of the Combined
Company is instructed to implement the delisting by separate application to the Oslo Bgars.

The Combined Company's CEO will be Pekka Tennila, the current CEO of Altia.

REASONS FOR THE MERGER

The Companies Involved in the Merger have on 29 September 2020 entered into an
agreement concerning the combination of the business operations of the Companies Involved
in the Merger through a statutory cross-border absorption merger of the Merging Company
into the Recipient Company in accordance with the Finnish Companies Act, the Norwegian
Public Companies Act and this Merger Plan (the "Combination Agreement").

The Merger will form a wine and spirits brand house with leading presence across the Nordics
with a relevant market presence also in the Baltics. The Combined Company will have a unique
portfolio of iconic local, regional and global wine and spirits brands. This, combined with deep
consumer insights and strong innovation capabilities will enable the Combined Company to
achieve growth and meet changing consumer needs even better. The Combined Company
will offer a one-stop shop for customers both in on- and off-trade. Further, its wide distribution
presence in the complex Nordic markets and enhanced sales excellence, will make the
Combined Company an even more attractive partner.

The transaction will allow the Combined Company to strive for growth and more powerful
product launches both in and outside the Nordics. The Combined Company’s attractive brand
portfolio has significant export potential. With a strong combined cash flow, the Combined
Company will be a competitive Northern European player able to seek further growth also
through targeted M&A.

The Merger provides a step-change in scale with expected efficiencies throughout the value
chain. It will allow the Combined Company to improve its cost position and seek for additional
efficiency gains long term. The transaction will also form more competitive Industrial and
Logistics business units through increased internal volumes. The combination targets EBITDA
net synergies of around EUR 8-10 million annually, to be achieved through cost synergies in
sourcing, manufacturing, logistics and SG&A as well as revenue synergies from home markets
and beyond. The companies expect that most of the synergies will be achieved within
approximately two years from completion of the Merger. The combination is also expected to
create long-term positive effects that will continue to materialise even after this period.

Reference is made to the public announcement of the Merger for further information about its
rationale and details.

PROPOSAL TO THE GENERAL MEETINGS OF THE MERGING COMPANY AND THE
RECIPIENT COMPANY

The Boards of Directors of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company propose to the
Extraordinary General Meetings of the respective companies that the Merger according to this
Merger Plan is adopted.



The Extraordinary General Meetings of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company
resolving on the Merger are expected to be held in November 2020 on the same date.

AMENDMENTS TO THE RECIPIENT COMPANY'S ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The current Articles of Association of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company are
attached to this Merger Plan as Appendix 1A and Appendix 1B, respectively.

As part of the Merger and the resolutions to be made by the Recipient Company's
Extraordinary General Meeting in connection therewith, and effective as from completion of
the Merger, the Articles of Association of the Combined Company shall be amended to read
as set out in Appendix 1C.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND REMUNERATION

According to the proposed Articles of Association of the Combined Company, the Combined
Company shall have a Board of Directors consisting of a minimum of three (3) and a maximum
of eight (8) members. The number of members of the Board of Directors of the Combined
Company shall be confirmed and the members of the Board of Directors shall be elected by
the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Recipient Company resolving on the Merger. Both
decisions shall be conditional upon the registration of the execution of the Merger with the
Finnish Trade Register. The term of such members of the Board of Directors shall commence
on the date of registration of the execution of the Merger with the Finnish Trade Register (the
"Effective Date") and shall expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting of the Combined
Company in 2022. As part of its approval of the Merger, the Board of Directors of the Recipient
Company proposes to the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders a temporary
amendment to the Articles of Association to enable the term of such members of the Board of
Directors of the Combined Company to expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting of the
Combined Company in 2022.

The Shareholders’ Nomination Board of the Recipient Company, after consultation with the
Nomination Committee of the Merging Company, proposes to the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Recipient Company resolving on the Merger that the Board of Directors of the
Combined Company shall consist of eight (8) members elected by the shareholders and that:
Michael Holm Johansen, current member of the board of Arcus, be conditionally elected as
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Combined Company, that Sanna Suvanto-
Harsaae, current member of the board of Altia, be conditionally elected as the Vice Chairman
of the Board of Directors of the Combined Company, that Jyrki Maki-Kala and Torsten
Steenholt, each a current member of the Board of Directors of the Recipient Company, be
conditionally elected to continue to serve on the Board of Directors of the Combined Company,
that Kirsten ZEgidius, Ingeborg Flgnes and Nils Selte, each a current member of the Board of
Directors of the Merging Company, be conditionally elected as new members of the Board of
Directors of the Combined Company, and that Sinikka Mustakari be conditionally elected as a
new member of the Board of Directors of the Combined Company, all for the term commencing
on the Effective Date and expiring at the end of the Annual General Meeting of the Combined
Company in 2022.

In addition, the Merging Company and the Recipient Company will comply with the rules for
arranging employee participation in connection with a statutory cross-border merger as
described in Clause 12, which may include arrangements to have employee representatives
on the Board of Directors of the Combined Company.

The Shareholders’ Nomination Board of the Recipient Company, after consultation with the
Nomination Committee of the Merging Company, proposes to the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Recipient Company resolving on the Merger that the remuneration payable to
the members conditionally elected as members of the Board of Directors of the Combined
Company would be in line with the resolutions of the Annual General Meeting of Altia held on
4 June 2020. The annual remuneration of the members conditionally elected to the Board of
Directors of the Combined Company shall be paid in proportion to the length of their term in
office. The remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors potentially nominated by
the employees as employee representatives shall be determined by the Board of Directors
separately but will not in any event exceed the remuneration of the other members of the



Board of Directors. The term of the members of the Board of Directors of the Recipient
Company not conditionally elected to continue to serve on the Board of Directors of the
Combined Company for the term commencing on the Effective Date shall end on the Effective
Date.

The term of the members of the Board of Directors of the Merging Company shall end on the
Effective Date.

The Shareholders’ Nomination Board of the Recipient Company, after consultation with the
Nomination Committee of the Merging Company, may amend the above-mentioned proposal
concerning the election of members of the Board of Directors of the Combined Company, in
case one or more of the above-mentioned persons would not be available for election at the
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Recipient Company resolving on the Merger.

The Board of Directors of the Recipient Company, after consultation with the Shareholders’
Nomination Board of the Recipient Company and the Nomination Committee of the Merging
Company, may as necessary convene a General Meeting of Shareholders after the
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Recipient Company resolving on the Merger to resolve
to supplement or amend the composition of the Board of Directors of the Combined Company
or their remuneration prior to the Effective Date, in case a conditionally elected member of the
Board of Directors of the Combined Company dies, resigns or for any other reason has to be
replaced by another person or their remuneration be amended for some other reason.

As part of its approval of the Merger, the Shareholders' Nomination Board of the Recipient
Company proposes to the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders a temporary
deviation from the Charter of the Recipient Company's Shareholders' Nomination Board to the
effect that, should the Effective Date be later than 1 June 2021, the members of the
Shareholders' Nomination Board of the Combined Company will be determined based on the
three (3) largest shareholders in the Combined Company on the tenth business day following
the Effective Date.

EXCHANGE RATIO

The Merger is based on an exchange ratio reflecting a relative value of Altia and Arcus of 53.5
. 46.5 (the "Exchange Ratio"), in addition to which an extra dividend in the maximum total
amount of EUR 0.40 per share in Altia (corresponding to approximately EUR 14,456,194
million) will be paid to Altia's shareholders before the Merger is completed (the extra dividend
is in addition to the dividend of EUR 0.21 per share authorized by the Annual General Meeting
of Altia held on 4 June 2020 (corresponding to approximately EUR 7,589,501.85 million) and
payable before the end of 2020).

The Exchange Ratio has been determined based on the assessed relative valuations of the
Merging Company and the Recipient Company, applying generally used valuation methods,
including market-based valuations and profitability contributions of the Companies Involved in
the Merger.

Based on their respective relative value determinations, supported by fairness opinions
obtained by the Boards of Directors of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company from
their respective financial advisors, each of the Boards of Directors of the Merging Company
and the Recipient Company, respectively, have concluded that the valuations and the
Exchange Ratio are fair and that the Merger and the Merger Consideration are in the best
interest of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company, respectively, and in the best
interest of their respective shareholders.

MERGER CONSIDERATION
Merger Consideration

The shareholders of the Merging Company shall receive as merger consideration 0.4618 new
shares of the Combined Company (the "Consideration Shares") for each share owned in the
Merging Company per each individual book-entry account (the "Merger Consideration"). The
Consideration Shares shall be issued to the shareholders of the Merging Company in



7.2

7.3

7.4

proportion to their shareholding in the Merging Company at a record date to be set in
connection with completion of the Merger.

No Consideration Shares will be issued with respect to shares in the Merging Company held
by the Merging Company itself or by the Recipient Company.

On the date of this Merger Plan, the number of issued and outstanding shares in the Merging
Company is 68,023,255, which includes 6,948 treasury shares. Based on the situation on the
date of this Merger Plan and the agreed Exchange Ratio, the total number of shares in the
Recipient Company to be issued as Merger Consideration would therefore be 31,409,930
shares.

There is only one share class in the Recipient Company, and the shares of the Recipient
Company do not have a nominal value.

In case the number of shares received by a shareholder of the Merging Company (per each
individual book-entry account as Merger Consideration is a fractional number, the fractions
shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share for the purpose of determining the number
of Consideration Shares to be received by the relevant shareholder. Fractional entitlements to
new shares of the Combined Company shall be aggregated and sold in public trading on the
Helsinki Stock Exchange or the Oslo Bgrs and the proceeds shall be distributed to
shareholders of the Merging Company entitled to receive such fractional entitlements in
proportion to their holding of such fractional entitlements. Any costs related to the sale and
distribution of fractional entittements shall be borne by the Recipient Company.

With the exception of proceeds from the sale of possible fractional entittements, no other cash
consideration will be paid in connection with the Merger.

Allocation of the Merger Consideration

The allocation of the Merger Consideration will be based on the shareholding in the Merging
Company at a record date to be set in connection with completion of the Merger.

The final total number of shares in the Combined Company to be issued as Merger
Consideration shall be determined on the basis of the number of shares in the Merging
Company held by shareholders of the Merging Company, other than shares held by the
Merging Company itself or the Recipient Company, at a record date to be set in connection
with completion of the Merger. Such total number of shares to be issued as Merger
Consideration shall be rounded down to the nearest full share.

The final number of shares to be issued as Merger Consideration may be affected by, among
others, any change concerning the number of shares issued by and outstanding in the Merging
Company or held by the Merging Company as treasury shares, e.g., the Merging Company
transferring existing treasury shares in accordance with existing share-based incentive plans,
prior to the Effective Date.

Other consideration

Apart from the Merger Consideration and proceeds from the sale of fractional entitlements, all
as set forth in this Clause 7 above, no other consideration shall be distributed to the
shareholders of the Merging Company.

Share options and other rights entitling to shares in the Merging Company

The Merging Company has issued certain share options to its senior executives (stock options
2018, stock options 2019 and stock options 2020) (the "Option Program"). At the date of this
Merger Plan, 1,062,091 stock options 2018, 2,033,802 stock options 2019 and 2,508,879
stock options 2020 remain outstanding and would become vested in April 2021, April 2022
and April 2023, respectively. The stock options have KPI based vesting criteria that have to
be fully or partially met in order to be exercisable. The Arcus Board has due to the Merger
resolved to terminate the Option Program with effect from completion of the Merger and
agreed with the option holders that the option holders shall be compensated with a cash
payment following completion of the Merger. Based on the adjustment mechanism applicable
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to mergers where Arcus is not the surviving entity, the number of outstanding stock options
have been reduced so that the number of outstanding stock options at the date of this Merger
Plan are no (0) 2018 stock options, 476,437 2019 stock options and 339,163 2020 stock
options (the "Options"). All of the Options will lapse on completion of the Merger and the
option holders will, as compensation, receive an amount of NOK 4.49, NOK 8.71 and NOK
11.06, respectively, for each 2018 stock options, 2019 stock options and 2020 stock options.
The total amount of compensation to the option holders will be NOK 7,900,921.

DISTRIBUTION OF THE MERGER CONSIDERATION

The Merger Consideration shall be distributed to the shareholders of the Merging Company
on the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably possible thereafter.

The Consideration Shares may be delivered in the form of directly held shares in the Combined
Company in the book-entry securities system maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd., depository
receipts or depositary interests registered at the Norwegian Central Securities Depository or
similar arrangements. The Parties will seek a listing of the Combined Company on the Oslo
Bgrs, and in case of a listing the Combined Company shall facilitate the holding and trading of
shares by current shareholders of the Merging Company through VPS registration of
depository receipts, depositary interests or similar arrangements as the default option, or, if
possible, direct VPS registration of shares in the Combined Company. In the event that the
Combined Company's shares, depositary receipts or depositary interests are not listed on the
Oslo Bgars, the Combined Company shall facilitate and cover the cost of any shareholders of
the Merging Company who wish, within (3) months from the Effective Date to switch to holding
shares registered in Euroclear Finland Ltd., whether through a nominee structure or other
structure generally suitable for the current shareholder base.

The Consideration Shares shall carry full shareholder rights, including rights to dividends, as
from the date of their registration with the Finnish Trade Register.

OPTION RIGHTS AND OTHER SPECIAL RIGHTS ENTITLING TO SHARES

The shareholders in the Merging Company do not hold any special rights as set out in
Section 13-26(2) no. 7 of the Norwegian Public Companies Act or other special rights in the
Merging Company. There are no such rights in the Merging Company as set out in Section 11-
1, 11-10 and 11-12 (financial instruments) of the Norwegian Public Companies Act or other
special rights in the Merging Company, other than certain share options issued to key
employees as set out in Clause 7.4 above.

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMBINED COMPANY

The share capital of the Combined Company shall be increased by EUR 1,019,621.64 in
connection with the registration of the execution of the Merger in accordance with the
accounting treatment described in Clause 11.

DESCRIPTION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY OF THE
MERGING COMPANY AND OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES RELEVANT TO THEIR
VALUATION, OF THE EFFECT OF THE MERGER ON THE BALANCE SHEET OF THE
RECIPIENT COMPANY AND OF THE ACCOUNTING TREATMENT TO BE APPLIED IN
THE MERGER

In the Merger, all (including known, unknown and conditional) assets, liabilities and
responsibilities as well as agreements and commitments and the rights and obligations relating
thereto of the Merging Company, and any items that replace or substitute any such item, will
transfer to the Recipient Company by operation of law.

The Recipient Company has obtained adequate back-up financing commitments from a
recognised lender in connection with the Merger. The Parties shall prior to the execution of
the Merger jointly agree upon the steps to be taken with respect to the existing financing
arrangements of the Parties, inter alia, with respect to financing arrangements that will transfer
to and be continued by the Recipient Company and financing arrangements to be refinanced
and/or repaid and cancelled.
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The Merger is to be carried out by applying the acquisition method using book values for
accounting purposes. The assets and the liabilities in the closing accounts of the Merging
Company are recognised at book value in appropriate asset and liability line items in the
balance sheet of the Recipient Company in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act
(1336/1997, as amended) and the Finnish Accounting Decree (1339/1997, as amended),
except for the items relating to receivables and liabilities between the Recipient Company and
the Merging Company; these receivables and liabilities will be extinguished in the Merger.

The equity of the Recipient Company shall be formed in the Merger by applying the acquisition
method so that the amount corresponding the book value of the net assets of the Merging
Company shall be recorded into reserve for invested unrestricted equity of the Recipient
Company with the exception of the increase in share capital as described in Clause 10.

A description of the assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity of the Merging Company and
an illustration of the post-Merger indicative balance sheet of the Recipient Company is
attached to this Merger Plan as Appendix 2.

The final effects of the Merger on the balance sheet of the Recipient Company will be
determined according to the circumstances and the laws and regulations governing the
preparation of the financial statements in Finland (“Finnish Accounting Standards”) at the
Effective Date of the Merger.

EMPLOYEES' PARTICIPATION IN THE MERGER PROCESS AND LIKELY
REPERCUSSIONS OF THE MERGER ON EMPLOYMENT

The employees of the Merging Company shall be transferred to the Recipient Company in
connection with the execution of the Merger by operation of law as so-called old employees.
The Recipient Company shall assume the obligations arising from the employment and service
relationships of the transferring personnel and the related benefits as in force at the Effective
Date.

The employees of the subsidiaries and affiliated companies of the Merging Company are not
directly affected by the Merger, as their employment relationships will remain with their current
employers and not be transferred to a new employer. The position of the CEO of the Merging
Company will terminate at the latest upon completion of the Merger. Otherwise no employment
or service contracts concluded with the employees of the Merging Company, the Recipient
Company, or their subsidiaries or affiliated companies shall terminate due to the transaction.

Any information or consultation obligations, to the extent they may be required pursuant to the
applicable laws, regulations and collective bargaining agreements, including but not limited to
the Finnish Act on Co-operation within Undertakings (334/2007) and Chapter 16 of the
Norwegian Employment Act no62 of 17 June 2005, which implement the Council directive
2001/23/EC of 12 March 2001, shall be complied with. Each Party shall comply with all the
statutory requirements relating to the employee transfer and jointly coordinate with the other
Party the actions to be taken in relation thereto.

At the date of signing of this Merger Plan, the Recipient Company does not have any employee
representatives in the Board of Directors, whereas the Merging Company has three (3)
employee representatives in the Board of Directors based on a group scheme comprising the
Merging Company's Norwegian subsidiaries and in accordance with applicable law,
agreement and a decision by the previous Norwegian Industrial Democracy Board. The
Merging Company and the Recipient Company will comply with the rules for arranging
employee participation in connection with a statutory cross-border merger, which may include
arrangements to have employee representatives on the Board of Directors of the Combined
Company.

Since the Combined Company will be domiciled in Finland, it will be subject to the Finnish
regulations on employee patrticipation. The Finnish Act on Personnel Representation in the
Company Administration (725/1990) and the Finnish Act on Employee Involvement in
European Companies (SE) (758/2004) as referred to therein, which implement the directive
2005/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 October 2005, set out the
rules for arranging employee participation in connection with a statutory cross-border merger.
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In accordance with the aforementioned acts, unless the Parties make a joint decision of
applying the so-called standard rules set forth by Section 9b of the Finnish Act on Personnel
Representation in the Company Administration and the relevant Sections of the Finnish Act
on Employee Involvement in European Companies (SE), the Parties will enter into negotiations
with the special negotiating body of the employees regarding the arrangement of employee
participation within the Combined Company.

Employee representation in the boards of directors of the subsidiaries of the Companies
Involved in the Merger will remain or be established in accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations in each jurisdiction.

To the extent workforce reductions or other measures should be considered in the future, there
will be separate discussions and/or employee consultations with the Combined Company's
employees and/or their representatives in accordance with the applicable laws, regulations
and collective bargaining agreements in each jurisdiction.

MATTERS OUTSIDE ORDINARY BUSINESS OPERATIONS

From the date of this Merger Plan and until completion of the Merger, each of the Parties shall
continue to conduct their operations in the ordinary course of business and in a manner
consistent with past practice of the relevant Party, unless the Parties specifically agree
otherwise in line with the provisions of the Combination Agreement.

The Board of Directors of the Recipient Company proposes to the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Recipient Company resolving on the Merger that the Board of Directors of the
Recipient Company be authorized to resolve on the payment of an extra dividend in the
maximum total amount of EUR 0.40 per share, in addition to the authorization by the Annual
General Meeting of the Recipient Company held on 4 June 2020 to resolve on a payment of
dividend in the maximum total amount of EUR 0.21 per share prior to the end of 2020, to the
shareholders of the Recipient Company prior to the Effective Date (in aggregate a maximum
total amount of EUR 0.61 per share representing approximately EUR 22,045,695.85, the “Pre-
Completion Dividend”).

The Board of Directors of the Merging Company intends to propose to the Extraordinary
General Meeting of the Merging Company to carry out a change to the Merging Company's
corporate structure before completion of the Merger by creating a new holding company, Arcus
Holding AS, for the operations of the Arcus group. This reorganisation will be carried out by
way of a demerger of Arcus whereby substantially all of the assets, rights and liabilities of
Arcus will be transferred to a new company, Arcus NewCo AS, and a parallel tripartite merger
of Arcus NewCo AS into Arcus Holding AS, resulting in substantially all of the current assets,
rights and liabilities of Arcus being owned by Arcus Holding AS (the "Reorganisation™). In
order to facilitate for the demerger in the Reorganisation, Arcus will propose to increase the
nominal value of each of Arcus' shares from NOK 0.02 to NOK 5.00 by way of a bonus issue
(the "Bonus Issue"). After completion of the Reorganisation and the Merger, Arcus Holding
AS will be a wholly owned subsidiary of the Combined Company serving as a holding company
for the former Arcus’ part of the operations of the combined group.

Other than in connection with the Reorganisation and Bonus Issue in the Merging Company,
existing option-based incentive plans of the key employees of the Merging Company, the
annual share savings programme for employees of the Merging Company, the share-based
incentive programme of the Recipient Company, and the distribution of the Pre-Completion
Dividend by the Recipient Company to its shareholders, the Merging Company and the
Recipient Company shall during the Merger process not resolve on any matters (regardless of
whether such matters are ordinary or extraordinary) which would affect the shareholders’
equity or number of outstanding shares in the relevant company, including but not limited to
share issues or redemptions, acquisition or disposal of treasury shares, dividend distributions,
changes in share capital, or any comparable actions, or take or commit to take any such
actions, unless the Parties specifically agree otherwise.
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CAPITAL LOANS

Neither the Merging Company or the Recipient Company has issued any capital loans, as
defined in Chapter 12, Section 1 of the Finnish Companies Act.

SHAREHOLDINGS BETWEEN THE MERGING COMPANY AND THE RECIPIENT
COMPANY

On the date of this Merger Plan, the Merging Company or its subsidiaries do not own and the
Merging Company agrees not to acquire and to cause its subsidiaries not to acquire any
shares in the Recipient Company and the Recipient Company does not own and agrees not
to acquire and to cause its subsidiaries not to acquire any shares in the Merging Company,
unless the Parties specifically agree otherwise in writing.

On the date of this Merger Plan, the Merging Company holds 6,948 treasury shares. Neither
of the Companies Involved in the Merger has a parent company.

BUSINESS MORTGAGES

On the date of this Merger Plan, there are no business mortgages as defined in the Finnish
Act on Business Mortgages (634/1984, as amended) pertaining to the assets of either the
Merging Company or the Recipient Company.

SPECIAL BENEFITS OR RIGHTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE MERGER

Except as set forth below, no special benefits or rights, each within the meaning of the Finnish
Companies Act and the Norwegian Public Companies Act, shall be granted in connection with
the Merger to any members of the Board of Directors, the CEOs, or the auditors of either the
Merging Company or the Recipient Company, or to the auditors issuing expert statements on
this Merger Plan to the Merging Company and the Recipient Company.

The CEO of the Recipient Company is entitled to a transaction bonus in the maximum amount
of 70% of his annual base salary and a retention bonus in the maximum amount of 70% of his
annual base salary.

The CEO of the Merging Company is entitled to a transaction bonus equivalent to 8.5 months
of his fixed base salary and an additional transaction bonus equivalent to 6 months of his fixed
base salary upon a successful completion of the Merger. The latter amount will be gradually
reduced in the event that the CEO should resign prior to completion of the Merger.

The remuneration of the auditors issuing their statement on this Merger Plan is proposed to
be paid in accordance with an invoice approved by the Board of Directors of the Recipient
Company and the Board of Directors of the Merging Company, respectively.

REGISTRATION OF THE EXECUTION OF THE MERGER AND CONDITIONS FOR SUCH
REGISTRATION

Subject to the approval of the required resolutions by the respective Extraordinary General
Meetings, each Party, including the Boards of Directors of the Companies Involved in the
Merger, undertakes to procure that the necessary resolutions are made and actions taken to
facilitate the Merger. Specifically, promptly following the signing date of the Merger Plan the
Parties shall:

(&) ensure filing of the Merger Plan with the Norwegian Business Register in accordance
with Section 13-25 (2) no. 5, cf. Section 13-13 of the Norwegian Public Companies Act
and with the Finnish Trade Register in accordance with Chapter 16 Section 24 of the
Finnish Companies Act;

(b)  make the Merger Plan available to the Parties' respective shareholders in accordance
with the Finnish Companies Act and the Norwegian Public Companies Act respectively;
and
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(c) convene the Extraordinary General Meetings in the Companies Involved in the Merger
for respective approvals of the Merger in accordance with the Merger Plan.

Subject to the conditions set out in Clause 22 of this Merger Plan, the Merger will be executed
when the Finnish Trade Register has registered the Merger in the Finnish Trade Register
pursuant to Chapter 16, Section 25 of the Finnish Companies Act, whereby the legal
consequences of the Merger enter into force pursuant to Chapter 16, Section 27, first
paragraph of the Finnish Companies Act. The planned Effective Date, meaning the planned
date of registration of the execution of the Merger, is 1 April 2021 (effective registration time
approximately at 00:01:01). The planned Effective Date is not binding and the actual Effective
Date may be earlier or later than above date.

The Boards of Directors of the Companies Involved in the Merger shall have an obligation to
file the notification for the execution of the Merger with the Finnish Trade Register and the
Norwegian Business Register without undue delay after all conditions for the Merger set out
in Clause 22 of this Merger Plan have been fulfilled or duly waived, with a request to register
the Merger.

The Boards of Directors of the Companies Involved in the Merger may jointly resolve not to
implement the Merger, both before and after the Extraordinary General Meetings of the
Companies Involved in the Merger have resolved upon the Merger.

At the date of registration of completion of the Merger with the Finnish Trade Register all
assets, obligations and liabilities of the Merging Company shall be deemed to be transferred
to the Combined Company and at the same time the Merging Company shall be dissolved.
However, the Board of Directors of the Recipient Company may at its sole discretion decide
to maintain a branch office of the Combined Company in Norway following the dissolution of
Arcus.

MERGER DATE FOR ACCOUNTING PURPOSES

The Merger is expected to be implemented with effect for accounting purposes as from the
Effective Date and from the Effective Date the transactions of the Merging Company will be
treated for accounting purposes as being those of the Combined Company.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WHICH HAVE FORMED THE BASIS FOR THE
DETERMINATION OF THE TERMS OF THE MERGER

The terms of this Merger are based on the financial statements of the Merging Company as of
31 December 2019, the financial statements of the Recipient Company as of 31 December
2019 and the interim reports of both companies as of 30 June 2020, all of which are attached

as Appendix 3A.

The financial statements of the Merging Company are prepared in accordance with the
Norwegian Accounting Act of 17 July 1998 number 56 (as amended).The financial statements
of the Recipient Company are prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act
(1336/1997, as amended).

The consolidated financial statements of the Companies Involved in the Merger are prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union.

The consolidated financial statements of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company
as of 31 December 2018 and 2017, are attached as Appendix 3B.

LISTING OF THE NEW SHARES OF THE RECIPIENT COMPANY AND DELISTING OF THE
SHARES OF THE MERGING COMPANY

The Recipient Company shall apply for the listing of the Consideration Shares to be issued by
the Recipient Company to public trading on the Helsinki Stock Exchange. The Parties will seek
to ensure that the shares in the Combined Company or depository receipts or interests
representing the shares in the Combined Company, as the case may be, will be subject to a
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secondary listing on the Oslo Bgrs in connection with the completion of the Merger or as soon
as possible thereafter, for a transitional period of four (4) months from the first day of the
secondary listing on the Oslo Bgrs, after which the shares in the Combined Company (or
depository receipts or interests representing the shares in the Combined Company, as the
case may be) shall be delisted from the Oslo Bgrs. The Board of Directors of the Combined
Company is instructed to implement the delisting by separate application to the Oslo Bgrs.

For the purposes of the Merger, the listing of the Consideration Shares, and the secondary
listing on the Oslo Bgrs, a merger prospectus will be published by the Recipient Company
before the Extraordinary General Meetings of the Recipient Company and the Merging
Company, respectively, resolving on the Merger. The listing of and trading in the Consideration
Shares shall begin on the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably possible thereafter.

The trading in the shares of the Merging Company on Oslo Bgrs is expected to end at the end
of the last trading day preceding the Effective Date and the shares in the Merging Company
are expected to cease to be listed on Oslo Bgrs as of the Effective Date, at the latest.

CONDITIONS FOR EXECUTING THE MERGER

Completion of the Merger is for each of the Companies Involved in the Merger conditional only
upon the fulfilment or, to the extent permitted by applicable law, waiver of the following
conditions:

(a) approval of the Merger at the Extraordinary General Meetings of the Companies
Involved in the Merger;

(b)  approval of the Pre-Completion Dividend to the shareholders of the Recipient Company
and such distribution having been executed;

(c) competition approvals and regulatory approvals having been obtained in accordance
with the Combination Agreement;

(d) the Recipient Company having obtained written confirmations from Helsinki Stock
Exchange that listing of the Consideration Shares will take place promptly upon the
completion of the Merger;

(e) the financing required in connection with the Merger being available materially in
accordance with the post-Completion financing arrangements as further regulated
under the Combination Agreement;

() no event of default under any arrangement in respect of financial indebtedness of either
Party having occurred and is continuing or is reasonably likely to occur as a result of
the completion, if such event of default would, in the opinion of the Boards of Directors
of both Parties acting in good faith, be reasonably expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Combined Company;

(@) no material adverse effect having occurred on or after the date of signing of the
Combination Agreement (the "Signing Date") or neither of the Companies Involved in
the Merger having, on or after the Signing Date, received information on a material
adverse effect having occurred prior to the Signing Date and previously undisclosed to
it;

(h) the Parties having in all material respects complied with their respective covenants and
obligations included in the Combination Agreement, including having satisfied all their
obligations to fulfil the statutory requirements for the Merger and the completion under
the Finnish Companies Act and the Norwegian Public Companies Act; and

0] the Combination Agreement remaining in force and not having been terminated.

Each of the Boards of Directors in the Companies Involved in the Merger has the right to, in
their sole discretion and without approval from the Extraordinary General Meeting, to the
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extent permitted by applicable law, to waive any of the conditions for completion set out above
on behalf of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company, respectively.

Furthermore, the Combination Agreement may be terminated with immediate effect prior to
completion of the Merger only as follows:

(&) by mutual written consent duly authorised by the Boards of Directors of the Companies
Involved in the Merger;

(b) by either Party if (a) the conditions for completion of the Merger have not been fulfilled
by the long stop date as set out in the Combination Agreement or (b) it becomes evident
(including, without limitation, due to a material adverse effect incapable of being cured
occurring, appearing or being disclosed to the other Party after the Signing Date or due
to a Party failing to fulfil any of its undertakings or obligations resulting in the failure of
the completion) that the Completion cannot take place by the long stop date regardless
of any possible course of action by the Parties, provided, however, that the right in (a)
and (b) to terminate is not available to the Party whose failure to fulfil any undertaking
or obligation under the Combination Agreement has resulted in the completion not
occurring by such date;

(c) Dby either Party, if either or both of the respective Extraordinary General Meetings of the
Companies Involved in the Merger have not considered the resolutions regarding
approval of the Merger within four months of the registration of the Merger Plan with the
Finnish Trade Register or if, upon consideration by the Extraordinary General Meetings,
they have failed to be duly approved;

(d) by either Party if any governmental entity (including, but not limited to, any competition
authority) shall have given an order or taken any regulatory action that is non-
appealable and conclusively prohibits the effecting of the completion; and

(e) by the non-breaching Party upon a breach by the other Party of any representation and
warranty given under the Combination Agreement, provided that such breach has
resulted, or could reasonably be expected to result, in a material adverse effect as
regulated under the Combination Agreement.

AUXILIARY TRADE NAMES

In connection with the execution of the Merger, the auxiliary trade names set out in Appendix
4 are registered for the Combined Company.

MERGER REPORT

The Boards of Directors of the Companies Involved in the Merger shall prepare a merger report
in accordance with Section 13-27 of the Norwegian Public Companies Act and Chapter 16,
Section 22 of the Finnish Companies Act.

LANGUAGE VERSIONS

This Merger Plan has been prepared and executed in English. The Parties shall prepare
Finnish and Norwegian translations. Should any discrepancies exist between the English,
Finnish and Norwegian versions, the English version shall prevail.

OTHER ISSUES

Upon resolving the Merger Plan, the General Meetings grant the Boards of Directors of the
Merging Company and the Recipient Company authorisation to jointly complete any minor
amendments in the Merger Plan if this does not cause any harm or disadvantage for the
companies, their creditors or the shareholders.

This Merger Plan is governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian and Finnish
law, as applicable, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule
(whether of Norway, Finland or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the
laws of any jurisdiction other than Norway or Finland.



Any dispute, controversy or claim between the Parties arising out of or relating to this Merger
Plan shall be finally settled by arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the Finland
Chamber of Commerce. The number of arbitrators shall be three (3). Altia shall appoint one
(1) arbitrator and Arcus shall appoint one (1) arbitrator. In the event of a failure by any Party
to appoint such party-appointed arbitrator, the Arbitration Institute of the Finland Chamber of
Commerce will make the appointment upon the request of the other Party. The third arbitrator,
who will act as chairman of the arbitral tribunal, will be appointed by the Arbitration Institute of
the Finland Chamber of Commerce unless the two party-appointed arbitrators reach an
agreement on the arbitrator to be appointed as chairman within fourteen (14) days of the
appointment of the latter party-appointed arbitrator. The seat of arbitration shall be Helsinki,
Finland. The language of the arbitration shall be English.

This Merger Plan has been made in two (2) identical counterparts, one (1) for the Merging Company
and one (1) for the Recipient Company.

[Signature pages follow]



In Helsinki, on 29 September 2020

ALTIA PLC
Authorized by the Board of Directors of Altia Plc

SANNA SUVANTO-HARSAAE
By:
Name: Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae
Title: Chairman of the Board of Directors

On 29 September 2020

ARCUS ASA

MICHAEL HOLM JOHANSEN

Michael Holm Johansen
Chairman

ANN-BETH NINA JOHANNESEN FREUCHEN

Ann-Beth Nina Johannesen Freuchen
Board member

CARL ERIK HAGEN

Carl Erik Hagen
Board member

KIRSTEN AGIDIUS

Kirsten Agidius
Board member

ANN THERESE ELISABETH JACOBSEN

Ann Therese Elisabeth Jacobsen
Board member
(representative)

LEENA MARIA SAARINEN

Leena Maria Saarinen
Board member

NILS KLOUMANN SELTE

Nils Kloumann Selte
Board member

INGEBORG FLONES

Ingeborg Flgnes
Board member

ERIK HAGEN

Erik Hagen
Board member
(employee representative)

ANNE-MARIE FLATEN

Anne-Marie Flaten
Board member
(employee representative)
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

The distribution of this document may be restricted by law and persons into whose possession any
document or other information referred to herein comes should inform themselves about and observe
any such restrictions. The information contained herein is not for publication or distribution, in whole or
in part, directly or indirectly, in or into Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, South Africa or any other
jurisdiction where such publication or distribution would violate applicable laws or rules or would require
additional documents to be completed or registered or require any measure to be undertaken in addition
to the requirements under Finnish law. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a
violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. This document is not directed to, and is not
intended for distribution to or use by, any person or entity that is a citizen or resident or located in any
locality, state, country or other jurisdiction where such distribution, publication, availability or use would
be contrary to law or regulation or which would require any registration or licensing within such
jurisdiction.

Altia is a Finnish company and Arcus is a Norwegian company. The transaction, including the
information distributed in connection with the merger and the related shareholder votes, is subject to
disclosure, timing and procedural requirements of a non-U.S. country, which are different from those of
the United States. The financial information included or referred to in this document has been prepared
in accordance with IFRS, which may not be comparable to the accounting standards, financial
statements or financial information of U.S. companies or applicable in the United States.

It may be difficult for U.S. shareholders of Arcus to enforce their rights and any claim they may have
arising under U.S. federal or state securities laws, since Altia and Arcus are not located in the United
States, and all or some of their officers and directors are residents of non-U.S. jurisdictions. It may be
difficult to compel a foreign company and its affiliates to subject themselves to a U.S. court’s judgment.
U.S. shareholders of Arcus may not be able to sue Altia or Arcus or their respective officers and directors
in a non-U.S. court for violations of U.S. laws, including federal securities laws, or at the least it may
prove to be difficult to evidence such claims. Further, it may be difficult to compel Altia or Arcus and their
affiliates to subject themselves to the jurisdiction of a U.S. court. In addition, there is substantial doubt
as to the enforceability in a foreign country in original actions, or in actions for the enforcement of
judgments of U.S. courts, based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws.

This document does not constitute a notice to an EGM or a merger prospectus and as such, does not
constitute or form part of and should not be construed as, an offer to sell, or the solicitation or invitation
of any offer to buy, acquire or subscribe for, any securities or an inducement to enter into investment
activity. Any decision with respect to the proposed merger of Arcus into Altia should be made solely on
the basis of information to be contained in the actual notices to the EGM of Arcus and Altia, as
applicable, and the merger prospectus related to the merger as well as on an independent analysis of
the information contained therein. You should consult the merger prospectus for more complete
information about Altia, Arcus, their respective subsidiaries, their respective securities and the merger.

No part of this document, nor the fact of its distribution, should form the basis of, or be relied on in
connection with, any contract or commitment or investment decision whatsoever. The information
contained in this document has not been independently verified. No representation, warranty or
undertaking, expressed or implied, is made as to, and no reliance should be placed on, the fairness,
accuracy, completeness or correctness of the information or the opinions contained herein. Neither Altia
nor Arcus, nor any of their respective affiliates, advisors or representatives or any other person, shall
have any liability whatsoever (in negligence or otherwise) for any loss however arising from any use of
this document or its contents or otherwise arising in connection with this document. Each person must
rely on their own examination and analysis of Altia, Arcus, their respective securities and the merger,
including the merits and risks involved. The transaction may have tax consequences for Arcus
shareholders, who should seek their own tax advice.

The securities referred to in this document have not been, and will not be, registered under the United
States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any state
of the United States (as such term is defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act) and may
not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into the United States absent registration,
except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements
of the U.S. Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable state and other securities laws of the
United States. This document does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy any of
the shares in the United States. Any offer or sale of new Altia shares made in the United States in



connection with the merger may be made pursuant to the exemption from the registration requirements
of the U.S. Securities Act provided by Rule 802 thereunder.

The new shares in Altia have not been and will not be listed on a U.S. securities exchange or quoted on
any inter-dealer quotation system in the United States. Neither Altia nor Arcus intends to take any action
to facilitate a market in the new shares in Altia in the United States.

The new shares in Altia have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, any state securities commission in the United States or any other regulatory authority in
the United States, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed comment upon, or endorsed the
merit of, the merger or the accuracy or the adequacy of this document. Any representation to the contrary
is a criminal offence in the United States.



Appendix 1A

Current Articles of Association of the Merging Company



ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
for
Arcus ASA

(As last amended 29 November 2016)

§1
The business name of the company is Arcus ASA. The company is a public limited liability company.
§2

The registered office of the company is located in the municipality of Nittedal. General meetings can
also be held in the municipality of Oslo.

§3

The company's purpose is to operate, import, export, production, storage and distribution of alcoholic
beverages and other goods, and other business activities in connection therewith, including participation
in other companies engaged in such activities.

§4

The company's share capital is NOK 1,360,465.10 divided on 68,023,255 shares, each with a hominal
value of NOK 0.02. The shares shall be registered in the Norwegian Central Securities Depository
(VPS).

§5

The board of directors of the company shall consist of at least three, but no more than eight shareholder-
elected board members, as adopted by the general meeting. In addition, board members are elected by
and among the employees in accordance with applicable company legislation.

§6

The authority to sign on behalf of the company is held by the chairman of the board alone or two board
members jointly.

87
The annual general meeting shall discuss and decide upon the following:
1) Approval of the annual accounts and annual report, including distribution of dividend.

2) Other matters that according to law or the articles of association are to be decided upon by
the general meeting.

When documents concerning matters to be discussed at general meetings in the company have been
made available to the shareholders on the company’s web pages, the board of directors may decide
that the documents shall not be sent to the shareholders. If so, a shareholder may demand that
documents concerning matters to be discussed at the general meeting be sent to him or her. The
company cannot demand any form of compensation for sending the documents to the shareholders.

Shareholders may cast a written vote in advance in matters to be discussed at the general meetings of
the company. Such votes may also be cast through electronic communication. The access to cast votes
in advance is subject to the presence of a safe method of authenticating the sender. The board of
directors decides whether such a method exists before each individual general meeting. The notice of
general meeting must state whether votes in advance are permitted and which guidelines, if any, that
have been issued for such voting.



The notice of general meeting may state that shareholders wanting to attend the general meeting must
notify the company thereof within a certain period. This period cannot expire sooner than five days
before the meeting.

§8

The company shall have a nomination committee consisting of three members. The members of the
nomination committee shall be shareholders or representatives of shareholders. The members of the
nomination committee, including its chairman, are elected by the general meeting. The members of the
nomination committee’s period of service shall be two years unless the general meeting decides
otherwise. The period of service commences from the time of being elected unless otherwise decided.
It terminates at the end of the annual general meeting of the year in which the period of service expires.
Even if the period of service has expired, the member must remain in his or her position until a new
member has been elected. The members of the nomination committee’s fees shall be determined by
the general meeting.

The nomination committee shall have the following responsibilities:

(I) To give the general meeting its recommendations regarding the election of board members
to be elected by the shareholders

(1) To give the general meeting its recommendations regarding the board members’ fees

(Il To give the general meeting its recommendations regarding the election of members of the
nomination committee

(IV) To give the general meeting its recommendations regarding the members of the nomination
committee’s fees.

The general meeting may issue further guidelines for the nomination committee’s work.
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Current Articles of Association of the Recipient Company



Altia Plc’s Articles of Association

1 Company name and registered office

The company’s name is Altia Oyj in Finnish, Altia Abp in Swedish, and Altia Plc in English.
The company’s registered office is situated in Helsinki, Finland.

2 Company'’s line of business

The company’s line of business is to by itself or through the group companies engage in 1. the
manufacture, import, and sale of alcoholic beverages and products with an alcohol base; 2. the
manufacture, import, and sale of other drinks; 3. the manufacture, import, and sale of ethanol and
products with an ethanol base; 4. the manufacture and sale of other biotechnical and cosmetic, toiletry
and detergent products; 5. the manufacture and sale of agricultural food and feed component; 6. the
manufacture and sale of products made of renewable resources; 7. the training related to these
industries, as well as the sale of the technology and the planning and laboratory services. The Company
may own and possess real estate and securities.

3 Shares
The shares of the Company belong to the book-entry securities system.
4 Company’s board of directors

The company’s Board of Directors shall comprise a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of eight (8)
members. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, and other members of the Board of Directors are elected by
the General Meeting, which also decides on their remuneration. The term of office of the members of
the Board of Directors will expire at the end of the first Annual General Meeting following the election.

Should a Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors resign or become otherwise unable to
act as Chairman or Vice Chairman during their term of office, the Board of Directors shall have the right
to elect a new Chairman or Vice Chairman from among its members for the remaining term of office.

The Board of Directors constitutes a quorum when more than half of the members of the Board of
Directors are present at the meeting.

5 Chief executive officer (ceo)
The company has a CEO elected by the Board of Directors.
6 Company representation

The company is represented by the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO two together. The
Board of Directors may authorise other designated persons to represent the company together with a
board member or another person authorised to represent the company.

The Board of Directors may also grant rights of procuration.
7 Company'’s financial year

The company’s financial year is the calendar year.

8 Company auditors

The company shall have one (1) auditor, which shall be an approved auditing firm. The auditor’s term
shall cover the financial year. The term of office of the auditor shall end at the end of the first Annual
General Meeting following the election.

9 Notice to the general meeting

General Meetings shall be convened by publishing a notice to the meeting on the company’s website
not more than three (3) months and not less than three (3) weeks before the date of the General Meeting,



however, at least nine (9) days before the record date of the General Meeting as provided by the Finnish
Companies Act.

10 Right to attend the general meeting

A shareholder wishing to attend a General Meeting shall notify the company by the date mentioned in
the notice to the meeting, which may not be more than ten (10) days before the meeting.

11 Annual general meeting

The Annual General Meeting must be held annually within six (6) months from the end of the financial
year on the date specified by the Board of Directors.

The General Meeting shall present:

1. financial statements, which includes parent company’s profit and loss account, balance sheet,
and notes, as well as the consolidated financial statements and the Board of Directors’ report;

2. the auditor's report;
shall decide on:
1. the adoption of the financial statements;
2. the use of the profit shown on the balance sheet;
3. the discharge from liability to the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO;
4. the adoption of the remuneration policy, when necessary;
5. the adoption of the remuneration report;

6. the number of the members of the Board of Directors, as well as the remuneration payable
to the members of the Board of Directors and the auditor and;

shall elect:

1. a Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and other members of the Board of
Directors;

2. an auditor;
shall deal with:

1. any matters notified by the shareholders in the manner provided for in Section 5 of Chapter
5 of the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act; and

2. other matters listed in the meeting notice.
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Draft amended Articles of Association of the Combined Company.



Anora Group Plc’s Articles of Association
1 Company name and registered office

The company’s name is Anora Group Oyj in Finnish, Anora Group Abp in Swedish, and Anora Group
Plc in English.

The company’s registered office is situated in Helsinki, Finland.
2 Company'’s line of business

The company'’s line of business is to by itself or through the group companies or joint ventures engage
in 1. the manufacture, import, export, storage, and sale of (a) non-alcoholic and alcoholic beverages
and (b) starch, ethanol and ethanol-based products; 2. the manufacture and sale of other petrochemical
and biotechnical components and products, agricultural food and feed components and products, and
products made of renewable resources; 3. services and training related to these businesses; and 4.
other business activities in connection therewith. The Company may own and possess real estate and
securities.

3 Shares
The shares of the Company belong to the book-entry securities system.
4 Company’s Board of Directors

The company’s Board of Directors shall comprise a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of eight (8)
members. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, and other members of the Board of Directors are elected by
the General Meeting, which also decides on their remuneration. The term of office of the members of
the Board of Directors will expire at the end of the first Annual General Meeting following the election.
However, the term of office of the members of the Board of Directors conditionally elected at the
Extraordinary General Meeting held in 2020 will expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting held
in 2022.

Should a Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors resign or become otherwise unable to
act as Chairman or Vice Chairman during their term of office, the Board of Directors shall have the right
to elect a new Chairman or Vice Chairman from among its members for the remaining term of office.

The Board of Directors constitutes a quorum when more than half of the members of the Board of
Directors are present at the meeting.

5 Chief executive officer (CEO)
The company has a CEO elected by the Board of Directors.
6 Company representation

The company is represented by the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO two together. The
Board of Directors may authorise other designated persons to represent the company together with a
board member, the CEO, or another person authorised to represent the company.

The Board of Directors may also grant rights of procuration.
7 Company'’s financial year

The company’s financial year is the calendar year.

8 Company auditors

The company shall have one (1) auditor, which shall be an approved auditing firm. The auditor’s term
shall cover the financial year. The term of office of the auditor shall end at the end of the first Annual
General Meeting following the election.

9 Notice to the general meeting



General Meetings shall be convened by publishing a notice to the meeting on the company’s website
not more than three (3) months and not less than three (3) weeks before the date of the General Meeting,
however, at least nine (9) days before the record date of the General Meeting as provided by the Finnish
Companies Act.

10 Right to attend the general meeting

A shareholder wishing to attend a General Meeting shall notify the company by the date mentioned in
the notice to the meeting, which may not be more than ten (10) days before the meeting.

11 Annual general meeting

The Annual General Meeting must be held annually within six (6) months from the end of the financial
year on the date specified by the Board of Directors.

The Annual General Meeting shall present:

1. financial statements, which includes parent company’s profit and loss account, balance sheet, and
notes, as well as the consolidated financial statements and the Board of Directors’ report;

2. the auditor's report;
shall decide on:
1. the adoption of the financial statements;
2. the use of the profit shown on the balance sheet;
3. the discharge from liability to the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO;
4. the adoption of the remuneration policy, when necessary;
5. the adoption of the remuneration report;

6. the number of the members of the Board of Directors, as well as the remuneration payable to the
members of the Board of Directors and the auditor and;

shall elect:

1. a Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and other members of the Board of
Directors;

2. an auditor;
shall deal with:

1. any matters notified by the shareholders in the manner provided for in Section 5 of Chapter 5 of
the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act;

2. and other matters listed in the meeting notice.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid in this Article 11, the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2021 shall
decide on the number of the members of the Board of Directors and remuneration payable to the
members of the Board of Directors and elect the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
and other members of the Board of Directors only if the term of office of the members of the Board of
Directors conditionally elected at the Extraordinary General Meeting held in 2020 has not yet begun.



Appendix 2 Description of assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity and valuation of

the Merging Company and the preliminary presentation of the Merger
balance sheet of the Recipient Company

The following Recipient Company’s Merger Balance sheet illustrates the combination of Altia’s balance
sheet as at 30 June 2020 and lllustrative balance sheet of Arcus after the Reorganisation and application
of the acquisition method as defined under Finnish Accounting Standards using book values for the
recording of the Merger. The Merging Company’s balance sheet information has been aligned with
Altia’s Accounting principles. The final effects of the Merger on the balance sheet of the Recipient
Company will be determined according to the balance sheet position and the Finnish Accounting
Standards in force as per the Effective Date.

Recipient
Recipient Company's
Company Merging Preliminary Merger
before Company after Merger Balance

In EUR million Merger? Reorganisation? adjustments® Note Sheet
ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 16 16
Tangible assets 50 50
Investments total 206 52 258
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 272 52 324
Current assets

Inventories total 46 46
Non-current receivables 14 0 14
Current receivables 33 12 45
Cash at hand and in banks 100 0 100
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 193 12 205
TOTAL ASSETS 465 64 529
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 60 31 -30 3a) 62
Share premium 19 -19 3a) 0
Invested unrestricted equity fund 1 51 3a) 52
Hedge reserve -1 -1
Retained earnings and profit for the

period 95 2 -24 3a),3b) 73
TOTAL EQUITY 156 52 -22 186
Appropriations

Depreciation difference 19 19
Provisions

Other provisions 0 0
Liabilities

Non-current liabilities 75 0 75
Current liabilities 215 12 2n) 22 3b) 248
TOTAL LIABILITIES 290 12 22 324
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 465 64 0 529
1) The Recipient Company’s balance sheet before the Merger is derived from the Recipient Company’s unaudited

2)

balance sheet as at 30 June 2020 prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Standards.

The Merging Company’s balance sheet after the Reorganisation illustrates the impacts of the intended
Reorganisation of the Merging Company as described in the Section 13 of the Merger Plan whereby
substantially all of the assets, rights and liabilities of Arcus will be transferred to a new holding company, Arcus
NewCo AS, and parallel tripartite merger of Arcus NewCo AS into Arcus Holding AS (a wholly owned subsidiary
of Arcus). The Reorganisation will create an inter-company receivable which will be subsequently converted
into shares in Arcus Holding AS and recognised in the form of contribution in kind to increase the share capital
and share premium in the Merging Company's equity before the Effective Date (resulting in a share capital and
share premium in the Merging Company as before the Reorganisation, but after the Bonus Issue). The Merging
Company’s balance sheet after the Reorganisation has been converted in EUR using NOK exchange rate of
10.912 as at 30 June 2020.

a. If the Reorganisation would not take place, the assets, rights and liabilities of the Merging Company
transferring in the Merger would correspond to the assets, rights and liabilities presented under note 4)



below as at the Effective Date with the exception of the potential write down of the most of the remaining
deferred tax asset in the balance sheet on the Effective Date.

b. Current liabilities include liabilities relating to dividend payable amounting to EUR 10.3 million (NOK 112.9
million) in the Merging Company which have been paid on 10 July 2020.

3) Preliminary Merger adjustments consist of the following:

a. The equity of the Receiving Company shall be formed in the Merger by applying the acquisition method
as defined under Finnish Accounting Standards so that the amount corresponding the book value of the
net assets of the Merging Company shall be recorded into reserve for invested unrestricted equity of the
Receiving Company with the exception of the increase EUR 1.0 million in share capital as described in
Section 10.

b. The Board of Directors of the Recipient Company proposes Pre-Combination Dividend of approximately
EUR 22.0 million (as further set out in Section 13 of the Merger Plan) to the shareholders of Altia prior to
the Effective Date. In the illustrative Recipient Company’s Merger Balance Sheet the equity and the
current liabilities have been adjusted for the proposed dividend.

4) The Merging Company’s balance sheet before Reorganisation and Merger presented below is derived from
the unaudited balance sheet as at 30 June 2020 prepared accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act
(Norwegian GAAP) and converted in EUR using NOK exchange rate of 10.912 as at 30 June 2020 and have
been aligned with Altia’'s Accounting principles.

Merging Company prior

In EUR million s
Reorganisation
ASSETS
Total non-current assets 132
Total current assets 65
TOTAL ASSETS 197
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
TOTAL EQUITY 52
Provisions 0
Non-current liabilities 0
Current liabilities 145
TOTAL LIABILITIES 145
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 197

The illustrative Receiving Company’s Merger Balance Sheet presented above does not take into account
among others the group contributions, dividend payments, except for the dividend payment mentioned in note
3b) above, which may be paid prior to the Effective Date and transaction costs related to the Merger which all
could have a significant impact on the Receiving Company’s Merger Balance Sheet and the Merging
Company’s assets and liabilities prior to the Effective Date.



Appendix 3A

Financial statements of the Merging Company and the Recipient Company as of 31 December 2019
and the interim reports of both companies as of 30 June 2020
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Report by the Board of Directors 2019

ltiais a leading Nordic alco-
holic beverage brand compa-
ny operating in the wine and
spirits markets in the Nordic
countries, Estonia and Latvia.
Altia produces, imports, mar-
kets, sells and distributes both own and partner
brand beverages. Altia has also production in
Cognac, France. Further, Altia exports alcoholic
beverages to approximately 30 countries.

In 2019, Altia's net sales in constant currencies
grew by 1.5% driven by Scandinavia and Altia
Industrial segments. In the monopoly markets,

KEY RATIOS

Net sales, EUR million

Comparable EBITDA, EUR million
% of net sales

EBITDA, EUR million

Comparable operating result, EUR million
% of net sales

Operating result, EUR million

Result for the period, EUR million

Earnings per share, EUR

Net debt / comparable EBITDA

Average number of personnel

Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact,
EUR million

Net debt/comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact

Altia’s spirit sales value grew in all three markets:
Finland, Sweden and Norway. The growth in
wine was driven by a strong performance in
Sweden. In the Altia Industrial segment net sales
growth was driven by higher prices and good
volume development in industrial products. In
2019, Altia’s net sales totalled EUR 359.6 million.

In 2019, cash flow was strong and Altia’s finan-
cial position strengthened further. In line with
Altia’s dividend policy, the Board of Directors
proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a
dividend of EUR 0.42 per share be paid for the
financial year 2019.

2019 2018 2017

3596 3573 3590
448 400 424
124 112 118
431 340 403
268 25.6 28.2

7.5 7.2 78
251 197 261
184 151 183

051 042 051
0.6 1.2 1.1
682 718 762
410 - -
04 - -
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Market development in 2019

Nordic monopoly market

In the Nordic monopolies in 2019, spirits and
wine volumes were flat at 0.1%. Sweden is

the largest monopoly market and accounts

for 39% of spirits and 63% of wine volumes.

In 2019, the spirits volumes in the Swedish mo-
nopoly exceeded those of the Finnish monop-
oly. Spirits volumes in the Nordic monopolies
grew by 1.0% driven by the good development
in Sweden. Wine volumes were flat at -0.1%.
The slight decline was driven by the declining
wine volumes in Finland.

The table below illustrates the trends in the
sales of wine and spirits in the retail monop-
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olies in Finland, Sweden and Norway. The
figures are based on sales volumes by litre
published by the retail monopolies (Alko, Sys-
tembolaget and Vinmonopolet).

Finland

In 2019, the Finnish retail monopoly’s spirits
and wine sales volumes declined by 2.9% com-
pared with previous year.

Spirits volumes were down by 2.1%. Volumes
in the large vodka and spirits ('viina’) category
were down mainly driven by the unflavoured
vodkas. This category is the main reason for
the total decline of the spirits category. Grape
spirits volumes also continued to decline. Those
categories growing were gin, liqueurs and

DEVELOPMENT OF WINE AND SPIRITS SALES VOLUMES IN THE NORDIC

RETAIL MONOPOLIES

% change compared to previous year
Nordic monopolies in total
Spirits
Wine
Finland, total sales
Spirits
Wine
Sweden, total sales
Spirits
Wine
Norway, total sales
Spirits
Wine

2019 2018
+0.1 +0.8
+1.0 -0.5

-0.1 +0.8
-2.9 -3.3
-2.1 -3.6
=32 -3.2
+1.0 +2.1
+3.9 +2.7
+0.7 +2.0
+0.4 +1.5
+1.6 +0.1
+0.2 +1.7

Source: Based on sales volumes by litre published by Alko, Systembolaget, Vinmonopolet.

whiskies. Rum volumes were at previous year’s
level. In wine, volumes were down by 3.2%, with
the large red and white wine categories both
declining. Growth was seen only in rosé wines,
champagne and mild mulled wines (gloggs).

Sweden

In 2019, the Swedish retail monopoly’s spirits
and wine volumes grew by 1.0% compared
with previous year.

The spirits category grew by 3.9%. Out of the
spirit categories gin, rum, liqueurs, whisky and
bitters grew strongly. Vodka and grape spirits
show good growth, but aquavit declined. The
wine category grew by 0.7%. Red and white
wines showed slight growth. Sparkling wine
grew strongly with, for example, the new
sparkling mulled wine (glogg) contributing to
growth. Volumes of rosé wines and traditional
gloggs declined (sparkling gloggs are catego-
rised within sparkling wine).

Norway

In 2019, the Norwegian retail monopoly’s
spirits and wine volumes grew by 0.4%
compared with previous year.

Spirits volumes grew by 1.6%. Gin, liqueurs,
aquavit, rum, whisky and vodka grew, but grape
spirits declined. The wine category was flat at
0.2%. With red and white wines at previous
year’s level, and rosé wines declining, the
slight improvement was driven by growth in
sparkling wine.

Strategy and financial targets in 2019

The core of Altia’s strategy in 2019 was to deliv-

er profitable growth through the five strategic

streams:

e Grow Nordic core brands

e  Execute astep change in wines

e Strengthen strategic partnerships

e Channel expansion and development

e Fundand enable growth - Efficiency and
performance initiatives.

To support the abovementioned organic strate-
gic streams, Altia has continued an active brand
portfolio management, which includes potential
selective acquisitions and/or divestments.

Financial targets
Altia has set the following long-term financial

targets:
e Comparable EBITDA margin of 15% inthe
long-term

e Annual net sales growth of 2 per cent over
time (CAGR)

e Thetargetistokeepreported net debtin
relation to comparable EBITDA below 2.5x
inlong-term

Dividend policy

Altia pursues an active dividend policy, and the
result of the period not considered necessary to
grow and develop the Company will be distribut-
ed to the shareholders. According to the dividend
policy, the Company targets a dividend pay-out
ratio of 60% or above of the result for the period.
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Key eventsin 2019

Successful innovations

Annually, Altia launches about 100 innovations
and novelties under its own brands. Below is a
selection of innovation highlights from 2019.

Altia launched a novelty liqueur, Koskenkorva
Ginger in several markets. At the Spirits
Business magazine's annual Liqueur Masters,
Koskenkorva Ginger won the Master title

in the largest category, fruit liqueurs. Altia
launched an organic version of Koskenkorva
Vodka first on the Swedish on-trade market
and later in other markets.

Larsen Cognac saw a new look and feel in
2019. The new range with a premium design
was first launched in travel retail. A novelty,
Larsen Coopers, was introduced to attract
brown spirit drinkers more used to rum and
whiskies. Larsen VSOP and Larsen Extra Or
were successful at the IWSC 2019.

Altia launched an organic ready-to-drink ag-
uavit cocktail on the Swedish market. This was
the first organic aquavit ready-to-drink cocktail
inthe world, and it was awarded with a Silver
medal at the Specialty Masters 2019. Altia
further strengthened its partnership with the
Swedish premium craft gin distillery Hernd Gin
by launching the first product in a collaboration
under the O.P. Anderson Aguavit brand.
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Altia launched the first ever rum that is distilled
and produced in Finland. The dark Rum O is
distilled in the Smakby distillery in Aland. Rum
O was successful at the IWSC 2019.

The Blossa glogg range was extended with
non- and low-alcoholic and low sugar gloggs
for the grocery trade channel, and with a spar-
kling glogg for the Swedish monopoly.

Altia made a number of low-alcoholic ready-
to-drink launches in the Finnish grocery trade
channel under the Chill Out, Leijona and
Koskenkorva brands.

New strategic partnerships

In May, Altia transferred its Danish domestic
market business to Conaxess Trade Beverages.
Conaxess Trade Beverages gained exclusive
right to the distribution and marketing of
Altia’s brands in Denmark’s domestic market.
Altia continues to operate the border trade
between Denmark, Sweden and Germany.

In September, Altia announced the investment
in the Von Elk Company whereby Altia became
a minority shareholder in the company and the
exclusive distributor in the Nordic and Baltic
region of the innovative and award-winning
sparkling glogg, Gloet. Gloet strengthens
Altia’s brand portfolio and position in the new
category of sparkling gloggs.

New exports markets
In 2019, Altia expandend into two new export
markets: Ukraine and Slovakia.

Industrial products

In 2019, Altia made good progress in exports
of ethanol to customers in the pharmaceuticals
and alcoholic beverage industries.

The trend in the paper and paperboard indus-
tries to replace fossil-based binding agents
with starch has increased the demand for
barley starch. Altia has been able to strengthen
its position as a starch supplier to the paper
and paperboard industry.

Initiatives to reach long-term financial
targets

In February, Altia communicated about further
initiatives to reach the long-term financial tar-
gets. The initiatives focused on sales growth,
revenue management, supply chain efficien-
cies, procurement savings and overall organi-
sational efficiency.

Sustainability roadmap

In December, Altia published its Sustainability
Roadmap extending to 2030. The roadmap’s
key goal is Altia’s commitment to carbon-neu-
tral production by 2025.

Financial review

Seasonality

There are substantial seasonal fluctuations

in the consumption of alcoholic beverages
impacting net sales and cash flow of Altia. The
company typically generates large amounts
of its revenue and cash flow during the fourth
quarter of the year, whereas the first quarter
of the year is significantly lower. In addition,
excise taxes related to the high season at the
end of the year are paid in January, resulting
in large cash outflows at the beginning of the
year.

Net sales

In 2019, Altia's reported net sales grew

by 0.6% to EUR 359.6 (357.3) million. The
headwind from the weak SEK continued, and
in constant currencies, net sales grew by 1.5%
compared to previous year. Net sales growth
was driven by the Altia Industrial and Scan-
dinavia segments. Net sales of the Finland &
Exports segment declined from previous year.

In 2019, net sales of spirits and wine remained
at previous year’s level, and in constant cur-
rencies growth was 1.5%. Due to partner port-
folio changes in other beverages, the overall
net sales of beverages were slightly below
previous year’s level. In constant currencies,
net sales of beverages grew by 0.4% from
previous year.
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Net sales of spirits declined by 2.2% to EUR
121.3 (124.0) million. Altia’s spirit sales grew in
all monopoly markets, but the decline was driv-
en by exports. The earlier announced business
transfer in Denmark impacts comparability of
net sales.
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Net sales of wine grew by 2.2% to EUR 124.9
(122.2) million. Growth was driven by the
Scandinavia segment. In the Finland & Exports
segment, wine sales declined following declin-
ing wine market volumes.

NET SALES BY SEGMENT
EUR million 2019 2018 Change, %
Finland & Exports 128.6 133.8 -3.9
Scandinavia 120.7 117.7 2.6
Altia Industrial 110.2 105.8 4.2
TOTAL 359.6 357.3 0.6
NET SALES BY PRODUCT CATEGORY
EUR million 2019 2018 Change, %
Spirits 121.3 1240 -2.2
Wine 124.9 122.2 2.2
Other beverages 3.1 5.3 -40.6
Industrial products and services 110.2 105.8 4.2
TOTAL 359.6 357.3 0.6
COMPARABLE EBITDA BY SEGMENT
EUR million 2019 2018
Finland & Exports 20.6 19.2
Scandinavia 12.1 10.1
Altia Industrial 114 10.9
Other 0.7* -0.3
TOTAL 44.8 40.0
% net sales 12.4 11.2

Other segment: rental costs have been moved under depreciation according to IFRS16 standard.

In Altia Industrial, net sales grew by 4.2%

to EUR 110.2 (105.8) million. Growth was
driven by price increases following the high
barley price and higher volumes in industrial
products.

Profitability and result for the period

In 2019, comparable EBITDA, i.e. EBITDA
excluding items affecting comparability (IAC),
was EUR 44.8 (40.0) million, whichis 12.4%

(11.2%) of net sales. Comparable EBITDA,
without the impact of adopting IFRS 16, was
EUR 41.0 million. Items affecting comparabil-
ity totalled EUR -1.7 (-6.0) million and were
mainly related to a closed voluntary pension
scheme. Reported EBITDAwas EUR 43.1
(34.0) million.

The efficiency initiatives and implemented
price adjustments during the year supported

COMPARABLE EBITDA BY SEGMENT WITHOUT IFRS 16 IMPACT

EUR million 2019 2018
Finland & Exports 20.4 19.2
Scandinavia 115 10.1
Altia Industrial 9.6 10.9
Other -0.5 -0.3
TOTAL 41.0 40.0
% net sales 114 112
ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY
EUR million 2019 2018
Comparable EBITDA 44.8 40.0
Net gains or losses from business and assets disposals 0.1 0.4
Cost for closure of business operations and restructurings -0.2 -1.1
Major corporate projects
Costs related to the closed voluntary pension scheme -1.6 -0.7
Costs related to a planned stock exchange listing = -4.6
Total items affecting comparability -1.7 -6.0
EBITDA 43.1 34.0
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the improvement in profitability. Profitability
was negatively affected by the increased cost
of barley during the first nine months of the
year. In addition, the weak SEK impacted prof-
itability negatively during the whole period.

Other operating income amounted to EUR 7.6
(7.4) million, including proceeds of sales of fixed
assets of EUR 0.0 (0.5) million; income from the
sales of emission allowances of EUR 0.8 (0.4)
million; income from the sales of mainly steam,
energy and water of EUR 3.4 (3.4) million, and
rental income of EUR 1.3 (1.4) million.

Employee benefit expenses totalled EUR 45.9
(49.9) million, including EUR 34.2 (37.9) million
in wages and salaries. Of the employee benefit
expenses, EUR 1.8 (3.8) million have been
classified as items affecting comparability (IAC)
in the comparable EBITDA calculation.

Other operating expenses amounted to EUR
65.0 (73.9) million. In addition to efficien-

cy initiatives, the IFRS 16 implementation
decreased other operating expenses by EUR
3.8 millionin 2019 being reported as depre-
ciations. In 2018, other operating expenses
included items affecting comparability, related
to the initial public offering, amounting to EUR
2.7 million.
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Net financial expenses amounted to EUR 2.2
(2.3) million. The share of profit in associates
and income from interests in joint operations
totalled EUR 1.6 (1.2) million.

Taxes for the reporting period were EUR 6.2
(3.6) million corresponding to a tax rate of
25.1% (19.1%). The increase in the tax rate

is related to a tax provision related to the
outcome of the tax audit in France and to Den-
mark where no deferred tax asset was booked
related to the loss from the restucturing in
spring 2019.

The result for the period amounted to EUR
18.4(15.1) million, and earnings per share
were EUR0.51(0.42).

Impact of IFRS 16

The reporting period 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2019 includes the adoption of the IFRS
standard as of 1 January 2019.

The IFRS 16 standard had a positive effect

of EUR 3.8 million on comparable EBITDA, a
negative effect of EUR 3.7 million on depreci-
ation, and a negative effect of EUR 0.1 million
on financial expenses. On the consolidated bal-
ance sheet on 31 December 2019, the amount
of asset items based on rights of use was EUR

IMPACT OF IFRS 16 ON SELECTED KEY FIGURES

2019

Comparable EBITDA, EUR million
Net debt, EUR million

Net debt/comparable EBITDA
Equity ratio, %

Gearing, %

Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact, EUR million

Net debt without IFRS 16 impact, EUR million

Net debt/comparable EBITDA, without IFRS 16 impact
Equity ratio without IFRS 16 impact, %

Gearing withouth IFRS 16 impact, %

10.4 million, the amount of long-term lease
liabilities is EUR 7.1 million and the amount of
short-term lease liabilities is EUR 3.4 million.

In the cash flow statement, cash payments
for the capital portion of the lease liability
are presented under financing activities,
and the interest portion of the lease liability
is presented in cash flows from operating
activities. Previously, all operating lease
payments were presented in cash flows
from operating activities. This had a positive

44.8
28.9

0.6
37.8
19.1

41.0
18.4

04
38.8
12.1

effect of EUR 3.8 million on the Group’s
cash flows from operating activities and a
negative effect of EUR 3.7 million on its cash
flows from financing activities in January-
December 2019.
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Cash flow, balance sheet and investments

In 2019, net cash flow from operations totalled
EUR 52.6 (6.5) million. The solid improve-
ment in cash flow is driven by the changes in
net working capital. Towards the end of the
year, the inventory levels normalised with
positive contribution from all segments and
across most of the inventory categories with

a key contributor being barley. Also accounts
receivables improved across the segments and
accounts payables improved from optimisa-
tion. In addition to net working capital, also
the reported result contributed positively to
the cash flow from operations as well as the
implementation of IFRS 16 standard where
the capital portion of the lease liabilities were
moved to financing cash flow. Receivables sold
amounted to EUR 76.7 (80.2) million at the
end of the period.

The Group has a revolving credit facility of
EUR 60.0 (60.0) million, of which EUR 0.0 (0.0)
million was in use at the end of the reporting
period. The nominal value of commercial
papers issued amounted to EUR 0.0 (0.0)
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million at the end of the reporting period. Altia
Group's liquidity position was good throughout
the review period.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
net debt amounted to EUR 28.9 (47.4) million.
Gearingwas 19.1% (31.6%), and the equity
ratiowas 37.8% (38.4%). The reported net
debt to comparable EBITDA ratiowas 0.6 (1.2).
The implementation of the IFRS 16 standard
increased the net debt position by EUR 10.5
million and the net debt to comparable
EBITDA ratio would have been 0.4 times with-
out the IFRS 16 implementation.

The total in the consolidated balance sheet was
EUR 400.2 (390.4) million at the end of the
period.

In 2019, gross capital expenditure totalled
EUR 6.8 (7.7) million. Capital expenditure was
related to a number of safety and replacement
investments, and the development of informa-
tion systems at the Koskenkorva plant.

BALANCE SHEET KEY FIGURES

2019 2018

Reported net debt / comparable EBITDA 0.6 1.2
Borrowings, EUR million 82.6 89.4
Net debt, EUR million 28.9 474
Equity ratio, % 37.8 384
Gearing, % 19.1 31.6
Capital expenditure, EUR million -6.8 -7.7

Total assets, EUR million 400.2 390.4
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Business review
Finland & Exports

BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

The Finland & Exports segment comprises the import, sale and marketing of wines, spirits and other
beverages in Finland and the Baltics, as well as exports and travel retail.

EUR million 2019 2018 Change, %
Net sales, EUR million 128.6 133.8 -3.9
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million 20.6 19.2 7.3
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales 16.0 14.3
Without IFRS 16 impact:
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million 20.4 19.2 6.3
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales 15.8 14.3
Average number of personnel 89 95
EUR million 2019 2018 Change, %
Spirits 75.1 78.1 -3.9
Wine 52.5 54.2 -3.1
Other beverages 1.0 1.5 -31.9
TOTAL 128.6 133.8 -3.9
Net sales in market volumes. In the grocery trade, sales

In 2019, net sales in the Finland & Exports seg-
ment were EUR 128.6 (133.8) million, down by
3.9% from previous year.

In Finland, the overall market volumes in the
monopoly channel were lower than previous
year. In spirits, the implemented price adjust-
ements have balanced off the lower monopoly
volumes, and Altia’s spirits sales in value grew.
Wine sales have declined following the decline

grew, following new product launches. In the
Baltic region, net sales were above previous
year'’s level as a result of good development in
both domestic and border trade following ex-
cise tax changes at the beginning of H2 2019.
Travel retail and exports were below previous
year’s level. Partner portfolio changes and the
lower number of Swedish passengers due to
the weak SEK impacted travel retail negative-
ly. Exports of vodka to Russia has continued
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a good development, while Cognac sales to
China continued at a lower level due to last
year’s pipe-filling. Additionally, the protests in
Hong Kong continued to impact local sales. The
decline in other beverages is related to partner
portfolio changes in 2018.

Comparable EBITDA

In 2019, comparable EBITDA was EUR 20.6
(19.2) million, which equals a comparable
EBITDA margin of 16.0% (14.3%). Comparable
EBITDA without the IFRS 16 impact was EUR
20.4 (19.2) million, which equals a comparable
EBITDA margin of 15.8% (14.3%).

The improvement in profitability compared to
previous year is related to an overall improve-
ment in profitability in Finland, including
implemented price adjustments, and the good
development in the Baltic region. Exports

and the decline of wine sales have negatively
impacted profitability.

Business events

In June, Altia ran its first sustainability media
campaign aimed directly at consumers. The
campaign was built around bottle recycling and
initially directed to Finland.

Larsen Cognac saw a new look and feel in
2019. During the summer, the new range with
a premium design was first launched in travel
retail.

In September, Altia announced the investment
in the Von Elk Company, whereby Altia became
a minority shareholder in the company and the
exclusive distributor in the Nordic and Baltic
region of the innovative and award-winning
sparkling glogg, Gloet. Gloet strengthens
Altia’s brand portfolio and position in the new
category of sparkling gloggs.

In exports, Altia opened two new markets:
Ukraine and Slovakia.



ALTTA

Scandinavia
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The Scandinavia segment comprises the import, sale and marketing of wines, spirits and other beverages

in Sweden, Norway and Denmark.

EUR million 2019 2018 Change, %
Net sales, EUR million 120.7 117.7 2.6
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million 12.1 10.1 19.2
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales 10.0 8.6
Without IFRS 16 impact:
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million 11.5 10.1 13.2
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales 95 8.6
Average number of personnel 74 85
EUR million 2019 2018 Change, %
Spirits 46.2 459 0.6
Wine 724 68.0 6.5
Other beverages 2.1 3.8 -44.0
TOTAL 120.7 117.7 2.6
Net sales developed positively but this has not offset the

In 2019, the Scandinavia segment’s net sales
were EUR 120.7 (117.7) million, up by 2.6%
from previous year. The weak SEK continued to
have a negative impact on reported net sales. In
constant currencies, net sales grew by 5.3%.

In Sweden, both spirits and wine sales grew in
2019. In spirits, growth was supported by the
growing spirits market volumes, but also by
implemented price adjustments and new part-
ners. Inwine, the key growth driver is the new
partner portfolio from last year and also strong
Blossa sales. In Norway, spirits sales have

negative impact from declining wine sales and
partner portfolio changes.

Comparable EBITDA

In 2019, comparable EBITDA was EUR 12.1
(10.1) million, which equals a comparable
EBITDA margin of 10.0% (8.6%). Comparable
EBITDA without the IFRS 16 impact was EUR
11.5(10.1) million which equals a comparable
EBITDA margin of 9.5% (8.6%).

The improvement in profitability is related to
an overall profitability improvement, new part-

ner brands and price adjustments. The weak SEK
continued to impact profitability negatively.

Business events

In the second quarter, Altia completed the trans-
fer of the Danish domestic business to Conaxess
Trade Beverages. Conaxess Trade Beverages
gained the exclusive right to distribute and mar-
ket Altia brands in Denmark’s domestic market.

In May, Altia started its collaboration with
Underberg AG in Sweden to further strengthen
Altia’'s position in the bitters market.

During the year, Altia has deepened its collabo-
ration with the Swedish premium craft gin dis-
tillery Hernd Gin. As a result, Altia introduced
O.P. Anderson Herndé Juniper Cask Finish.
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Altia Industrial

The Altia Industrial segment comprises Koskenkorva plant operations, starch, feed component and tech-
nical ethanol businesses, as well as contract manufacturing services at Rajamdki. It also includes supply
chain operations, i.e. production operations in different countries, customer service, logistics and sourcing.

EUR million

Net sales, EUR million

Comparable EBITDA, EUR million

Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales

Without IFRS 16 impact:
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales

Average number of personnel

Net sales

In 2019, Altia Industrial’s net sales were

EUR 110.2 (105.8) million, up by 4.2% from
previous year. Growth is driven both by higher
prices compared to previous year due to the
high cost of barley and volumes. Volume devel-
opment has been strong in ethanol and feed
components.

Comparable EBITDA

In 2019, comparable EBITDAwas EUR 11.4
(10.9) million, which equals a comparable
EBITDA margin of 10.4% (10.3%). Comparable
EBITDA without the IFRS 16 impact was EUR
9.6 (10.9) million, which equals a comparable
EBITDA margin of 8.7% (10.3%).

2019 2018 Change, %
110.2 105.8 4.2
114 10.9 4.2
10.4 10.3
9.6 10.9 -12.1
8.7 10.3
426 426

Profitability was negatively impacted by the
high cost of barley, Group internal organisa-
tional changes, and increased logistics costs in
Sweden.

Production volumes and key projects
During 2019, the Rajamaki alcoholic beverage
plant in Finland produced 65.8 (64.7) million
litres of spirits and wine.

The Koskenkorva plant was running at full
capacity during the period and 212 (212)
million kilos of grain were used at the plant.
The planned maintenance shutdown in August

slightly affected the total consumption of grain.

Grain spirit production was 22.2 (22.0) million
kilos including technical ethanols, starch pro-
duction was 65.1 (68.9) million kilos, and feed
component production was 65.6 (62.2) million
kilos.

During the period, a number of safety and
replacement investments were carried out,
and a new ERP system at the Industrial prod-
ucts business unit, including the Koskenkorva
distillery, was deployed successfully.

In 2019, Altia made good progress in exports
of ethanol to customers in the pharmaceuticals
and alcoholic beverage industries.

The trend in the paper and paperboard indus-
tries to replace fossil-based binding agents
with starch has increased the demand for
barley starch. Altia was able to strengthen its
position as a starch supplier to the paper and
paperboard industry.
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Research and development
activities

The Group's direct research and development
expenditure amounted to EUR 2.3 (3.3) million
and was related to the product development of
alcoholic beverages.

Governance

Corporate Governance and

Remuneration Statement

Altia’s Corporate Governance Statement and
the Remuneration Statement for 2018 were
published together with the Report by the
Board of Directors on 22 March 2019 and are
available on the company website.

Annual General Meeting 2019

Altia’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) was

held in Helsinkion 15 May 2019. The meeting
adopted the financial statements and dis-
charged the members of the Board of Directors
and the CEO from liability for the 2018 financial
year. The AGM also approved the proposal by
the Board of Directors to pay a dividend of EUR
0.38 per share for the 2018 financial year.

Board of Directors and Board Committees
Based on the proposals of the Shareholders’
Nomination Board, the AGM approved the
number of members of the Board of Directors
as seven. The AGM also re-elected Sanna
Suvanto-Harsaae as Chairman of the Board, Kai
Telanne as Vice Chairman and Kim Henriksson,
Tiina Lencioni, Jukka Ohtola and Torsten
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Steenholt as members of the Board. Anette
Rosengren was elected as a new member.

The term for the members of the Board of
Directors lasts until the end of the next Annual
General Meeting.

Based on the proposal by the Shareholders’
Nomination Board, the AGM decided that the
remuneration to the members of the Board of
Directors during the next term consists of a
monthly term of office fee as follows:

e EUR4000 per month, Chairman

e EUR 2500 per month, Vice Chairman

e EUR2000 per month, member

In addition to the monthly fee, the members of
the Board of Directors receive a meeting fee for
the Board of Directors and Board Committee
meetings of EUR 600 per meeting for Board
members residing in Finland and EUR 1 200 per
meeting for Board members residing abroad.
Travel expenses are reimbursed in accordance
with the company’s travel policy.

Altia’s Board of Directors held its organising
meeting after the Annual General Meeting and
elected the members of the Audit and Human
Resources Committees as follows:

e Audit Committee: Kim Henriksson
(Chairman), Tiina Lencioni and Sanna
Suvanto-Harsaae

¢ Human Resources Committee: Sanna
Suvanto-Harsaae (Chairman), Kai Telanne
and Jukka Ohtola

The Board of Directors has assessed that

all members of the Board of Directors are
independent of the company. Furthermore, all
members of the Board of Directors, with the
exception of Jukka Ohtola, are independent

of the company’s major shareholders. Jukka
Ohtolais a member of the Board of Directors of
Valtion Kehitysyhtio Vake Oy and holds an office
in the Ownership Steering Department of the
Finnish Prime Minister’s Office and is there-
fore not independent of the company’s major
shareholders.

Auditor

In accordance with the recommendation by

the Audit Committee, the Annual General
Meeting 2019 re-elected Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers Oy as the company’s auditor for aterm
ending at the close of the next Annual General
Meeting. PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy has
informed the company that Authorised Public
Accountant Ylva Eriksson will continue as the
auditor-in-charge. The meeting decided that the
auditor’s fees would be paid against an invoice
approved by the company.

Shareholders’ Nomination Board

In October, Altia announced that its three

largest registered shareholders (shareholder

register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd

as per 2 September 2019) have nominated the

following representatives to the Shareholders’

Nomination Board:

o Pekka Hurtola, the Ownership Steering
Department in the Prime Minister’s Office

e HannaKaskela, Varma Mutual Pension
Insurance Company

¢ Annika Ekman, llmarinen Mutual Pension
Insurance Company

Inits organising meeting on 2 October 2019
the Nomination Board elected Pekka Hurtola
as its Chairman. The Chairman of Altia’s Board
of Directors, Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae acts as an
expert member in the Nomination Board.

Group structure

The Group's plan is to simplify its current group
structure. The planis to merge all Altia Oyj’s
Finnish subsidiaries excluding Oy Wennerco Ab
to Altia Oyj and merge all Swedish subsidiaries
to Altia Sweden AB. The merger plans have
been registered. The mergers are planned to
take place on or about 30 April 2020.

Chief Executive Officer and

Group Management

Niklas Nylander started as Altia’s Chief
Financial Officer (CFO) on 1 January 2019.
There were no other changes in the Executive
Management Team (EMT) during the period. On
31 December 2019, the EMT consisted of the
following members:

e PekkaTennild, CEO

e Janne Halttunen, SVP, Scandinavia

e KariKilpinen, SVP, Finland & Exports

e KirsiLehtola, SVP,HR

e Niklas Nylander, CFO

e Kirsi Puntila, SVP, Marketing

¢ Hannu Tuominen, SVP, Altia Industrial


https://altiagroup.com/
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SECTOR DISTRIBUTION 31 DEC 2019 DISTRIBUTION BY SIZE OF HOLDING 31 DEC 2019
Sector Number of shares % of shares Number of shares Number of share- % of share- Number of % of shares
Public sector 16052 550 444 holders holders Shares
Financial and insurance corporations 10281865 284 1-100 5655 316 420119 12
Households 6929009 19.2 101-500 8929 499 2274048 6.3
Non-financial corporations 1756759 4.9 501-1000 2056 115 1507780 4.2
Non-profit institutions 757763 2.1 1001-5000 1058 5.9 2018277 5.6
Rest of the world 362539 1.0 5001-10000 110 0.6 785671 2.2
TOTAL 36 140485 100.0 10001-50000 72 0.4 1541612 4.3
Source: Euroclear Finland 50001-100000 13 0.1 985 100 2.7
100001-500000 11 0.1 2045485 5.7
500001-& above 7 0.0 24562 393 68.0
Altia’s share Flagging notifications TOTAL 17911 100.0 36140485 100.0
Altia’s shares are listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki. In 2019, Altia was informed of the following Source: Euroclear Finland
All shares carry one vote and have equal voting changes in ownership:
rights. The trading code of the shares is “ALTIA, e On7February 2019, the State of Finland
and the ISIN code is FI4000292438. transferred as an equity contribution-in-kind LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 31 DEC 2019
13097 481 shares in Altia Plc to Valtion keh-
Share capital and share itysyhtio Vake Oy, which is a company fully AR Number of shares % of shares
At the end of the reporting period, Altia Plc's owned by the State of Finland and thereby 1 Valtion Kehitysyhtio Vake Oy 1509742 362
share capital amounted to EUR 60 480 378.36 fully controlled by the State of Finland. 2 Varm? Mutual Pensionllnsurance Company 1550000 4.3
and the number of issued shares was e On7February 2019, Lazard Asset Man- 3 ”marl,nen Mutual P§n5|on Insurance Company 973300 27
] . 4 OP-Finland Small Firms Fund 579516 1.6
36140485, agement LLC notified of exceeding the 5 Veritas Pension Insurance Company Ltd. 420000 1.2
threshold of 5% with a holding of 5.34% of 6 FIM Fenno Sijoitusrahasto 181931 05
Shareholders and share trading which 2.40% are shares with voting rights 7 Mandatum Life Insurance Company Limited 165076 05
At the end of December 2019, Altiahad 17 911 attached. 8 Siastopankki Kotimaa 150000 0.4
registered shareholders, and 8 986 556 shares 9 Sijoitusrahasto Taaleritehdas 150000 04
representing 24.9% of the total number of Management’s ownership Arvo Markka Osake
shares were nominee-registered. During 2019, ~ On 31 December 2019, the members of the 10 Saastépankki Pienyhtiot 149424 04
the highest share price was EUR 8.22 and the Board of Directors, the CEO and the members of TOTAL 17416728 48.2
Nominee-registered shares 8986 556 24.9

lowest EUR 7.08. Intotal, 5856 465 shares

were traded on Nasdag Helsinki. The closing
price of Altia’s share on 30 December 2019

was EUR 8.18, and the market capitalisation
was approximately EUR 296 million.

the Executive Management Team, including their
controlled corporations, owned a total of 98 631
shares corresponding to 0.27% of the total num-
ber of shares.

Source: Euroclear Finland



ALTTA

Authorisations, option and share-based
incentive programmes

During 2019, Altia did not have share option
programmes. Altia’s CEO, the members of the
Executive Management Team and selected key
employees are part of a share based, long-term
incentive scheme. Altia did not have authorisa-
tions for share repurchases or share issues and
did not hold any own shares during the period.

Personnel

In 2019, Altia Group had an average of 682
(718) employees. On 31 December 2019,
Altia Group had 632 (678) employees, of
whom 381 (402) were in Finland, 110 (114) in
Sweden, 4 (19) in Denmark, 21 (28) in Norway,
31(32)in Latvia, 60 (61) in Estonia, and 25
(22) in France.

InMay 2019, Altia transferred the domestic
business in Denmark to Conaxess Trade Bev-
erages, and employees working in the business
were transferred to Conaxess Trade Beverages
as old employees. Implementation of the Scan-
dinavian segment’s restructuring was complet-
ed. These arrangements aimed to renew ways
of working as well as simplifying the organisa-
tional structure. The decrease in the number
of the Group's personnel was primarily due to
reorganisations, non-replacement, or other
internal career arrangements. Altia supported
the affected employees by offering outplace-
ment or training support.

BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

In 2019, safety culture was boosted by
initiating a comprehensive Human Factor
programme at the Rajamaki plant. The idea

of the programme is to lift the safety culture
from individualist to systemic, and therefore
enhance an understanding of the require-
ments of the changing environment. A digital
marketing training programme was organised
for the marketing organisation, and smart work
training programmes were organised for the
whole salaried personnel about prioritising and
time management. The Altia Tasting personnel
survey was conducted in January-February
2019. The survey provided accurate tools for
managers to develop their leadership. The key
development areas based on the survey were
improving leadership skills, making develop-
ment opportunities more visible and increasing
top management visibility.

Incentive programmes

Short-term and long-term incentives

Altia’s salaried, senior salaried employees and
management participate in an annual perfor-
mance incentive scheme. The potential annual
reward is based on both the Group's and its
business units’ targets, as well as on personal
targets. Rewards are paid either once a year or
more frequently as an annual reward or sales
bonus. Workers participate in a production
bonus system. The production bonuses are
based on the targets of each production unit.
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Altia’s CEO, the members of the Executive Man-
agement Team and selected key employees are
part of a long-term incentive scheme.

Based on the result for 2019, no annual per-
formance bonuses were paid. Other bonuses
totalled EUR 0.5 (0.5) million.

Share-based incentive scheme

Altia’s CEO, the members of the Executive
Management Team and selected key employees
are part of a share-based, long-term incentive
scheme. The objectives of the share-based long-
term incentive scheme are to align the interests
of Altia’s management and key employees with
those of the Company’s shareholders and, thus,
to promote shareholder value creation in the
long term, and to commit the management and
key employees to achieving Altia’s strategic
targets as well as the retention of Altia’s valua-
ble key resources. The scheme complements a
balanced incentive structure.

The scheme consists of annually commencing
individual performance share plans (PSP), each
with a three-year performance period, followed
by the payment of the potentially earned share
reward. The commencement of each individual
planis subject to a separate Board approval.

The first plan (PSP 2019-2021) commenced in
the beginning of 2019 and the potential share
reward thereunder will be paid in the spring of

2022, provided that the performance targets
set by the Board of Directors are achieved. The
potential reward will be paid in listed shares of
Altia. Those eligible to participate in the first
plan are approximately 20 individuals.

If all the performance targets set for PSP
2019-2021 are fully achieved, the aggregate
maximum number of shares to be paid based on
this first plan is approximately 250 000 shares.

Sustainability

In 2019, Altia was nominated as one of the most
inspiring circular economy companies by Sitra,
the Finnish Innovation Fund. Altia was chosen
due to the bio and circular economy achieve-
ments at the Koskenkorva distillery.

Sustainability has for long been a strategic
priority and key success factor for Altia and as
of 2020 it is anintegral part of Altia’s refined
company strategy. The aim of the company’s
responsibility efforts is to build a sustainable
long-term business. Altia also wants to promote
amodern and responsible Nordic drinking cul-
ture. This target is summarised in the company’s
purpose, Let’s Drink Better.

Altia has been following a group level corporate
responsibility action plan for 2018-2020. The
action plan progressed as planned in 2019 at
the same time, when a new long-term Sustain-
ability Roadmap was built. In December 2019,
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Altia published its new Sustainability Roadmap
2030, with long-term goals 10 years ahead,

as well as ambitious, numerical targets, based
on United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals. The key goal is that Altia will aim to have
carbon neutral production in 2025, without
using compensations.

Altia's new sustainability roadmap has four
focus areas, which also include the cornerstones
of the previous plan: Our Distillery, Our Drink,
Out Society and Our People. The focus ares

are based on four selected United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), Altia’s
purpose and strategy, stakeholder expectations,
the company’s own operating principles and
codes of conduct, as well as the amfori BSCI
Code of Conduct, whichin turnis based on key
international agreements protecting workers’
rights. Altia has joined the amfori BSCl initiative
and aims to annually increase the traceability
and transparency of product and raw material
supply chains.

More details can be found in the Non-Financial
Statement published in connection with the Re-
port by the Board of Directors and in the Annual
Report’s dedicated section on Sustainability.

Health, safety and environment
Occupational health and safety
Occupational safety is a vital part of Altia's
corporate responsibility. Altia aims to reduce
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the number of accidents, absences caused by
accidents and sickness absences. To achieve
these goals, various occupational safety targets
were set and related actions were conducted
across different Altia sites during 2019.

In 2019, the sickness absence, excluding
commuting rate was 3.7% (3.4%). The accident
frequency (the number of accidents per one
million working hours) for accidents requiring at
least one day of absence was 9 (12). There were
no fatal work-related accidents in 2019 (0).

The environment and energy efficiency

Altia’s work with environmental matters focuses
on minimising the environmental impacts
generated by Altia's own operations. The most
significant environmental impacts of Altia’s
operations are energy consumption, water
consumption, waste water quality, waste gener-
ation and the non-quality costs generated from
scrapped raw materials, packaging materials and
end products. Environmental indicators have
been defined to support the reduction of these
impacts. Annual targets and related actions
were defined for different locations.

Organic loading of wastewater decreased at
Rajamaki and increased at Koskenkorva plants
during the reporting period. At Koskenkorva,
wastewater calculationinclude also A-Rehu’s
amount. A-Rehu operates on Koskenkorva plant
area. Water consumption relative to produc-

tion increased at Rajaméki and decreased at
Tabasalu and Koskenkorva. The average waste
utilization rate for the Altia production sites

in Rajamaki, Koskenkorva and Tabasalu, was
99.5%in 2019 (99.7%).

The bioenergy power plant at Koskenkorva,
which uses barley husks as its primary fuel, has
enabled the Koskenkorva plant to reduce its
carbon dioxide emissions and achieve a 62%
self-sufficiency rate in fuels for steam produc-
tion in the reporting period. The bioenergy
power plant has been operating at full capacity
since January 2015. The use of renewable fuel
has reduced the Koskenkorva plant’s carbon
dioxide emissions by 58% in 2019 compared to
the base year 2014 level.

Energy efficiency achieved through

various energy saving measures is a major
development area for the company both

in terms of profitability and environmental
responsibility. Altia is committed to the Finnish
energy efficiency agreement for the period

of 2017-2025, with the target to reduce
energy consumption by 10% by the year 2025,
compared to the base year 2014. As part of
the new Sustanability Roadmap, Altia has also

committed to 100% renewable energy by 2025.

In 2019, energy use relative to production
volume decreased at the Rajamaki plant and
increased at the Koskenkorva plant.

Risks and risk management

Risk management

Altia’s risk management aims to support the
realisation of the company’s strategy, risk iden-
tification, and means to reduce the likelihood
and impact of risk materialisation, as well as

to safeguard business continuity. Risks may

be the result of an internal or external event.
The Group's risk management policy has been
approved by Altia Plc’s Board of Directors.

The risk management policy describes the
goals, principles and responsibilities of Altia’s
risk management and the related reporting
principles. In line with this, the risk manage-
ment steering group supports and coordi-
nates risk management as part of the Group’s
planning and control processes and reports key
risks to the company’s management and Audit
Committee. The most significant risks and
uncertainties are assessed yearly in the Report
of the Board of Directors.

Altia’s business areas are responsible for risks
related to their operations, as well as for their
identification, prevention and key limitation
methods. The Group's finance department
manages financial risks according to the
hedging principles defined in the company’s
financial policy. The management principles
of the Group’s most significant financial risks
are described in more detail in the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, under



@ BUSINESS BOARD CORPORATE FINANCIAL
OVERVIEW REPORT SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 41
o
ALTIA'S RISK CHART Risk Description Risk management

Raw material The availability of domestic barley and its  Altia ensures the availability of barley with con-
price risk market price has a significant impacton  tract farming and the price of barley in coopera-

. . . the profitability of Altia’s business. tion with farmers and grain companies.
Compliance Strategic and Business

A strong market position, efficient industrial
processes, good quality and well-known brands

Risksrelated Our customers in Altia’s market areas

Business Environment to customers  include Nordic retail monopolies, whole-

Reporting

Data Privacy Strategic Choices and consum-  salers who sell alcohol, restaurants, retail - improve Altia’s chances to manage the risk.
Competion law Markets er demand stores, travel retail, international wine
Licenses Regulatory and s?[i'rits'cignpaniestand ir;ptor‘;_er:s
: o operating in the export markets. The
Ethics Corporate Respansibility wide customer base provides Altia with
diverse opportunities for the long-term
Financial development of customer cooperation.
Financial Markets Operations Changes in consumer behaviour may,in ~ Changes in consumption patterns and the need to
Liquidity the long term, shift the emphasisinthe ~ adjust operations are prepared for by investing in
Counterparty Hazard Proce§565 and Controls demand for Altia’s products between consumer-driven product development.
Property Sourcing different product categories.
Safety Personnel _ Product As awine and spirits company, one major  Altia employs modern methods to ensure the
Environment IT and Security safety risks  riskis ensuring the quality a_nd safety safgty of produActionA processes andto elim@nate
Liabilities of the raw materials and finished goods ~ various microbiological, chemical and physical

through the supply chain. hazards. In ensuring product safety, Altia complies
with the operating methods required by food

safety management and quality certificates.

All of our production facilities have insurance pol-
icies for material damage and the interruption of
operations in the Group’s insurance programme.
Key production facilities are subject to a risk
survey every 1-2 years. Continuity plans serve to
limit any possible loss of profits.

section 4.1. Financial risk management. The
finance department is also responsible for
insurance programmes that cover the entire
Group.

and compliance risks. The Board of Directors Damage
assesses these central risks and the measures risks
aiming to reduce the likelihood of their material-

isation every three months.

Altia has production facilities in Finland,
Estonia and France. A fire or other
unforeseen event may interrupt the
operations of a production facility.

Altia’s risk management process is based on the Strategic and business risks relate to decision- Financial The key risks related to finance in Altia’s  Financial risk management aims to mitigate any
1SO 31000 standard and also includes ERM making. resource allocation. manaserment risks operations are currency transactionand  impact that price fluctuations and other uncer-

) & ) ’ g translation risks, interest rate risks and tainties in the financial markets have on operating
components, as applicable. The Corporate systems and the capacity to respond to changes refinancing and liquidity risks. results, the balance sheet and cash flow and to
Governance Statement includes informationon  in the operating environment (Strategy period: ensure sufficient liquidity. The management princi-

. : B e ples of the Group’s most significant financial risks
the risk management process. long-term, 3 5 years). Res'pon5|b|||t\/ r|slfs are described in more detail in the Notes to the
related to business operations are described Consolidated Financial Statements, under section
Most significant risks and uncertainties in the Non-Financial Statement published in 4.1. Financial risk management.
Compliance  Key compliance risks in Altia’s opera- Altia aims to manage compliance risks and ensure

For reporting and risk assessment purposes,
risks are categorised into five classes: strate-
gic and business risks, operational and pro-
cess-related risks, damage risks, financial risks

connection with the Report by the Board of
Directors.

Operational risks concern the implementation

tions relate to the breach of laws and

regulations and decisions by authorities

concerning reporting, permits and

licenses, marketing of alcoholic bever-
ages, competition law and processing of

personal data.

ethically sustainable business practices with
guidance and regular training. Compliance risk
management aims to avoid sanctions, consequenc-
es and official investigations and decisions that
may damage the company’s profitability, business
continuity and reputation.
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of strategy and day-to-day business operations.
Such risks include deviations in processes, sys-
tems and conduct (Budget period: short-term,
1-2years).

Damage risks are errors, malfunctions and
accidents occurring within Altia or its operating
environment, resulting in damage or loss.

Financial risks pertain to changes in market
prices, the short- and long-term adequacy of
financial assets and the ability of counterparties
to meet their financial obligations.

Compliance risks involve violations of laws

and permits as well as ethically sustainable
business practices applicable to the company’s
operations and industry. The risk table on the
previous page contains a summary of key uncer-
tainties with an either positive or negative effect
onAltia’s operations.

Price risk associated with commodities
Barley

In 2019, Altia consumed approximately 212
(212) million kilos of Finnish grain to produce
ethanol and starch. The availability of high-qual-
ity domestic barley is ensured through contract
cultivation and cooperation with farmers and
grain handling companies. The market price of
barley fluctuates significantly year by year as
aresult of several factors that affect Finnish
barley supply and demand. The price of barley
is therefore considered to be a significant risk
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for Altia during the financial year. The price risk
has not been hedged against with derivative
instruments.

Electricity

A strongincrease in the market price of electric-
ity is a significant risk for Altia. The risk is man-
aged by following Altia’s principles for electricity
procurement. These principles determine the
hedging limits within which the electricity price
risk is hedged against. The hedges are executed
with the OTC-derivatives of Nasdag OMX Oslo
ASA.

The hedging service for electricity procurement
has been outsourced.

At the end of 2019, the hedging ratio for
deliveries for the next 12 months was 53.7%
(64.1%), in line with the set targets. In 2019, the
average hedging ratio was 66.0% (68.0%).

Cash flow hedge accounting in accordance
with IFRS 9 is applied to the hedges against
electric-ity price risk, and hedge effectiveness
is tested quarterly. All hedging was effective in
2019 as that was in 2018.

Altia purchases its electricity straight from the
Nord Pool Spot markets as a delivery tied to the
spot price of the Finnish price area.

Sensitivity to market risks
The table above describes the sensitivity of

SENSITIVITY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS TO MARKET RISKS (BEFORE TAXES) IN
ACCORDANCEWITHIFRS 7

2019 2018

Income Income
EUR million statement Equity statement Equity
+/-10% electricity = +/-0.2 - +/-0.3
+/-10% change in EUR/NOK exchange rate -/+0.0 +/-0.2 -/+0.1 +/-0.2
+/-10% change in EUR/SEK exchange rate -/+0.2 +/-1.8 -/+0.2 +/-2.2
+/-10% change in EUR/USD exchange rate -/+0.0 -/+0.2 -/+0.1 -/+0.4
+/-10% change in EUR/AUD exchange rate -/+0.0 -/+0.2 -/+0.0 -/+0.2
+/-1%-points change in interest rates -0.5 +0.4 -0.5 +0.6

Note: +10% increase in EUR/SEK exchange rate would have an EUR -0.2 million effect in income statement. Other risks with
same principle.

rates would have an effect of EUR-0.5 (-0.5) mil-
lion on the income statement. The effect of the
increase in market interest rates on the Group’s
profit is determined by net interest expenses.

the Group's profit and equity (before taxes) to
changes in electricity prices, foreign exchange
rates and interest rates. When Altia applies
hedge accounting, the sensitivity is directed at
equity. When hedge accounting is not applied,
the sensitivity is recognised as a potential
impact on profit or loss.

Short-termrisks and uncertainties
The most significant uncertainties in the com-
pany’s operations relate to the overall economic
development and its impacts on consumption, as
well as the effects of alcohol taxes and legisla-
tion on consumer behaviour. Unexpected and
unforeseen disruptions in production and de-
liveries form the major short-term risks related
to operations, as well as sudden and significant
changes in prices of raw materials, especially
related to barley.

The sensitivity to foreign exchange rate changes
is calculated from the net currency position
resulting from financial instruments.

The total group floating rate liability position
consists of floating rate liabilities EUR 70.0
(75.0) million and floating leg of interest rate
swap EUR 20.0 (20.0) million which is netting
the interest rate risk.

Altia PIc’s Board of Directors has confirmed the

An increase of one percentage point in interest Group Risk Management Policy. Risk manage-
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ment is aimed at supporting the implementation
of Altia Group’s strategy, the identification of
risks and methods for reducing the probability
and impacts of risks, as well as ensuring busi-
ness continuity. Risks may arise frominternal or
external events.

Outlook for 2020

Market outlook

The development of the Group’s business opera-
tions and profitability are affected by the compet-
itive environment, the overall economic outlook
and changes in alcohol taxation and regulation.
Uncertainty related to changes in consumer buy-
ing behaviour and consumer demand continues.
Also, overall fluctuations of direct product costs
affect the Group's profitability.

Seasonality

There are substantial seasonal fluctuations in the
consumption of alcoholic beverages impacting
the net sales and cash flow of Altia. The company
typically generates large amounts of its revenue
and cash flow during the fourth quarter of the
year, whereas the first quarter of the year is sig-
nificantly lower. In addition, excise taxes related
to the high season at the end of the year are paid
in January, resulting in large cash outflows at the
beginning of the year.

Guidance

The continued decline in market volumes in Fin-
land puts pressure on profitability growth. The
uncertainties in global travelling impacts border
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trade and travel retail regionally and in Asia.
Guidance assumes a normal barley price level
following the 2020 harvest. Industrial services
are impacted by phasing of volumes between the
years.

The comparable EBITDA is expected to be at the
same level as or higher thanin 2019 (2019: EUR
44.8 million).

Financial calendar 2020

The Annual Report 2019 including the financial
statements, Board of Directors' report, Auditor's
report, the Corporate Governance statement
and the remuneration statement will be pub-
lished in English and Finnish on Altia’s website
during week 10 (the week starting on 2 March).

Altia Plc will publish financial reports in 2020 as

follows:

e 29 April: Business Review for
January-March 2020

e 19 August: Half-Year Report for
January-June 2020

e 6 November: Business Review for
January-September 2020

Annual General Meeting 2020

Altia Plc’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) 2020
is planned to be held on 25 March 2020 in Hel-
sinki. The notice to and instructions for the AGM
are published on Altia’s website.

Dividend proposal

According to the financial statements on 31 De-
cember 2019, the parent company’s distributa-
ble funds amount to EUR 96 936 582.11 includ-
ing profit for the period of EUR 38 585 786.54.

There have been no significant changes to the
parent company’s financial position after the end
of the financial year.

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual
General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.42
per share be paid for the financial year 2019.

Events after the period

On 29 January, the proposals by the Sharehold-
ers’ Nomination Board to the Annual General
Meeting were announced. The Nomination
Board proposes that the number of members of
the Board of Directors would be seven and that
of the present members Tiina Lencioni, Jukka
Ohtola, Anette Rosengren, Torsten Steenholt
and Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae would be re-elect-
ed and that Jukka Leinonen and Jyrki Maki-Kala
would be elected as new members.

Further, the Nomination Board proposes that
the remuneration to be paid to the members

of the Board of Directors during the next term
would consist of a monthly term of office fee as
follows: EUR 4 000 per month, Chairman; EUR
2 500 per month, Vice Chairman; EUR 2 000 per
month, member. In addition to the monthly fee,
the Board members would receive a meeting fee

for the Board of Directors and Board Commit-
tee meetings of EUR 600 per meeting for Board
members residing in Finland and EUR 1 200 per
meeting for Board members residing abroad.
Travel expenses would be reimbursed in accord-
ance with the company’s travel policy.

In addition, the Nomination Board proposes to
amend the Charter of the Shareholders’ Nom-
ination Board so that the three largest share-
holders shall be determined on the first banking
day of June each year (currently determined on
the first banking day of September each year).

Helsinki, 12 February 2020
Altia Plc
Board of Directors
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BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

Non-financial statement

Introduction

Corporate responsibility has for long been a
strategic priority and key success factor for
Altia and as of 2020 it is an integral part of
Altia’'s company strategy. The aim of the compa-
ny’s responsibility efforts is to build sustainable
long-term business. With its new Sustainability
Roadmap 2030 and the key goal of carbon-free
production Altia wants to add to the national
and international efforts of mitigating climate
change. Altia also wants to promote a modern
and responsible Nordic drinking culture. This
target is summarised in the company’s purpose,
Let’s Drink Better. Better drinking can be inter-
preted as, for example, a drinking culture that is
of a higher quality, moderate in quantity, lighter,
more social or more environmentally friendly.

Altia has reported on the company’s responsi-
bility efforts for ten years in accordance with
the model for corporate responsibility reporting
for state-owned companies® and the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) guidelines.

This non-financial statement describes, in
accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act,
Altia’s approach to the management of environ-
mental, social and employee matters, as well as
matters related to respect for human rights and
anti-corruption and bribery, in its operations.

More detailed information about our responsi-
bility work is provided in a separate section on
Sustainability in Annual Report.

Business model

Altia’s business model is based on offering a
strong portfolio of its own brands and a versatile
range of international partner brands, as well as
providing services to its customers utilising the
company’s production, packaging and logistics ca-
pacity. In addition, by-products from the produc-
tion process are sold to industrial customersin
other industries. The integrated operating model
creates significant economies of scale in sourcing,
production and distribution, and allows the com-
pany to take advantage of its shared operations

- such as consumer research, innovation, product
development and overall know-how - and use

its centralised support functions efficiently. The
Business Overview section contains a description
of how Altia creates value.

Environmental matters

a. Policies and ways of working

(including due diligence)

Altia’s work on environmental matters focuses
on minimising the environmental impacts of the
company’s own operations. Altia aims for high
material and resource efficiency and develops
products and their packaging with a view to
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achieving a lower environmental impact. In addi-
tion, necessary measures are taken to protect the
groundwater resources used as an ingredient in
Altia's products.

The environmental aspects relevant to the
company are assessed at three-year intervals.

In the assessment conducted in 2018, energy
consumption, water consumption, wastewater
and its quality, as well as waste generation, were
identified as the most significant environmen-
tal aspects. Environmental key performance
indicators and annual reduction targets were
defined to support the reduction of these
impacts. Plant-specific targets and the actions
necessary to achieve the targets are set annually,
and progress is monitored monthly with the help
of the indicators.

The standards, policies and principles relevant to

Altia's environmental work include:

e Altia Code of Conduct

e Altia Quality, Safety and Environmental
Principles

e |SO14001 Environmental Management
System standard; the certification covers
Altia’s operations in Finland

b. Principal risks and their management
Environmental risks are assessed regularly as

part of the assessment of Altia’s environmental
impacts and of Altia Group'’s risk management.

The principal risks identified include possi-
ble leaks to the soil or waterways (including
groundwater areas), overruns of the waste-
water quality limits in Altia’s environmental
permits, and the costs related to maintaining
compliance with increasingly strict environ-
mental regulations as well as the fines and
sanctions resulting from any non-compliance
with the said regulations.

The risks are managed through various meas-
ures, including the maintenance of an envi-
ronmental management system in accordance
with the ISO14001 standard, regular monitor-
ing of wastewater quality, ownership of land in
groundwater areas and monitoring legislative
developments.

c. Outcome and KPIs

Altia’s long-term work with circular economy
at the Koskenkorva distillery was noted as Sitra
selected Altia to their list of most inspiring
circular economy companies.

* Government Resolution on State Ownership Policy 3
November 2011, Annex 3
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KPI 2019

Energy efficiency (MWh/  Koskenkorva: 0.63

m? of product or tonne of  Rajamaki and Tabasalu:
barley) 0.27

Water efficiency (m®/m®  Koskenkorva: 1.49

of product or tonne of Rajamaki and Tabasalu:

barley)* 1.65
Quality of wastewater (kg Koskenkorva: 3.37
COD/m?® of product or Rajamaki and Tabasalu:

2.29

Average rate of recycling  99.5%
and reutilisation

tonne of barley)?

Monetary value of fines O
and number of non-mon-
etary sanctions
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2017

Koskenkorva: 0.63
Rajaméki and Tabasalu:
0.28

Koskenkorva: 2.28
Rajamaki and Tabasalu:
146

Koskenkorva: 2.23
Rajaméki and Tabasalu:

2018

Koskenkorva: 0.63
Rajamaki and Tabasalu:
0.31

Koskenkorva: 2.26
Rajamaki and Tabasalu:
1.61

Koskenkorva: 3.10
Rajamaki and Tabasalu:

3.35 2.92
99.7% 99.5%
0 0

1 Monitoring of the KPI for water efficiency was discontinued at the beginning of 2018 at the Rajaméki plant of the Industrial
Products unit, because the KPI is not material for the operations.
2 The KPI for the quality of wastewater is not monitored at the Tabasalu plant.

In Finland, Altia has joined the voluntary En-
ergy Efficiency Agreement, the other parties
of which are the Ministry of Economic Affairs
and Employment, industry associations

and companies. With the agreement, Altia
commits to reducing its energy consumption
by 10% by 2025, compared to the base year
2014. Energy consumption relative to pro-
duction decreased at the Rajamaki plant and
increased at Koskenkorvain 2019.

The limit values for wastewater loads are
specified in Altia’s environmental permits.
Organic loading of wastewater decreased at
Rajamaki and increased at Koskenkorva in
2019. The average monthly biological oxygen
demand (BOD) in wastewater didn’t exceed
the monthly average permit limit. The daily

BOD limit was exceeded 3 times during 2019.
The results of Altia’s key environmental indi-
cators are summarised in the table above and
discussed in more detail under Our Distillery
section on Sustainability.

The bioenergy power plant at the Koskenkorva
plant enabled Altia to reduce the Koskenkorva
plant’s carbon dioxide emissions by 58 % in 2019,
compared to 2014. The plant’s fuel self-sufficien-
cy in steam production was 62 % in 2019.

Social and employee matters
Consumer and product related matters

a. Policies and ways of working

(including due diligence)

Product safety is a top priority for Altia, and the
company continuously improves the quality of

raw materials and final products. Altia markets
its products responsibly and in compliance
with applicable marketing laws and provides
consumer information in accordance with
applicable regulations.

The key processes related to product quality
and safety have been defined and the relevant
instructions are maintained in Altia’s man-
agement system. Key performance indicators
regarding quality, targets included, have been
set they are monitored on a monthy basis. The
KPIs concern quality costs, customer feedback
and the proportions of deviating batches.
Plant-specific targets and the actions neces-
sary to achieve those targets are furthermore
set annually, and progress is monitored month-
ly with the help of the indicators.

Altia wants to build responsible drinking cul-
ture. Given that the company’s own employees
are in a key position for driving the change,
Altia has an employee alcohol policy in place.
The policy is applicable to all Altia employees
and everyone working on Altia’s production
sites or in its offices.

Altia’'s Rajamaki plant has international Fair
Trade and Fair for Life certifications. Alti
Brunna has also Fair for Life certification.

The Koskenkorva distillery, the Rajamaki
alcoholic beverage plant and the distillery in
Sundsvall are certified for organic produc-
tion.

The standards, policies and principles relevant

to the safety, quality, marketing and consump-

tion of Altia’s products include:

e Altia Code of Conduct

*« |SO%001 Quality Management standard;
the certification covers Altia’s operations
in Finland as well as the Tabasalu plant in
Estonia

e |SO22000 Food Safety Management
standard; the certification covers Altia’s
Rajamaki plant

e Altia Quality, Safety and Environmental
Principles

o Altia Marketing Guidelines

e Altia Employee Alcohol Policy

b. Principal risks and their management

The risks are assessed as part of quality and
safety risk assessments and as part of Altia
Group's risk management. The principal

risks identified include failure to comply with
hygiene requirements, lack of consistency in
the quality of products, any contamination of
products, as well as defects in raw materials or
packaging. Such incidents can lead to product
recalls or make the company subject to legal
claims. As the alcohol business is highly regulat-
ed, stricter regulation regarding the marketing
and advertising of alcoholic beverages or their
taxation, for example, could have an impact on
the company’s operations.

To manage risks of this type, Altia maintains
quality and food safety management systems in
accordance with international standards. Quali-
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KPI 2019

Amount of income taxes  EUR 435 million
paid and excise taxes

collected The full tax footprint is

2018
EUR 454.2 million

The full tax footprint is
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2017
EUR 425.6 million

The full tax footprint is

available in the sectionon available in the section on available in the section on

Sustainability

ty is monitored continuously during production
by means of line inspections and testing, as well
as the analysis of end products. Instructions
and process are maintained in view of possible
recalls and situations are practised regularly by
way of phantom testing. Applicable legislation
and any developments therein are reviewed
regularly.

c. Outcome and KPIs

Altia’s Rajamaki plant was audited to receive
the FSSC 22000 food safety certificate in De-
cember 2019 and the certificate is expected
to be granted in beginning of 2020. During
the reporting year, the company arranged
training for employees. Altia has also specified
instructions and processes for food fraud
mitigation and food defence. Plant-specific
targets and the actions necessary to achieve
those targets are set annually and progress

is monitored monthly with the help of the
indicators.

Altia’s tax footprint is significant compared to
company net sales, due to excise duty.

Sustainability

Sustainability

Employee matters

a. Policies and ways of working (including
due diligence)

Altia is committed to building a culture with a
motivating and supportive working environ-
ment based on safety, openness, equality and
trust. The company values diversity and pro-
motes equal treatment and equal opportunities.
Altia maintains a continuous dialogue with its
employees by sharing information and engaging
the employees and respects the freedom of
association and the right to collective bargain-
ing. All Altia employees are expected to respect
each other’s rights to fair treatment and to act
in accordance with the Altia Behaviours. These
are Renew Bravely, Show Direction, Build Suc-
cess Together and Implement!

Altia wants to ensure safe and healthy working
conditions for all its employees. The goal is

to reduce sickness absences, the number of
accidents and the number of absences caused
by accidents. Plant-specific targets and the
actions necessary to achieve those targets

are set annually, and progress is monitored
monthly by way of key performance indicators.
Targets are also set and action plans prepared

for operating locations that are not within the
scope of the OHSAS 18001:2007 certification.

The standards, policies and principles relevant

to employee matters include:

» Altia Code of Conduct

e AltiaBehaviours

e OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health
and Safety Management standard; the
certification covers Altia’s operations in
Finland

e Altia Quality, Safety and Environmental
Principles

e amfori BSCI Code of Conduct

b. Principal risks and their management

The risks are assessed as part of Altia Group's
risk management. The principal risks relate to
Altia’s ability to recruit, develop, motivate and
retain the right know-how and succeed in daily
leadership, the maintenance of good collabora-
tion practices with employees and their unions,
as well as the occurrence of accidents. To

KPI 2019
Sickness absence, % (ref- 3.7
erence to GRI standard)

Accident absence rate 91
without commuting,

LTIF (reference to GRI
standard)

Accident absence, % (ref- 0.07
erence to GRI standard)

Number of accidents 11t

manage the risks, Altia develops its employer
value proposition, recruitment and retention,
conducts the employee satisfaction survey
Altia Tasting on an annual basis, maintains
frequent collaboration with unions, and
maintains an occupational health and safety
management system in accordance with the
OHSAS 18001 standard.

c. Outcome and KPIs

One of the key focus areas in personnel
development in 2019 was work safety. Safety
culture was boosted by initiating a compre-
hensive Human Factor program at Rajamaéki
plant. The idea of the programme is to lift the
safety culture from individualist to systemic
and therefore enhance understanding the
requirements of the changing environment.
The planis to continue this initiative in other
plants during 2020 and 2021.

Altia’s annual Altia Tasting employee survey
was organised in January 2019. The survey

2018 2017
3.4 3.3
12t 11
0.07 0.29
151 16

12018 and 2019 LTIF and number of accidents is reported without commuting.
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provided managers with precise results for
the development of their leadership. The most
important development targets uncovered

in the employee survey related to the com-
munication of opportunities for competence
development, the development of leader-

ship skills and the visibility of the executive
management. Several measures were carried
out during the year to develop these areas,
e.g. the initiative to define together with our
managers how the good leadership should
look like, improving the quality of development
discussion by modifying the discussion format
based on feedback collected from employees,
and putting focus on EMT’s participation in
employee events.

The results of the indicators for occupational
health and safety are presented in the table
above. There were no fatal work-related acci-
dents during the year.

Respect for human rights

a. Policies and ways of working (including
due diligence)

Altia is committed to respecting and promoting
human rights and international labour stand-
ards in accordance with the United Nation’s
(UN) Universal Declaration of Human Rights
and the key conventions of the International
Labour Organization (ILO). Altia also expects
the same from its suppliers, partners and
subcontractors.
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KPI 2019 2018 2017 tomer stops any further deliveries of a product.
Share of purchases from 2% 3% 4% The risks are managed with the due diligence
risk countries as identi- process explained above.
fied in amfori BSCl risk
country classification
Number of grievances 0 0 0 ¢. Outcome and KPls
related to human rights 6 amfori BSCI audits (full audits or follow-up
reported through the audits) were conducted at Altia's suppliers,

whistleblowing channel

The whistleblowing channel was launched in October 2017, due to which the first full year figure concerns 2018.

Altia’s most relevant human rights impacts are
related to the sourcing of wines, spirits and raw
materials. In 2017, Altia joined amfori BSCI and
amfori BSCl's Sustainable Wine Programme to
develop responsible sourcing. As a participant
Altia is committed to furthering the principles of
the amfori BSCI Code of Conduct inits supply
chains. The code of conduct’s principles are
based on key international agreements and
framewaorks such as ILO conventions and decla-
rations, the UN Guiding Principles on Business
and Human Rights, as well as OECD guidelines
for multinational enterprises.

Altia’s due diligence process is developed
continuously. It is currently composed of
mapping the supply chains of Altia's products
and their components, using a questionnaire
to gather information about Altia's suppliers’
and partners’ responsibility work, contractual
obligations as well as participationin and
utilisation of the tools offered by amfori
BSCI, including third party audits. Altia

has a whistleblowing channel open to all
stakeholders, maintained by an independent
third party.

The standards, policies and principles relevant

to Altia’s work with human rights matters

include:

e Altia Code of Conduct

e amfori BSCI Code of Conduct

e Altia Code of Conduct for Suppliers and
Subcontractors

b. Principal risks and their management
The principal risks are related to Altia’s busi-
ness relationships and primarily concern the
wine, spirits and raw material supply chains
where these extend to countries with a higher
risk of possible violations of international
labour standards. In addition, Altia’s customers
have demands for social compliance within
the supply chains, and any violation of such
demands by Altia’s suppliers, sub-suppliers or
partners could lead to situations where a cus-

partners or their sub-suppliersin 2019 (21 in
2018).

Anti-corruption and -bribery
matters

a. Policies and ways of working (including
due diligence)

Altia has zero tolerance towards bribery and
corruption. The company is committed to
operating fairly and to not offering improper
benefits to any party. Altia also expects its
representatives, consultants, agents, subcon-
tractors and other business partners to uncon-
ditionally refrain from corruptive behaviour
when performing services for Altia or onits
behalf. Altia does not support, either directly
or indirectly, political parties or organisations.
Nor does the company participate in financing
election campaigns of individual candidates.

Altia published its new Code of Conduct is
2018. The Altia Code of Conduct describes
the company’s commitment to ethical business
conduct. The cornerstones of the Altia Code of
Conduct are Our employees, Our business and
Our integrity. Every Altia employee is familiar-
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KPI 2019

Communication and trainingon  Online course on Altia's
anti-corruption policies (refer-  Anti-Bribery and -Corruption

ence to GRI standard)

personnel. Internal commu-
nication on ethical business

conduct.

Number of anti-corruption 0
and bribery incidents reported
through the whistleblowing
channel

ised with the Altia Code of Conduct, including
the company’s anti-bribery and corruption
activities, with the help of an online course.

Altia has a whistleblowing channel maintained
by an independent third party. The channel

is open to all Altia employees and external
stakeholders. All concerns raised, whether
through the channel or through other means,
are investigated in accordance with an estab-
lished process to ensure accuracy, anonymity
and fairness.

The standards, policies and principles rele-
vant to anti-corruption and -bribery matters
include:

¢ Altia Code of Conduct

e Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy

*  Whistleblowing channel

b. Principal risks and their management
The risks are assessed as part of Altia Group's
risk management. The principal risks associ-
ated with anti-corruption and bribery matters
include a reputational risk caused by any act
of corruption or bribery, especially related

to Altia’s key persons and business partners.
Given that the alcohol business is often areg-
ulated business, obtaining and maintaining the
necessary licenses and permits are associated
with a risk of corruption or bribery, especially
in countries with a high corruption index. The
risks are managed through contractual obli-
gations, third party due diligence inspections
concerning suppliers and distributors, where
necessary, as well as internal training on the
Altia Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy.

c. Outcome and KPIs

In 2019, Altia arranged an online course on
Altia's Anti-Bribery and -Corruption Policy
toits entire personnel. The whistleblowing
channel has been in use since 2017. No reports
were submitted through the whistleblowing
channel in 2019. The first full-year figures on
reports received through the whistleblowing
channel were available in 2018.

@ BUSINESS BOARD CORPORATE FINANCIAL
OVERVIEW REPORT SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 48
o

2018 2017 2016
Online course on the Altia The relevant employees at N/A
Code of Conduct organised for  Altia were provided with online

Policy organised for the entire  the entire personnel training
0 0 N/A
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Key ratios of the Group

Income statement

Net sales

Comparable EBITDA

(% of net sales)

EBITDA

Comparable operating result (EBIT)
(% of net sales)

Operating result

Result before taxes

Result for the period

Items affecting comparability

Balance sheet

Cash and cash equivalents
Total equity

Borrowings

Invested capital

Profitability
Return on equity (ROE)

Return oninvested capital (ROI)

Financing and financial position

Net debt

Gearing

Equity ratio

Net cash flow from operating activities
Net debt/comparable EBITDA

BUSINESS BOARD CORPORATE FINANCIAL
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

EUR million 359.6 357.3 3590 356.6 380.7
EUR million 448 40.0 424 40.8 38.0
% 12.4 11.2 11.8 11.5 10.0
EUR million 43.1 34.0 40.3 60.8 39.7
EUR million 26.8 25.6 28.2 264 23.6
% 7.5 7.2 7.8 7.4 6.2
EUR million 251 19.7 26.1 46.3 253
EUR million 24.6 186 250 450 234
EUR million 18.4 15.1 18.3 36.1 18.1
EUR million -1.7 -6.0 -2.1 19.9 1.7
EUR million 64.2 420 524 68.0 76.3
EUR million 151.2 150.1 136.8 191.3 168.6
EUR million 82.6 89.4 100.1 72.8 96.7
EUR million 2338 239.5 236.9 264.0 265.3
% 12.2 10.5 111 20.0 11.6
% 8.5 7.0 8.0 14.4 7.6
EUR million 28.9 474 477 47 20.4
% 19.1 31.6 34.9 25 12.1
% 378 384 343 44.2 367
EUR million 52.6 6.5 37.6 294 34.8

0.6 1.2 1.1 0.1 0.5
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Share-based key ratios

Earnings / share (Basic and diluted)
Equity / share

Dividend per share

Dividend/earnings

Effective dividend yield

Price/Earnings

Closing share price on the last day of trading
Highest

Lowest

Market value of shares at the end of period

Number of shares outstanding at the end of period

Personnel
Average number of personnel

Impact of IFRS 16 on selected key figures
Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact
Net debt without IFRS 16 impact

Equity ratio without IFRS 16 impact

Gearing without IFRS 16 impact

* Board'’s proposal

EUR
EUR
EUR
%
%

EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR million

EUR million
EUR million
%
%

0.51
4.18
0.421
82.6!
511
161
8.18
8.22
7.080
295.6
36 140485

682

410
184
38.8
12.1

0.42
4.15
0.38
91.2
54
17.0
7.07
9.50
7.015
2555
36 140485

718

0.51
3.80

35 960000

762

1.00
5.32

35 960000

829

0.50
4.69

35960000

879
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RECONCILIATION OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APM) TO IFRS FIGURES AND ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY (IAC)

Altia presents alternative performance
measures as additional information to finan-
cial measures presented in the consolidated
income statement, consolidated balance sheet
and consolidated statement of cash flows pre-
pared in accordance with IFRS. In Altia’s view,

EUR million 2019 2018
Items affecting comparability

Net gains or losses from business and assets disposals 0.1 0.4
Cost for closure of business operations and restructurings -0.2 -1.1

Major corporate projects

Costs related to the closed voluntary pension scheme -1.6 -0.7 ) . .
i alternative performance measures provide sig-
Costs related to stock exchange listing - -4.6 ) o ) ] -
- . — nificant additional information on Altia’s results
Total items affecting comparability -1.7 -6.0 ) . o
of operations, financial position and cash flows
to management, investors, analysts and other
Comparable EBITDA
- stakeholders.
Operating result 25.1 19.7
Less: .
D o fisat dimpai ; 179 144 Alternative performance measures should not
epreciation, amortisation and impairmen . . . . . .
. tpl . et il P 15 60 be viewed inisolation or as a substitute to the
Otal Items arrecting comparabilil 5 . . .
s P v IFRS financial measures. All companies do not
Comparable EBITDA 44.8 40.0 . .
calculate alternative performance measures in
% of net sales 12.4 11.2

a uniform way, and therefore Altia’s alternative
performance measures may not be comparable

Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact with similarly named measures presented by

Comparable EBITDA 44.8 , .
other companies.
Less:
IFRS 16 impact to EBITDA 38 " Thealternative performance measures are
Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact 41.0 - unaudited
Comparable EBIT
Operating result 25.1 19.7
Less:
Total items affecting comparability 1.7 6.0
Comparable EBIT 26.8 25.6

% of net sales 7.5 7.2
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THE DEFINITIONS AND REASONS FOR THE USE OF FINANCIAL KEY INDICATORS

Key figure
Operating margin, %

EBITDA

EBITDA margin, %

Comparable operating result
Comparable operating margin, %
Comparable EBITDA
Comparable EBITDA margin, %

Items affecting comparability

Comparable EBITDA without
IFRS 16 impact

Invested capital
Return on equity (ROE), %

Return oninvested
capital (ROI), %

Borrowings

Net debt

Net debt without IFRS 16 impact

Definition

Operating result / Net sales

Operating result before depreciation and amortization

EBITDA/ Net sales

Operating result excluding items affecting comparability
Comparable operating result / Net sales

EBITDA excluding items affecting comparability
Comparable EBITDA/ Net sales

Material items outside normal business, such as net gains or losses from business and

assets disposals, impairment losses, cost for closure of business operations and restructur-

ings, major corporate projects including direct transaction costs related to business acqui-
sitions, voluntary pension plan change and costs related to other corporate development.

Comparable EBITDA - IFRS 16 impact

Total equity + Borrowings
Result for the period / Total equity (average of reporting period and comparison period)

(Result for the period + Interest expenses) / (Total equity + Non-current and current
borrowings) (average of reporting period and comparison period)

Non-current borrowings + Current borrowings

Borrowings + Non-current and current lease liabilities - Cash and cash equivalents

Borrowings - Cash and cash equivalents

Reason for the use

Operating result shows result generated by the operating activities.

EBITDA is the indicator to measure the performance of the Group.

Comparable EBITDA, comparable EBITDA margin, comparable operating result and com-
parable operating margin are presented in addition to EBITDA and operating result to
reflect the underlying business performance and to enhance comparability from period
to period. Altia believes that these comparable performance measures provide meaning-
ful supplemental information by excluding items outside normal business, which reduce
comparability between the periods.

Comparable EBITDA is an internal measure to assess performance of Altia and key per-
formance measure at segment level together with net sales.

Comparable EBITDA margin is also one of Altia’s financial targets. Comparable EBITDA
is commonly used as a base for valuation purposes outside the Company and therefore
important measure to report regularly.

Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact improves comparability to previous years.

Base for ROl measure.

This measure can be used to evaluate how efficiently Altia has been able to generate
results in relation to the equity of the Company.

This measure is used to evaluate how efficiently Altia has been able to generate net results
inrelation to the total investments made to the Company.

Net debt is an indicator to measure the total external debt financing of the Group.

Net debt without IFRS 16 impact improves comparability to previous years.



@ BUSINESS BOARD
OVERVIEW REPORT

CORPORATE FINANCIAL
SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 53

o

Key figure Definition

Gearing, % Net debt / Total equity

Gearing without IFRS 16 impact, % Net debt without IFRS 16 impact / Total equity

Equity ratio, % Total equity / (Total assets - Advances received)

Equity ratio without IFRS 16 impact, %  Total equity / (Total assets - Right-of-use assets — Advances received)

Net debt / Comparable EBITDA Net debt / Comparable EBITDA

Net debt / Comparable EBITDA Net debt without IFRS 16 impact / Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact

without IFRS 16 impact

Earnings / share Result for the period attributable to shareholders of the parent company/Share-issue
adjusted number of shares during the period

Equity/share Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company /Share- issue adjusted number
of shares at the end of period

Dividend/share Dividend distribution for period/Number of shares (basic) at the end of period

Dividend / earnings % Dividend/share / Earnings/ share

Effective dividend yield % Dividend/share / Price of share at the end of the accounting period

Price / earnings Price of share at the end of accounting period / Earnings/share

Market value of outstanding shares The number of shares at the end of accounting period x the price of the share at the end of

accounting period.

Reason for the use

Gearing ratio helps to show financial risk level and it is a useful measure for management
to monitor the level of Group’s indebtedness. Important measure for the loan portfolio.

Gearing without IFRS 16 impact, % improves comparability to previous years.

Equity / assets ratio helps to show financial risk level and it is a useful measure for man-
agement to monitor the level of Group's capital used in the operations.

Equity ratio without IFRS 16 impact, % improves comparability to previous years.

The level of Net debt / Comparable EBITDA is one of Altia’s financial targets.

Net debt / Comparable EBITDA without IFRS 16 impact improves comparability to
previous years.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec
EUR million Note 2019 2018 EUR million Note 2019 2018
NET SALES 1.1 359.6 357.3 Result for the period 18.4 151
Other operating income 1.3. 7.6 74
Materials and services 14. -213.1 -206.8 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Employee benefit expenses 1.5. -45.9 -49.9 Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Other operating expenses 1.6. -65.0 -73.9 Remeasurements of post-employment benefit -0.2 0.0
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 17. -17.9 -14.4 obligations
OPERATING RESULT 25.1 19.7 Related income tax 6.1. 0.0 -0.0
Total -0.2 -0.0
Finance income 31 35 35 Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Finance expenses 3.1. 5.7 5.8 Cash flow hedges 13 0.4
Share of profit in associates and joint ventures and income 1.6 1.2 Translation differences 34 24 35
from interests in joint operations Income tax related to these items 6.1. 0.3 -0.1
RESULT BEFORE TAXES 24.6 18.6 Total -3.5 -3.2
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax -3.6 -3.2
Income tax expense 6.1. -6.2 -3.6 TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 14.8 11.9
RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 18.4 15.1
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Result for the period attributable to: Owners of the parent 14.8 11.9
Owners of the parent 18.4 151
The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
Earnings per share for the result attributable
to owners of the parent, EUR
Basic and diluted 3.4. 0.51 042
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
EUR million Note 2019 2018 EUR million Note 2019 2018
ASSETS EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets Equity attributable to owners of the parent 3.4.
Goodwill 2.1. 80.1 80.7 Share capital 60.5 60.5
Other intangible assets 2.1 252 29.6 Invested unrestricted equity fund 12 1.2
Property, plant and equipment 2.2. 60.9 64.6 Fair value reserve 0.6 0.6
Right-of- use assets 2.3. 104 - Legal reserve 0.1 -
Investments in associates, joint ventures and interests 5.3. 8.8 7.9 Hedge reserve -1.0 0.0
in joint operations Translation differences 221 -19.6
Financiahl ass'ets.at fair value through other 3.2.1. 1.4 1.4 Retained earnings 111.9 107.3
mprehen ncom
comprenensive INcome Total equity 1512 150.1
Deferred tax assets 6.1. 0.9 0.8 N t liabiliti
Total non-current assets 187.7 185.1 on-currentia _I I |es
Deferred tax liabilities 6.1. 16.7 16.8
Current assets i
5 Borrowings 3.2.2. 76.1 82.7
Inventories 2.4, 92.0 99.6 o
Lease liabilities 3.2.2. 7.1 -
Contract assets 2.5. 0.2 0.2 o
. Employee benefit obligations 2.7. 1.4 1.3
Trade and other receivables 2.6. 54.4 60.9 —
Total non-current liabilities 101.3 100.8
Current tax assets 1.6 2.5
. Current liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents 3.2.1. 64.2 42.0 B . 322 o o7
Total current assets 212.4 205.3 LorroTYIE,glét_ 3'2'2' 3'4 :
TOTAL ASSETS 400.2 390.4 case 1abites B :
Provisions 2.9. = 0.5
Trade and other payables 2.8. 134.7 1314
Contract liabilities 2.5. 0.5 0.6
Current tax liabilities 2.5 0.4
Total current liabilities 147.6 139.5
Total liabilities 249.0 240.3
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 400.2 3904

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec
EUR million Note 2019 2018 EUR million Note 2019 2018
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Result before taxes 24.6 18.6 Payments for property, plant and equipment and intan- ~ 2.1.,2.2. -6.8 -7.7
Adjustments gible assets
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.3. 0.1 0.6
- : = and intangible assets
Share of profit in associates and joint ventures and . . . -
income from investments in joint operations JI[nvestments in associated companies and joint ven- -0.2 -
ures
Net gain on sale of non-current assets
) & . . Repayment of loan receivables 3.2. - 0.9
Finance income and costs ) ) o )
. Interest received from investments in joint operations 5.3. 0.9 0.9
Other adjustments - .
Dividends received 3.1. = 0.1
. . . NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -6.0 -5.2
Change in working capital
ch o tories | 0/d ) CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ange in inventories, increase (-) / decrease (+ .
ch s . tract ts. trade and oth vabl Proceeds from borrowings 3.2.2. = 20.0
ange in contract assets, trade and other receivables, .
incre;gse (-)/ decrease (+) Repayment of borrowings 3.2.2. -6.5 -30.7
Change in contract liabilities, trade and other payables, Repayment of lease liabilities 32.2. 37 N
increase (+) / decrease (-) Dividends paid and other distributions of profits 34. -13.7 -
Change in working capital Share issue, personnel offering = 1.2
Interest paid NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -23.9 -9.5
Interest received
Other finance income and expenses paid CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22.7 -8.2
Income taxes paid
Financial items and taxes Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 420 524
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES Translation differences on cash and cash equivalents -0.5 -2.2
Change in cash and cash equivalents 22.7 -8.2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 823, 64.2 42.0
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent Invested
Share unrestricted Fair value Legal Hedge Translation Retained Total
EUR million capital equity fund reserve reserve reserve differences earnings equity
Equity at 1 January 2018 60.5 - 0.6 - -0.3 -16.0 92.0 136.8
Change in accounting principle - - - - - - 0.1 0.1
Equity at 1 January 2018, restated 60.5 - 0.6 - -0.3 -16.0 92.1 136.9
Total comprehensive income
Result for the period - - - - - - 15.1 15.1
Other comprehensive income (net of tax)
Cash flow hedges - - - - 0.3 - - 0.3
Translation differences 3.4. - - - - - -3.5 0.0 -35
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 2.7. - - - - - - -0.0 -0.0
Total comprehensive income for the period - - - - 0.3 -3.5 15.1 11.9
Transactions with owners
Share issue - 1.2 - - - - - 1.2
Share based payment, personnel offering - - - - - - 0.1 0.1
Total transactions with owners - 12 - - - - 0.1 14
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 60.5 1.2 0.6 - 0.0 -19.6 107.3 150.1
Equity at 1 January 2019 60.5 12 0.6 - 0.0 -19.6 107.3 150.1
Total comprehensive income
Result for the period - - - - - - 18.4 18.4
Other comprehensive income (net of tax)
Cash flow hedges - - - - -1.0 - - -1.0
Translation differences 3.4. - - - - - -2.5 0.1 24
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 2.7. - - - - - - -0.2 -0.2
Total comprehensive income for the period - - - - -1.0 -2.5 18.3 14.8
Transactions with owners
Dividend distribution - - - - - - -13.7 -13.7
Share based payment - - - - - - 0.1 0.1
Total transactions with owners = = - = = = -13.6 -13.6
Transfer to reserve = = = 0.1 = = -0.1 0.0
EQUITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 60.5 1.2 0.6 0.1 -1.0 -22.1 111.9 151.2

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Information on Altia

Altia Plc (the "Company") together with its' subsidiaries (the "Group", "Altia Group" or "Altia")
isaninternational alcoholic beverage service Group, which operates in the Nordic countries,
Estonia, Latvia and France producing, marketing, selling and distributing both own and partner
brands. Altia distils barley spirit from domestic barley for the basis of its beverages. The pro-
duction plants are located in Finland and Estonia, and aging and production of cognacin France.
Altia has high-quality brands of its own and international brands. In addition, the company
represents international brands from all over the world. Altia’s business also includes industrial
products such as starch and feed, technical ethanol and contract services.

Altia’s customers include alcohol retail monopolies, alcoholic beverage wholesale outlets, res-
taurants, grocery stores, travel trade, importers in the export markets and industrial customers.

Altia Plc, the parent company of Altia Group, is domiciled in Helsinki, Finland. Altia Plcis a Finn-
ish publicly listed company. Altia’s shares are listed in Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The registered ad-
dress of the Company is Kaapeliaukio 1, FI-00180 Helsinki, Finland. Copies of the consolidated
financial statements are available online at www.altiagroup.com or at the Group's headquarters
at Kaapeliaukio 1, FI-00180 Helsinki, Finland.

Altia PIc’s Board of Directors has approved these financial statements for publicationinits
meetingon 12 February 2020. According to the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act,
shareholders have the right to approve or reject the financial statements in the Annual General
Meeting held after the publication of the financial statements. The Annual General Meeting also
has the right to make a decision to amend the financial statements.

BOARD CORPORATE FINANCIAL
REPORT SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 124
[ ]

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 are prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) complying with the SIC and
IFRIC interpretationsinforce and approved by EU on 31 December 2019. Notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements also comply with the requirements of the Finnish Accounting Act and
Limited Liability Companies Act.

New and amended standards applied in 2019 and future periods are described in Note 6.5.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 are prepared on
ahistorical cost basis, except equity investments and derivatives. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in thousands of euros (Annual Reports in millions of euros). The
figures are rounded to the nearest thousand, and therefore the sum of individual figures may
deviate from the total presented. If the figure is EUR O, it is shown as a hyphen.



ALTTA

@ BUSINESS BOARD CORPORATE FINANCIAL
OVERVIEW REPORT SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 125
@

Refer to the table below to see which notes and accounting principles are related.

Nr. Note

1. Operating result

1.2.  Segment information

2.9. Provisions

2.7.  Employee benefit obligations

2.2.  Property, plant and equipment

2.3.  Right-of-use assets

2.4.  Inventories

1.6.  Other operating expenses

2.2.  Property, plant and equipment

2.1.  Goodwill and other intangible assets

2.1.  Goodwill and other intangible assets

3.2.1. Financial assets

3.2.3. Financial assets and liabilities- classification and fair value
3.2.2. Financial liabilities

3.2.3. Financial assets and liabilities- classification and fair value
3.3.  Derivative instruments and hedge accounting

5.2.  Subsidiaries
5.2.  Subsidiaries

5.3.  Associated companies and joint arrangements
6.1.  Income tax expense

Accounting principle

Revenue recognition, operating result
Operating segments

Provisions

Employee benefits

Property, plant and equipment
Leases

Inventories

Leases

Goodwill
Intangible assets
Financial assets

Financial liabilities

Derivative contracts and hedge
accounting

Consolidation principles of subsidi-
aries

Non-controlling interest and transac-
tions with non-controlling interest

Associates and joint ventures
Income and deferred taxes

Accounting policies requiring management judgement and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates, which by defi-
nition, seldom equal the actual results. In addition, management makes judgements in applying
Altia’s accounting policies.

Estimates made in the preparation of the financial statements, and related assumptions, are based
on the management’s best knowledge at the reporting date. Consequently, the realised results
can differ from the estimates. Any changes in estimates and assumptions are recognised when
estimates and assumptions are corrected.

The Group’s most significant area in which the management has exercised judgement is related to
the revenue recognition (Note 1.1.) and impairment provision of trade receivables, and useful lives
of intangible assets and parameters used in impairment testing (Note 2.1.), and parameters used in
lease accounting. Other critical future assumptions and anticipated uncertainties at the reporting
date, which pose a significant risk of resulting in material changes in the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are related to deferred taxes (Note 6.1.) and uncertain
tax positions.
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1. Operating result
1.1. REVENUES FROM OPERATIONS

Revenue recognition
The revenue is recognized at an amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be

entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer. The transac-
tion price may include variable considerations such as volume discounts, bonuses, marketing
support, product returns etc. The variable considerations are estimated using the most
likely value method if not yet realized in the end of reporting period. The revenue is further
adjusted with indirect sales taxes, excise taxes, deposit and recycling fees and exchange rate
differences relating to sales.

Typical contracts with customers include a sale of goods to a customer with only one perfor-
mance obligation. In contract services the contracts essentially include a single performance
obligation, being a series of distinct services such as contract manufacturing, customer ser-
vices and logistics. The revenue recognition occurs at a point in time, when the control of the
goods is transferred to the customer according to the delivery terms. Revenue from the sale
of services is recognised at the time of delivery of services.

The most significant revenue flows are generated by the sale of own products and partner brands.
In addition, revenues are generated by contract manufacturing, as well as the sale of industrial
products, such as starch, feed and technical ethanol. Adjustments to sales and obligations to
repurchase certain products are taken into account in the revenue recognition phase.

In partner supplier agreements, which entitle Group to distribute partners’ products, Altia acts as
a principal towards the end customer having control over the product, discretion in establishing
prices and owning the inventory. Accordingly, revenue recognised is the gross amount to which
Altiais entitled to in these product sales.
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The amount of excise tax deducted from sales revenue is significant. The amounts of sales includ-
ing tax and excise taxes are presented below:

EUR million 2019 2018
Sales revenues deducted with revenue adjustments 791.5 801.6
Excise tax -431.9 -444.3
NET SALES 359.6 357.3
Tax share of sales revenues, % 54.6 % 55.4%

1.2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Description of segments and principal activities

Altia reports its business operations under the following segments: Finland & Exports, Scandinavia
and Altia Industrial. Finland & Exports and Scandinavia segments comprise importing, sale and
marketing of wine, spirits and other beverage product categories. Within the Finland & Exports
segment the Company operates in Finland, the Baltics and travel retail channels and conducts
exports. Scandinavia segment represents the Company’s operations in Sweden, Norway and
Denmark. Altia Industrial segment comprises the Company’s production of ethanol, starch and
feed as well as contract services. These segments comprise both Altia’s operating and reportable
segments.

The Board of Directors of Altia has been determined as the Company’s current chief operative
decision maker, and the reportable segments are based on the Altia’s operating structure and
internal reporting to the CODM used to assess the performance of the segments. For internal
reporting purposes, reporting on the segment profit is based on an internal measure of a compara-
ble EBITDA derived as follows:

e« Netsales and direct segment expenses reported within the Comparable EBITDA segment
profit measure are measured on an accrual basis and reported under the same accounting
principles as in the consolidated accounts.

e  Expenses allocated to the segments related to shared function costs or business support ser-
vices expenses comprise costs such as centralized marketing costs, IT infrastructure related
costs, shared support services, headquarter costs including finance and treasury, communica-

tion, legal and human resource related costs as well as certain warehousing and service fees.
For internal reporting purposes these cost allocations are based on budgeted amounts and
variances from budgeted amounts are presented under column “Unallocated and adjust-
ments” and can result in either incurred overruns or savings compared to budgeted amounts.
All of these variances are not allocated to the segments for internal reporting purposes.

e Theunallocated and adjustments column represents in addition to the budget variances,
certain unallocated headquarter costs.

Segment net sales and results
The following tables set out the segment net sales and Comparable EBITDA as well as the recon-
ciliation of the Comparable EBITDA to the group’s operating result:

1Jan-31Dec 2019

Altia Unallocated and
Industrial adjustments

Finland
& Exports Scandinavia

EUR million

Net sales, total 129.0 121.4 149.7 400.1
Net sales, Internal -0.4 -0.7 -394 -40.5
Net sales, external 128.6 120.7 110.2 359.6
Comparable EBITDA without 204 115 9.6 -0.5 41.0
IFRS 16 impact

IFRS16 impact 0.2 0.6 1.8 1.2 3.8
Comparable EBITDA 20.6 121 114 0.7 44.8
Items affecting comparability* -1.7
EBITDA 43.1
Depreciation, amortisation and -17.9
impairment

OPERATING RESULT 25.1
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1Jan-31 Dec 2018

Finland Altia Unallocated and

EUR million & Exports Scandinavia Industrial adjustments Group
Net sales, total 134.4 118.6 1498 402.8
Net sales, Internal -0.6 -0.9 -44.0 -45.5
Net sales, external 133.8 117.7 105.8 357.3
Comparable EBITDA 19.2 10.1 10.9 -0.3 40.0
Items affecting comparability® -6.0
EBITDA 34.0
Depreciation, amortisation -14.4
and impairment

OPERATING RESULT 19.7

t1tems affecting comparability comprise of material items incurred outside normal business, such as net gains or losses
from business and assets disposals, impairment losses, cost for closure of business operations and restructurings, major
corporate projects including direct transaction costs related to business acquisitions, voluntary pension plan change and
costs related to other corporate development. Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
presented in Note 1.3 and employee costs related to restructuring in Note 1.5.

Other entity-wide disclosures

Net sales by geography

Net sales broken down by the location of Altia entity for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 were as follows:

EUR million 2019 2018
Finland 211.7 205.4
Sweden 97.2 90.7
Norway 22.6 23.5
Estonia 9.3 8.7
Latvia 10.1 9.8
Denmark 2.8 117
Other countries 5.9 7.5
NET SALES, TOTAL 359.6 357.3

In Finland & Exports segment, net sales of EUR 74.9 million (2018: EUR 77.4 million) were
derived from a single external customer. In Scandinavia segment, net sales of EUR 81.8 million
(2018: EUR 75.4 million) were derived from a single external customer. In Altia Industrial seg-
ment, net sales of EUR 43.7 million (2018: EUR 42.5 million) were derived from a single external
customer. No other single external customer represented more than 10 per cent or more of Altia’s
total net sales for the years ended 31 December 2019 or 2018.

Net sales by product category
Net sales broken down by product category for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
were as follows:

EUR million 2019 2018
Spirits 121.3 124.0
Wine 124.9 1222
Other beverages 3.1 5.3
Industrial products and services 110.2 105.8
NET SALES BY PRODUCT CATEGORY, TOTAL 359.6 357.3

Non-current assets by geography
The total of non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets broken
down by the location of the assets as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

EUR million 2019 2018
Finland 110.6 1125
Sweden 48.2 44.0
Norway 0.5 0.0
Estonia 2.2 2.3
Latvia 0.2 0.2
Denmark 5.9 6.5
Other countries 9.0 9.4
NON-CURRENT ASSETS BY GEOGRAPHY, TOTAL 176.6 174.9
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1.3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 1.5. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
Other operating income mainly includes gains on the disposal of non-current assets, income EUR million 2019 2018
from sale of energy, water, steam and carbon dioxide, gains on sale of emission allowances, rental Wages and salaries 349 379
income and related non-core business service income and contract termination fees. Pension expenses
Defined contribution plans 7.1 7.1
EUR million 2019 2018 Share -based payments 01 ,
Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.0 0.5 Other social expenses 4.4 4.9
and intangible assets TOTAL 45.9 49.9
Gains on sale of emission allowances 0.8 0.4
Rental income 1.3 14
Income from sale of energy, water, steam and carbon dioxide 34 34 In Altia, the total wages and salaries of personnel consists of fixed and variable pay, allowances,
Other income 20 16 short and long-term incentives and fringe benefits.
TOTAL 7.6 7.4
The group has recognised the total amount of incentives EUR 0.4 million (2018: EUR 1.6 million)
in the form of cash bonuses. Employee benefit expenses include personnel related restructuring
1.4. MATERIALS AND SERVICES costs of EUR 0.2 million (2018: EUR 1.0 million). The group has recognized the total amount of
EUR 1.6 million (2018: EUR 0.7 million) of closed voluntary pension scheme.
EUR million 2019 2018 Average number of personnel during the period 2019 2018
Raw materials, consumables and goods Workers 272 274
Purchases during the period 200.8 210.1 Clerical employees 410 444
Change ininventories 7.6 -5.1 TOTAL 682 718
Scrapping and obsolescence and revaluation 3.2 0.0
External services 1.6 18 More information on the Group's pension plans is presented in Note 2.7.
TOTAL Lol 206.8 Information of management remuneration is presented in Note 6.3. related party transactions.

Materials and services consist of cost of material, such as barley, wine, different spirit, liquids,
ground water as well as other ingredients needed for a variety of different drinks, packaging
materials, production costs, changes in inventories, scrapping and obsolescence costs and external
services such as logistics and warehousing.
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1.6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

EUR million 2019 2018

Losses on sales and disposals of property, plant and equipment 0.2
and intangible assets
Rental expenses *) 1.6 5.7
Short-term lease expenses 0.2 -
Expenses for leases of low-value assets 0.2 -
Variable lease payments 1.2 -
Marketing expenses 12.3 13.7
Travel and representation expenses 2.7 3.0
Outsourcing services 8.9 10.5
Repair and maintenance expenses 6.8 6.9
Energy expenses 7.4 74
IT expenses 6.0 6.9
Variable sales expenses 12.5 12.6
Other expenses 6.9 7.1
TOTAL 65.0 73.9

Rental expenses 2019 are affected with the application of IFRS 16, which transferred most of the expenses to
depreciations of right-of-use assets. Impact of IFRS 16 is described in Note 6.5.

Rental expenses 2018 included leases treated as operating lease. Payments made under operating
lease were recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Auditor's fees included in other operating expenses 2019 2018
Audit fees 0.3 0.3
Tax consultation 0.0 0.0
Other fees 0.2 0.5
TOTAL 0.5 0.8

The table above presents fees to PricewaterhouseCoopers globally during the year. Non-audit
fees to PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy in 2019 amounted to EUR 0.2 million.

1.7. DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Depreciation and amortisation by asset categories is as follows:

EUR million 2019 2018
Amortisation on intangible assets

Trademarks 4.1 4.3

Software and other intangible assets 2.0 1.5
Total amortisation on intangible assets 6.1 5.8
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

Buildings 34 3.3

Machinery and equipment 4.7 5.0

Machinery and equipment, acquired through finance leases - 0.2

Other tangible assets 0.0 0.0
Total depreciation on property, plant and equipment 8.1 8.6
Depreciation on right-of-use assets

Buildings 2.5 -

Machinery 1.2 -
Total depreciation on right-of-use assets 3.7 -
TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 17.9 144

Group's depreciation and amortisation methods and periods are described in Note 2.1. Goodwill
and other intangible assets, Note 2.2. Property, plant and equipment and Note 2.3. Leases.

1.8. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES

Operating result includes research and development expenditures amounting to EUR 2.3 million
(2018: EUR 3.3 million). The R&D expenditures represents 0.6% of net sales in 2019 (2018:
0.9%).
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2. Operative assets and liabilities

2.1. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets other than goodwill are recorded at historical costs and depreciated over
their useful lives. Intangible assets include goodwill, trademarks, software and other intangi-
ble assets and prepayments.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the business acquisition is recognised as the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount of non-controlling interests and any previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested
annually for impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the groups of cash-generating
units (CGU) that are expected to benefit from the business combinations in which the good-
will was generated. Impairment testing is described in more detail later in this note.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include intangible rights, other intangible assets and prepayments for

intangible assets. Intangible assets such as patents and IT-software, with finite useful lives, are
recognised in the balance sheet at the original acquisition cost less accumulated amortisation

and possible impairment.

Altia's trademarks have been acquired in connection with business acquisitions and recog-
nised originally at fair value and are subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:
Trademarks 10-15vyears
|T-development and software  3-5vyears
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The costs related to the intangible assets are capitalised if it can be demonstrated that the
asset will generate the future economic benefits, the entity controls the asset and the cost
of the asset can be measured reliably. All other expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. The Group has no projects related to the development activities of new products
or processes qualifying for the identifiability and other criteria regarding capitalisation under
IFRS.

Accounting for emission allowances is described in Note 6.2. Emission allowances are pre-
sented as off-balance sheet items.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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Critical estimates and management judgements

- Useful lives of trademarks

Altia’s trademarks have been acquired in connection with business acquisitions and recog-
nised originally at fair value and are subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives. Management has estimated the useful lives of trademarks to be in a
range from 10 to 15 years. However, the actual useful life may be shorter or longer than the
estimated range depending on the market trends and customer behavior.

Software and other Other intangible

EUR million Goodwill Trademarks intangible assets Prepayments assets total
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2019 128.0 123.8 21.8 1.7 147.3
Additions - 0.1 0.0 18 2.0
Disposals - -0.1 - - -0.1
Effect of movement in exchange rates 0.3 -1.1 -0.0 - -1.1
Transfers between items - - 1.6 -1.6 0.0
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2019 128.3 122.8 234 20 148.1
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses at 1 January 2019 -47.3 -101.2 -16.5 - -117.8
Amortisation - -4.1 -2.0 - -6.1
Accumulated amortisation on disposals and transfers - 0.1 - - 0.1
Effect of movement in exchange rates -0.9 0.9 0.0 - 0.9
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses at 31 December 2019 -48.2 -104.5 -18.5 = -123.0
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 80.7 22.6 5.3 17 29.6
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 80.1 18.3 4.9 2.0 25.2
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Software and other Other intangible
EUR million Goodwill Trademarks intangible assets Prepayments assets total
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2018 133.3 126.7 19.3 2.8 148.7
Additions - - 0.0 15 15
Disposals - - -0.0 - -0.0
Effect of movement in exchange rates -5.3 -2.9 -0.0 - -2.9
Transfers between items - 0.1 2.5 -2.6 0.0
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2018 128.0 123.8 21.8 1.7 147.3
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses at 1 January 2018 -51.3 -99.3 -15.1 - -114.4
Amortisation - -4.3 -1.5 - -5.8
Accumulated amortisation on disposals and transfers - - 0.0 - 0.0
Effect of movement in exchange rates 4.0 2.4 0.0 - 2.4
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses at 31 December 2018 -47.3 -101.2 -16.5 - -117.8
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 82.1 274 4.2 2.8 344
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 80.7 22.6 53 1.7 29.6

The most significant trademarks include Renault, Larsen, Xanté, Blossa, Chill Out, Explorer, Gronstedts, Brondums, 1-Enkelt and Arsenitch.
Software and other intangible assets are mainly computer software.
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Impairment testing
Book value of assets are assessed to determine whether there are any impairment at least at
e’ the end of each financial year. If any evidence of impairment emerges (a triggering event), the
assets’ recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount is determined on the basis
of value in use. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The impairment loss is immediately recognised in profit or loss and the
estimated useful life of the asset in question is reassessed when an impairment loss is recog-
nised. The recoverable amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use are
estimated annually. The need for recognising an impairment loss is assessed at cash-generat-
ing unit level. This level is essentially independent from other units with separate cash flows.

The impairment loss is reversed if there has been such a positive change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that recoverable
amount of the asset will increase the book value of asset. Impairment losses are only reversed
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised. An impairment loss
on goodwill is never reversed.

Critical estimates and management judgements - Impairment testing:
The preparation of calculations for the impairment testing of goodwill requires estimates re-
garding the future. The management’s estimates and related critical uncertainties are related
to the components of the recoverable amount calculation, including the discount rate, the ter-
minal growth rate and development of the net sales and operating result, including estimated
cost levels of main raw materials and energy. The discount rates reflect current assessments
of the time value of money and relevant market risk premiums reflecting risks and uncertain-
ties for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. The discount rates used,
expected net sales growth rates and profitability levels, including sensitivity analyses, are
stated below.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Allocation of goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating units (CGU) that represent the level on which
the management monitors the goodwill.

Altia reports its business operations under the following segments: Finland & Exports, Scandinavia
and Altia Industrial. Finland & Exports and Scandinavia segments comprise importing, sale and
marketing of wine, spirits and other beverage product categories. Within the Finland & Exports
segment the Company operates in Finland, the Baltics and travel retail channels and conducts
exports. Scandinavia segment represents the Company’s operations in Sweden, Norway and
Denmark. Altia Industrial segment comprises the Company’s production of ethanol, starch and
feed as well as contract services. These segments comprise both Altia’s operating and reportable
segments. Goodwill is monitored by management at the level of the operating segments.

A segment-level allocation of the goodwill at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is presented below:

EUR million 2019 % 2018 %
Finland & Exports 46.7 58.3% 46.8 580%
Scandinavia 334 41.7 % 33.9 420%
TOTAL 80.1 100.0 % 80.7 100.0 %
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Impairment testing The estimated average operating margins used in the calculations are presented in the enclosed

The key assumptions in impairment testing are operating result and discount rate. table:

Projected average operating result % 2019 2018
The goodwill allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units is tested for impairment annually or Finland & Exports 13.1% 13.1%
when there is reason to assume that the carrying amount has exceeded the recoverable amount, Scandinavia 8.1% 8.7%
with the carrying amount compared to the recoverable amount in the testing. The annual impair-
ment tests have been carried out on 31 October 2019 and 31 October 2018. At the time of test- Based on the analyses prepared by the company, no reasonably possible change in any of the key
ing, the companies did not have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives other than goodwill. assumptions would cause any of the tested unit's recoverable amount to decrease to be equal to

its carrying amount.
The cash flow estimates used are based on CGU-specific financial plans for the following year
approved by the Group’s management. The forecast period applied for the calculations covers five 2.9. PROPERTY. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
years, beyond which the cash flow projections are extrapolated using a constant market-specific -
growth rate estimate. The forecasted cash flows for a longer term than this have been estimated
by using an annual growth rate estimate of -0.5%. In the view of the management, these growth
estimates represent the development of business operations in the longer term pursuant to the

forecasts.

Property, plant and equipment
9— R Property, plant and equipment mainly consist of manufacturing and warehouse buildings,
land, and machinery and equipment used in alcoholic beverage industry. Property, plant
and equipment are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and possible
impairment losses. If parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, they are accounted for as separate items. The subsequent costs related to the items
of property, plant and equipment are capitalised only if the future economic benefits exceed
the originally assessed standard of performance. All other expenditure, for example ordinary
maintenance and repair costs, is recognised as an expense as incurred. Depreciation is rec-
ognised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment. Land is not depreciated.

The market-specific WACC estimates are based on external market-specific references. Manage-
ment makes judgements regarding the development of assumptions other than WACC based on
internal and external views of the industry’s history and future.

The weighted average costs of capital used as discount rates for the cash flow estimates are pre-
sented in the enclosed table:

Used pre-tax discount rate % 2019 2018 Government grants, for example grants received from the State, are recognised in profit or
Finland & Exports 6.4% 7.1% loss in the same period in which the related expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate
Scandinavia 6.0% 6.8%

the Group for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment are deducted from the carry-
ing amount adjusted with the grant received.
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Investment properties are properties held by the Group in order to earn rental income or for
capital appreciation. Investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated deprecia-
tion and impairment losses. Fair values of investment properties are determined based on a
valuation carried out by an external property valuator.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings and structures 10-40 years
Machinery and equipment 10years
Other tangible assets 3-10vyears

The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end, and if
they differ substantially from the previous estimates, the depreciation periods are adjusted
accordingly. Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss to the extent the assets carrying
value exceeds its recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on the disposals of property, plant and equipment are included in other
operating income or expenses.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Prepayments

Land and water Buildings and Machinery and Other tangible  and assets under

EUR million areas structures equipment assets construction
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2019 30 109.5 129.8 0.8 1.5 244.6
Additions - 0.1 0.4 - 43 4.8
Disposals - - -1.3 -0.0 - -1.3
Effect of movement in exchange rates - -0.0 -0.1 -0.0 - -0.1
Transfers between items - 1.8 2.4 - -4.3 0.0
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2019 30 111.3 131.3 0.8 1.6 247.9
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses at 1 January 2019 0.0 -82.4 -97.4 -0.2 - -179.9
Depreciation - -34 -4.7 -0.0 - -8.1
Accumulated depreciation on disposals and transfers - - 0.9 0.0 - 1.0
Effect of movement in exchange rates - 0.0 0.1 - - 0.1
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2019 0.0 -85.8 -101.1 -0.2 - -187.0
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 30 27.1 324 0.6 1.5 64.6
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 3.0 25.6 30.2 0.6 1.6 60.9
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2018 30 108.2 124.0 0.8 47 240.7
Additions - 0.1 0.7 0.0 54 6.2
Disposals -0.0 -0.5 -1.6 - - -2.1
Effect of movement in exchange rates - -0.0 -0.2 -0.0 - -0.3
Transfers between items - 1.7 6.9 - -8.6 0.0
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2018 3.0 109.5 129.8 0.8 1.5 244.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses at 1 January 2018 0.0 -79.5 -93.7 -0.1 - -173.3
Depreciation - -3.3 -5.3 -0.0 - -8.6
Accumulated depreciation on disposals and transfers - 0.5 1.4 - - 1.9
Effect of movement in exchange rates - 0.0 0.1 - - 0.2
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses at 31 December 2018 0.0 -82.4 -97.4 -0.2 = -179.9
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 3.0 28.7 30.3 0.6 47 67.4
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 3.0 27.1 324 0.6 15 64.6

At 31 December 2018 the carrying amount of machinery and equipment included EUR 0.4 million financial leases (original acquisition value EUR 1.2 million). With transition to IFRS 16 at January 1
2019 the financial leases were derecognized from balance sheet according to exemptions allowed by the standard.
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2.3

. LEASES

Leases

Lease is a contract, or a part of a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. A contract contains a lease if there is a an identified asset
and the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Altia mainly acts as the lessee. The Group's leases are related to normal business operations,
such as leases on facilities, warehouses, vehicles, forklifts and office technology. The new
standard removes the previous distinction between operating and finance leases. In accord-
ance with the new standard, an asset item (right of use of the leased asset) and a financial
liability concerning lease payments have been recognised for most of Altia’s leases.

The lease liability is measured by discounting the expected lease payments to the current val-
ue. Lease payments include fixed lease payments, expected payments related to residual value
guarantees and the possible exercise price of the purchase option if the use of the option is
reasonably certain. The lease period is the non-cancellable period of the lease. Any extension
options are added to the lease period if it is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise
such options.

Lease payments are discounted at the internal rate of return of the lease if that rate can be
readily determined. If aninternal rate of return cannot be readily determined, the interest
rate for additional credit is used as the discount rate. The criteria used to determine the
discount rate includes the class of the underlying asset, geographical location, currency, the
maturity of the risk-free interest rate and the lessee’s credit risk premium.

The lease liability is remeasured and adjusted against the right of used asset if the cash flow in
accordance with the original terms and conditions of lease changes; for example, if the lease
period changes or if the lease payments change based on a variable index or interest rate. The
lease liability is divided into current and non-current liability and is presented on a separate
line on the balance sheet.

Right-of-use assets are measured at acquisition cost based on the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease period
or their useful lives, depending on which is shorter. Right -of use assets related to buildings
are depreciated in 2-6 years and right-of -use assets related to machinery and equipment are
depreciated in 2-6 years.

Right-of-use assets related to tangible assets are presented on a separate line on the balance
sheet.

The IFRS 16 standard includes exemptions concerning leases of less than 12 months and
low-value assets. Altia treats leases with less than 12 months remaining of the lease period at
the time of transition as current underlying asset items that are not recognised on the balance
sheet. The selection is made based on the class of the underlying asset. Exemptions apply to
all underlying asset items other than vehicles and offices, which are recognised on the balance
sheet even if their remaining lease period is less than 12 months at the time of transition.
Lease liabilities are not recognised for low-value assets. Altia considers assets with an acqui-

sition cost of less than EUR 5,000 to be low-value. Finance leases included in exemptions as
short-term or low value were derecognized from balance sheet. Lease expenses related to

leases included in the exemptions are recognised in equal instalments over the lease period.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

EUR million Buildings Machinery

and

equipment
IFRS 16 acquisition cost at 1 January 2019 8.6 2.1 10.7
Additions 24 1.1 35
Disposals - -0.1 -0.1
Effect of movement in exchange rates -0.1 -0.0 -0.1
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2019 10.9 3.4 14.1
Depreciation -2.5 -1.2 -3.7
Accumulated depreciation on disposals - 0.0 0.0
Effect of movement in exchange rates -0.0 -0.0 -0.0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2019 -2.6 -1.1 -3.7
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 84 2.0 10.4
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2.4. INVENTORIES 2.5. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CURRENT)

Inventories Contract assets represent the amount which Altia has right to receive goods expected to be

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Self-manufactured returned to inventory with respect to return clauses in the contracts. Contract assets are

& products are measured at standard prices, except cognac products, which are measured at measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory less any expected costs to recover
weighted average cost. Fixed production costs are allocated to the cost of own production. the goods and less any impairment losses.
Raw materials, supplies and trading goods are measured at weighted average cost. Semi-fin- Contract liabilities represent the amount received or receivable that is expected to be re-
ished products are measured at weighted average cost, except semi-finished products turned as a refund liability.
produced in Estonia, which are measured at standard prices. Repacked trading goods are
measured at standard cost in repacking plant. EUR million 2019 2018

Contract assets 0.2 0.2

The cost of finished products and work in progress includes raw materials, direct labour costs, TOTAL 0.2 0.2
other direct costs as well as an allocable proportion of variable procurement and production Contract liabilities 0.5 0.6
costs and fixed overheads in case of finished products, determined based on normal operating ~ TOTAL 0.5 0.6
capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

INVENTORIES

EUR million 2019 2018
Materials and supplies 49.6 53.8
Work in progress 10.5 10.5
Finished goods 1385 15.9
Goods 183 19.3
Advance payments 0.3 0.2
TOTAL 92.0 99.6

Altia recognised write-downs of inventories amounting to EUR 1.9 million in 2019
(2018: EUR 1.3 million).
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2.6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CURRENT) AGEING ANALYSIS OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables EURInlllien AU 2018

. ) o ) ) ] . Trade receivables not past due 427 50.7
o— 1 Trade receivables are carried at original invoiced amount less any impairment losses. An im Trade receivables past due 1-90 days 48 ad
pairment loss is recognized immediately in profit and loss. Impairment provisions are recog- Trade receivables past due over 90 days 08 05

nized based on lifetime expected credit losses from trade receivables in accordance with IFRS Impairment losses 02 03

9. The expected credit loss model is forward looking and expected default rates are based on TOTAL 48.1 55.4

historical realized credit losses. The lifetime expected credit loss provision is calculated using
aging of the accounts receivable and regional portfolios.

Sold trade receivables are derecognised from the balance sheet as soon as the receivable is
sold and the price has been received. At the time of sale, the Group derecognises the trade
receivable as the contractual rights to these cash flows expire and all the related substantial
risks and rewards have been transferred outside the Group. The costs related to the sold
receivables are recognised in Other finance expenses.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUR million 2019 2018
Trade receivables 48.1 554
Accrued income 3.2 1.7
Receivables on derivative instruments 04 1.6
Other receivables 2.8 2.3
TOTAL 544 60.9

At the end of the reporting period 2019 the sold trade receivables amounted to EUR 76.7 million
(2018: EUR 80.2 million). Trade receivables from associated companies and joint arrangements
are presented in Note 6.3.

The realized impairment losses recognized on trade receivables during the year 2019 amounted to
EUR 0.0 million (2018: EUR 0.1 million).

The loss allowance for trade receivables is based on the ageing of the accounts receivable and region-
al portfolios. The expected loss rate for all trade receivables is 0,1% and in addition receivables more
than 120 days due are impaired with 60% expected loss rate. The receivables of the monopolies in
Finland and Sweden are excluded due to the nature of the customer and related credit risk (govern-
ment entities). Forward looking macro-economic information has been included in the analysis.

2.7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Group’s pension arrangements

The Group operates various pension plans in accordance with local conditions and practices in
different countries. In the Finnish companies, statutory pension obligations (TyEL) are arranged
through insurance companies, when the TyEL plan is a defined contribution plan. The defined
contribution plans are applied also in other countries and the foreign subsidiaries manage their
pension plans in accordance with local legislation and established practice.

The Group has defined benefit pension plans for supplementary pension in Norway and France.

In defined benefit pension plans, the amount of the pension benefit at retirement is calculated
based on salary, years of service and life expectancy. The Norwegian and French pension plans
cover only few employees, thus the related pension liabilities are not material for the Group. At the
end of the reporting period 2019 the defined benefit plan obligation amounted to EUR 1.4 million
(2018: EUR 1.3 million).
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2.8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES PROVISIONS
EUR million Other provisions Total
EUR million 2019 2018 Provision at 31 December 2018 05 0.5
Current Provisions made during the year - -
Trade payables 25.7 25.8 Provisions used during the year -0.5 -0.5
Accruals for wages and salaries and social security contri- 0.9 1.1 PROVISION AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 - -
butions
Interest liabilities 0.3 0.3 Current B )
Other accrued expenses 24.1 186 Non-Current B )
Derivative liabilities 17 15
Excise tax 47.0 48.8
\(;/i;ehralib:t;til\;ties 2;? 2;2 EUR million Other provisions Total
Provision at 31 December 2017 - -
TOTAL 134.7 1314 Provisions made during the year 0.5 0.5
Provisions used during the year - -
PROVISION AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 0.5 0.5
2.9. PROVISIONS
Current 0.5 0.5

Provisions

S= 1 Aprovisionis recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. The
amount recognised as provision is the management’s best estimate of the costs required to
settle the existing obligation at the end of the reporting period. If part of the obligation may
potentially be compensated by a third party, the compensation is recognised as a separate
asset when it is virtually certain that the compensation will be received.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when a detailed restructuring plan has been pre-
pared, and the implementation of the plan has either been commenced or the plan has been
announced to those who are affected.

Non-Current - -

Other provisions end of comparison period 2018 related to the cost on excise tax class revision of
two products based on a preliminary outcome of a tax audit In Finland. The final outcome of the
tax audit was positive and provision was released in full 2019.
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Borrowings and 3. Financial items and capital structure
lease liabilities
3.1. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
93.1
FINANCE INCOME
MEUR
EUR million 2019 2018
Interest income
Forward points on FX-forwards 0.0
Loans, receivables and cash and cash equivalents 0.2 0.1
Total interest income 0.2 0.1
Foreign exchange gains
Foreign exchange gains on FX-derivatives 0.8 1.2
Foreign exchange gains on I/C loans and cash pool accounts 2.5 2.1
Total foreign exchange gains 3.3 3.3
Dividend income
Fair value through other comprehensive income - 0.1
Total dividend income - 0.1
TOTAL FINANCE INCOME 35 35

Foreign exchange differences arising from trade receivables and trade payables amounting to EUR
0.1 million (2018: EUR -0.2 million) and from currency derivatives amounting to EUR 0.9 million
(2018: EUR 1.7 million) are included in operating result.
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FINANCE EXPENSES

EUR million 2019 2018
Interest expenses
Forward points on FX-forwards -0.0 0.0
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 11 1.3
Derivatives under hedge accounting (Interest rate risk) 0.4 04
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 0.1 -
Other interest expenses, pension liability 0.0 0.0
Total interest expenses 1.6 1.7
Foreign exchange losses
Foreign exchange losses on FX-derivatives 2.1 2.0
Foreign exchange losses on I/C loans and cash 1.2 14
pool accounts
Total foreign exchange losses 3.3 3.4
Other finance expenses
Other financial expenses 0.7 0.8
Total other finance expenses 0.7 0.8
TOTAL FINANCE EXPENSES 5.7 5.8

Interest expenses included finance lease related interest expenses amounting to EUR 0.1 million
in2019.

o &

)]
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9
De

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
J  FINANCIAL ASSETS

According to IFRS 9 the classification is business model driven and there are three classes:
fair value through profit and loss, amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive
income. Classification is made upon initial recognition based on the purpose of use of the
asset. The basis of classification is reassessed at each reporting date.

All purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognised on the trade date, which is the
date when the Group commits to purchase or sell a financial instrument. Financial assets are
recognised in the balance sheet at original cost which equals their fair value at the acquisition
date. If the asset in question is not measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs are included in the original cost of the financial asset.
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The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or the Group transfers all the substantial risks and rewards related to the
financial asset outside the Group. Financial assets are included in non-current items of the
balance sheet when their maturity is over 12 months.

Impairment of financial assets

The impairment model requires the recognition of impairment provision based on expected
credit losses. The impairment provision is recognised based on lifetime expected credit losses
from trade receivables and contract assets. More information on the impairment provision on
trade receivables can be found in Note 2.6. Trade and other receivables (current).

The impairment model does not apply to financial assets measured at fair value and invest-
ments in associates and joint ventures and interests in joint operations since those are meas-
ured at fair value which already takes into account expected credit losses.

Financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss

This category includes financial assets held for trading purposes or otherwise designated

as financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss by Altia Group. Derivative
instruments held for hedging purposes, but not qualifying for the criteria of hedge account-
ing, are classified in this category. Items in this category are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at the fair value of each reporting date, which is the market bid
price at the end of the reporting period determined based on public price quotations in active
markets. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair values are rec-
ognised in profit or loss in financial items in the period in which they are incurred if they relate
to hedging of financial items.

Amortised cost

Loans and receivables arise when money, goods or services are delivered to a debtor, and they
are included in current or non-current financial assets in accordance with their maturity. The
assets in this category are held according to a business model of which objective is to collect
contractual cash flows. In Altia, non-current receivables include loan receivables and other
receivables with the maturity of over one year. Current receivables include trade receivables
as well as cash and cash equivalents presented under current financial assets. Receivables

are measured at amortised cost when the related payments are fixed or determinable and the
instruments are not quoted in financial markets. The exchange rate differences of intra-group
foreign currency denominated loan receivables are presented within financial items as foreign
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exchange differences related to loans. The exchange rate differences of foreign currency
denominated trade receivables are presented in income statement as adjustments to sales.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

These assets are non-derivative financial assets which are either designated in this category
or not classified in any other category of financial assets. These are included in non-current
assets, unless they are intended to be held less than 12 months from the end of the reporting
period, in which case they are included in current assets.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income consist of
unquoted shares. Unquoted shares are measured at fair value based on market approach val-
uation techniques using information from market transactions involving comparable assets.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
Fair value through other comprehensive income assets consisted of unquoted shares, amounting
to EUR 1.4 million (2018: EUR 1.4 million).

3.2.2 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
financial liabilities at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
o’ and recognised net of transaction costs, with the exception of items measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Afinancial liability (or a part of it) is not derecognised until the obligation specified in the con-
tract is discharged or cancelled or expires. A financial liability is classified as current, unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include derivatives held for hedging
purposes but not qualifying for hedge accounting. Financial liabilities in this category are

measured at fair value, which is determined based on price quotations in active markets at the
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reporting date. Realised and unrealised gains or losses arising from the changes in fair values
are recognised through profit or loss in the financial items as incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

This category includes the Group’s external loans from financial institutions, loans from pen-
sion institutions, commercial paper loans as well as trade payables. These financial liabilities
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. When loans are paid
off or refinanced, the related unamortised costs are recognised in finance expenses. Group
overdrafts in use are included in current borrowings. In addition, Altia has a revolving credit
facility and the related fee is amortised on a straight-line basis in other finance expenses
during the term of the facility.

The exchange rate differences arising from foreign currency denominated loans from
financial institutions are disclosed under financial items. The exchange rate differences of
intra-group foreign currency denominated loans are presented within financial items in the
foreign exchange differences of the category financial liabilities at amortised cost.

The fair values of loans from financial institutions and commercial paper loans are determined
based on future cash flows discounted with market interest rate at the reporting date adjust-
ed with Altia’s credit risk premium. At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of the loans
are considered to equal their fair values because of the stable level of market interest rates.
The fair values of lease and finance lease liabilities are based on discounted future cash flows.
The discount rate is internal rate of return of the lease or interest rate for additional credit.
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BORROWINGS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

EUR million 2019 2018
Non-current
Loans from financial institutions 64.8 69.8
Loans from pension institutions 11.3 12.8
Lease liabilities 7.1 -
Finance lease liabilities = 0.2
TOTAL 83.2 82.7
Current
Loans from financial institutions 5.0 5.0
Loans from pension institutions 1.5 1.5
Lease liabilities 34 -
Finance lease liabilities = 0.2
TOTAL 9.9 6.7

Interest-bearing non-current loans from financial and pension institutions are measured at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest method.

All of the Group’s non-current and current loans from financial and pension institutions were
nominated in Euros as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

The weighted average effective interest rate (p.a.) of the Group's loans from financial and pension
institutions as at 31 December 2019 was 1.9% (2018: 1.9%).

The weighted average interest rate (p.a.) of the Group’s lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019
was 1.2% (finance lease liabilities as at 31 December 2018: 1.2%).
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NET DEBT

Movements in Net debt the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are presented in the following table:

Loans from Loans from

financial and financial and Finance lease Finance lease

Cash and cash pensioninstituti- pensioninstituti- Lease liabilities Lease liabilities liabilities liabilities

EUR million equivalents ons (non-current) ons (current) (non-current) (current) (non-current) (current)
Net debt as at 1 January 2019 42.0 82.5 6.5 - - 0.2 0.2 47.4
Adoption of IFRS 16 - - - 74 3.3 - - 10.7
Cash flows 22.7 - -6.5 - -3.7 - - -29.2
Translation differences -0.5 - - - - - - 0.5
Other non-cash movement - -6.4 6.5 -0.3 38 -0.2 -0.2 -0.3
NET DEBT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 64.2 76.1 6.5 71 3.4 - - 28.9
Net debt as at 1 January 2018 524 89.0 10.8 - - 0.2 0.2 47.7
Cash flows -8.2 - -10.7 - - - -0.2 -2.7
Translation differences -2.2 - - - - 0.0 - 2.2
Other non-cash movement - -6.4 6.4 - - 0.0 0.2 0.2
NET DEBT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 42.0 82.5 6.5 - - 0.2 0.2 47.4

Derivative instruments date. The fair values of interest rate derivatives are determined by discounting the related

Derivatives are included in financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss future cash flows. The valuation of commodity derivatives is determined based on the fair
when they do not meet the criteria of hedge accounting pursuant to IFRS 9. These derivatives values received from the financial markets.

are recognised at fair value on the trade date and they are subsequently measured at fair

value at the reporting date. Derivative instruments and hedge accounting are described in

Note 3.3.

The fair values of derivatives equal the amount that the Group would have to pay, or it would
receive from the termination of the derivative contract at the reporting date. The fair values
of forward exchange contracts are determined by using the market prices at the reporting
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3.2.3. CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FAIR VALUES AND THE CARRYING AMOUNTS IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET FOR EACH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT BY CLASSES:

Fair value Carrying
Derivatives, Fair value through other amounts of

2019 EUR hedge through profit Amortised comprehensive items in the
million Note accounting or loss cost income balance sheet

Financial assets
Non-current financial assets

Investments in associates and receivables - - 8.8 - 8.8 8.8
from interests in joint operations
Unquoted shares 3.2.1. - - - 1.4 14 1.4 3
Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables 2.6. - - 49.3 - 493 49.3
Trade and other receivables/Derivative instruments
Forward exchange contracts 2.6. 0.0 0.0 - - 0.0 0.0 2
Commodity derivatives 2.6. 0.3 - - - 0.3 0.3 2
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1. - - 64.2 - 64.2 64.2
TOTAL 0.3 0.0 122.3 14 124.1 124.1

Financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities

Borrowings 3.2.2. - - 76.1 - 76.1 76.1 2
Lease liabilities 3.2.2. - - 7.1 - 7.1 7.1 2
Current financial liabilities
Borrowings 3.2.2. - - 6.5 - 6.5 6.5 2
Lease liabilities 3.2.2. - - 34 - 34 34 2
Trade and other payables 2.8. - - 25.9 - 25.9 25.9
Trade and other payables/Derivative instruments
Interest rate derivatives 2.8. 12 - - - 1.2 1.2 2
Forward exchange contracts 2.8. 0.4 0.1 - 0.5 0.5 2

TOTAL 1.6 0.1 119.0 = 120.7 120.7
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Derivatives,

hedge
accounting

Fair value
through profit
or loss

Fair value
through other

Amortised comprehensive

cost

income

Carrying
amounts of
items in the

balance sheet

Receivables from interests in joint operations - - 7.9 - 7.9 7.9
Unquoted shares 3.2.1. - - - 1.4 14 1.4 3
Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables 2.6. - - 56.6 - 56.6 56.6
Trade and other receivables/Derivative instruments
Forward exchange contracts 2.6. 0.1 0.1 - 0.2 0.2 2
Commodity derivatives 2.6. 1.3 - - - 1.3 1.3 2
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1. - - 42.0 - 42.0 420
TOTAL 14 0.1 106.5 14 109.5 109.5
Financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Borrowings 3.2.2. - - 82.7 - 82.7 82.7 2
Current financial liabilities
Borrowings 3.2.2. - - 6.7 - 6.7 6.7 2
Trade and other payables 2.8. - - 260 - 260 26.0
Trade and other payables/Derivative instruments
Interest rate derivatives 2.8. 1.3 - - 1.3 1.3 2
Forward exchange contracts 2.8. 0.1 0.0 - 0.1 0.1 2
TOTAL 14 0.0 115.5 - 116.9 116.9

At the reporting date due to short maturity fair value of trade receivables and other short-term receivables and liabilities equal to their value in the balance sheet.
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The table above presents the classification of financial instruments. The levels 1-3 of fair value
hierarchy reflect the significance of inputs used in determining the fair values. In level one, fair val-
ues are based on public quotations of identical financial instruments. In level two, the inputs used
in determining the fair values are based on quoted market rates and prices observable for the
asset or liability in question directly (i.e. price) or indirectly on discounted future cash flows. Fair
values of other financial assets and liabilities in level two reflect their carrying value. In level three,
the fair values of assets and liabilities are based on inputs that are not based on observable market
data for all significant variables, and instead are, to a significant extent, based on management
estimates and their use in generally accepted valuation techniques. The reported fair value level is
based on the lowest level of input information that is significant in determining the fair value.

3.3. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING

When the Group applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting to foreign currency, interest rate and electricity
derivatives, the effective portion of the fair value change is recognised in other comprehensive
income and presented within equity in the hedge reserve.

When hedge accounting is applied
In Altia, cash flow hedging is applied to part of the interest rate, foreign currency and electric-
ity derivatives based on case-by-case assessment. In cash flow hedging, the Group is hedging
against changes in cash flows related to a specific asset or liability recognised in the balance
sheet or to a highly probable future business transaction. Hedge accounting is a method of
accounting with the purpose to allocate one or several hedging instruments so that their fair
value changes offset in full or partly the changes in fair value or cash flow arising from the
hedged risk in profit or loss during the period, for which the hedge is designated. In the be-
ginning of the hedging arrangement, Altia documents the relationship between each hedging
instrument and hedged item, as well as the objectives of risk management and the strategy in
engaging in hedging. IFRS 9 requires that the effectiveness of hedging instruments is tested
prospectively. Effectiveness means the ability of a hedging instrument to offset the changes

in the fair value of the hedged item or changes in the cash flows of the hedged transaction at-
tributable to the hedged risk. Under IFRS 9 the hedging relationship is regarded to be highly
effective when there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging
instrument. Hedging ratio is defined as a relationship between the quantity of the hedging
instrument and the quantity of the hedged item. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the
criteria for hedge accounting is no longer met.

The gains and losses arising from fair value changes of derivative contracts, to which hedge
accounting is applied, are presented in congruence with the hedged item. Forward points are
included to hedging relationship. The effective portion of the unrealised changes in the fair
value of derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income and presented in the hedge reserve in equity. The ineffective portion
is immediately recognized in finance income or expenses in profit or loss. The cumulative gain
or loss in equity on derivative instruments related to commercial items is recognised in profit
or loss as an adjustment to purchases or sales simultaneously with the hedged item in the
period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss. Realised gain or loss on electricity de-
rivatives is included in operating result in electricity procurement expenses. When a hedging
instrument designated as a cash flow hedge no longer meets the criteria of hedge accounting,
the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised through finance income or expenses.

When hedge accounting is not applied

The accounting for gains and losses arising from fair value measurement is dependent on

the purpose of use of the derivative. In Altia, the changes in the fair values of derivative
instruments are immediately recognised in profit or loss in finance income or expense if the
derivative in question is related to hedging of commercial cash flows (purchases and sales)
and hedge accounting is not applied. The fair value changes of other derivative instruments
are immediately recognised in profit or loss in finance income or expense items if hedge ac-
countingis not applied. Derivatives, to which hedge accounting is not applied, are acquired to
minimise the profit and/or cash flow effects related to business operations or financing.
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NOMINAL VALUES OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

EUR million 2019 2018
Derivative instruments designated for
cash flow hedging
Interest rate derivatives 20.0 20.0
Forward exchange contracts 244 30.9
Commodity derivatives, electricity 1.3 1.9
0.1TWh 0.1TWh

Derivative instruments, non-hedge accounting
Forward exchange contracts 3.9 33.7F

*) Total EUR 29.3 million in nominal value relates to hedging internal deposits in currency to parent company amounting
the same. These deposits were made in order to mitigate the effects of the banks' negative deposit rates.

EFFECTS OF HEDGE ACCOUNTING ON THE FINANCIAL POSITION AND PERFORMANCE

EUR million EURAUD

Foreign currency forwards 2018 2019
Carrying amount (asset) 0.0 - =
Carrying amount (liability) = 0.0 0.0
Notional amount 1.5 2.0 1.4
Maturity date Feb-Dec 2020 Feb-Dec 2019 Feb-Jun 2020
Hedge ratio 1:1 11 1:1
Change in discounted value of outstanding hedging 0.0 0.0 -0.1
instruments since 1 January

Change in value of hedged item used to determine hedge -0.0 -0.0 0.1

effectiveness

EURUSD
2018
0.0
2.7
Feb-Dec 2019
11
0.1

-0.1

2019

0.0

18

Feb-May 2020
1:1

-0.1

0.1

EURNOK
2018
0.0
1.9
Feb-Jun 2019
1:1
-0.1

0.1

2019

0.3

182

Feb-Aug 2020
1:1

-0.2

0.2

EURSEK
2018
0.1
221
Feb-Oct 2019
1:1
-0.7

0.7
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EUR million OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Interest rate swap 2019 2018
Carrying amount (liability) 1.2 13 EUR million 2019 2018
Notional amount 200 200 Derivative assets:
Maturity date 04/2023 04/2023 Fair value, gross 04 1.6
Hedge ratio 11 11 Fair value, under netting agreements -0.0 01
Change in discounted value of outstanding -0.1 -0.1 Fair value, net 0.3 15
hedging instruments since 1 January Derivative liabilities:
Change in value of hedged item used to determine 0.1 0.1 Fair value, gross 1.7 1.5
hedge effectiveness Fair value, under netting agreements -0.0 -0.1
Weighted average hedged rate for the year 1.99% 1.88% Fair value, net 1.6 1.4

EUR million

Commodities - Electricity 2019 2018
Carrying amount (asset) 0.3 1.3
Notional amount 1.3 1.9
TWh 0.1 0.1
Maturity date 2020-2021 2019-2021
Hedge ratio 1:1 1.1
Change in discounted value of outstanding -1.0 1.1
hedging instruments since 1 January

Change in value of hedged item used to determine 10 -1.1

hedge effectiveness

Weighted average hedged price EUR/MWh 15.43

2391

Positive and negative fair values of unrealised derivatives and their net amount are presented
below. Interest and currency derivatives are under netting agreements. The master netting agree-
ments in respect of derivatives do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the balance sheet owing to
legally enforceable right not existing currently.

3.4. EQUITY

Share capital

Altia PIc’s share capital, paid in its entirety and registered in the trade register, was 60,480,378.36
euros at the end of 2019 and 2018. At the end of the financial period 2019 and 2018 there were
36,140,485 shares outstanding.

All shares issued have been paid in full. The shares have no nominal value. Each share has one vote
at the Annual General meeting and equal rights to dividend and other distribution of assets. The
company does not hold its own shares.

NUMBER OF SHARES

2019 2018

Number of outstanding shares in the beginning 36140485 35960000
of the financial year

Personnel offering = 180485
Number of outstanding shares at the end 36 140485 36 140485

of the financial year
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Invested unrestricted equity fund CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE
The amounts paid for issued Personnel Shares in Altia’s listing have been recorded as invested —
tricted ity fund EUR million Currency Interestrate Total hedge
unrestricted equity fund. forwards swaps Commodities reserves
Opening balance 1 January 2018 0.5 -1.1 0.3 -0.3
Fair value reserve Change in fair value of hedging 11 0.2 1.6 2.9
The fair value reserve represents the change in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair instrument recognised in OCI
value through other comprehensive income. Reclassified from OCl to profit or 17 - - 17
loss - included in purchases/sales
adjustments
Legal reserve Reclassified from OCI to financial - -0.4 - -0.4
Legal reserve represents statutory part of the foreign subsidiary’s result. income / expenses.
Reclassified from OCl to electricity - - -0.6 -0.6
Hedge reserve p“rhasez
The hedge reserve includes the fair value changes of derivative instruments used for cash flow Defe.rre tax 00 0.3 03 00
. . Closing balance 31 December 2018 -0.0 -1.0 1.1 0.0
hedging for effective hedges.
Change in fair value of hedging 0.5 0.2 -0.2 0.5
instrument recognised in OCI
Reclassified from OCl to profit or -0.9 - - -0.9
loss -included in purchases/sales
adjustments
Reclassified from OCl to financial - -0.4 - -0.4
income / expenses
Reclassified from OCl to electricity - - -0.5 -0.5
purhases
Deferred tax 0.1 0.2 -0.1 0.3
Closing balance 31 December 2019 -0.3 -1.0 0.2 -1.0
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Translation differences Dividend

Translation differences comprise all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of
the foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements. The Group’'s accumulated translation differences
amounted to negative EUR 22.1 million at 31 December 2019 (31.12.2018: negative EUR 19.6
million).

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the result for the period attributable to owners
of the parent company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the report-
ing period.

Diluted earnings per share has been calculated on the same basis as basic earnings per share ex-
cept that it reflects the impact of any potential commitments the Group has to issue shares in the

future. Altia has not issued any dilutive instruments during the periods presented.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

2019 2018

Result attributable to the shareholders of the parent company, 18.4 15.1
EUR million

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (1,000 pcs) 36 140 36140
Basic and diluted earnings per share (EUR) 0.51 0.42

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that dividend of 0.42 per share
be distributed for 2019. A dividend for 2018 of EUR 0.38 per share, amounting to a total of EUR
13.7 million, was decided in the Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2019. The dividend was paid
on 24 May 2019.

ALTIA PLC'S DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS

EUR million 31Dec2019 31Dec 2018
Invested unrestricted equity fund 1.2 1.2
Retained earnings 70.9 56.8
Distribution of dividends =137 -
Profit for the period 38.6 14.1
TOTAL DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS 96.9 721
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4. Financial and capital risk
4.1. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management principles

The aim of Altia's financial risk management is to ensure the Group'’s financial stability and availa-
bility of sufficient financing options in different market situations. In addition, the aim is to support
the business operations to identify business-related financial risks and their management, and to
hedge against material financial risks.

The Group is exposed to various market risks. Changes in these risks affect the company’s assets,
liabilities and anticipated transactions. The risks are caused by changes in interest rates, curren-
cies and commodity market prices. Selected derivative instruments can be used to manage the
risks resulting from these market risks. Altia mainly hedges against risks that impact the Group’s
cash flow, and, if deemed appropriate, also certain foreign currency denominated items in the
balance sheet. Derivatives are solely used to hedging against the above-mentioned risks. The
principles of IFRS 9 hedge accounting are applied to certain interest rate, foreign exchange as well
as electricity derivatives. Financial risk management is executed as part of the Group's risk man-
agement, according to the Risk Management Principles approved by the Board of Directors. Altia's
principles aiming towards financial, credit and operational continuity form the basis for financial
risk management.

Risk management process

Special process features related to financing are described below in connection with the descrip-
tions of market, liquidity and credit risks. The financial risk exposure is regularly reported to the
Audit Committee and Altia’s Board of Directors. The most significant principle decisions concern-
ing risk management are made by the company’s Board of Directors.

As part of the financial risk management principles, Altia’s Board of Directors has approved a list
of financial instruments, in which the accepted instruments, their purpose and the person who
decides on their use have been specified for different types of financial risks.
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Financial risk management organisation periods of customers. Altia may apply cash flow hedge accounting to foreign exchange derivatives.
Financial matters are reported regularly to the Group management. On a case-by-case basis, the Intra-group loan arrangements are hedged by 100% and hedge accounting is not applied to these

Board of Directors processes all substantial financial matters, such as the Group's internal and arrangements.

external loan arrangements.
The two tables below present the Group’s net currency position, first on the basis of financial

Tasks and responsibilities regarding Altia’s financial operations and financial risk management instruments recorded on the balance sheet and secondly including on a net basis also the esti-

are described in the financial risk management principles. The Group Treasury is responsible for mated future foreign currency net cash flows. The currency position resulting from the financial
securing financing, identifying risks and, if required, executing hedging transactions with external instruments in accordance with IFRS 7 consists of trade receivables, trade payables, cash and cash
counterparties. The business units and subsidiaries are responsible for managing the risks associ-  €quivalents, the Group’s internal and external loans and derivative instruments.

ated with their own operations and forecasting cash flows.
The net currency risk has been taken into account in the table if the transaction currency is other

Risk concentrations than the company’s functional currency.
Altia carefully analyses the financial risks and risk concentrations related to its operations. Risk
concentrations identified as a result of this assessment are described in connection with the TABLE 1: THE GROUP’S NET CURRENCY POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER

descriptions of market and credit risks.

The net currency position resulting from the financial

instruments in accordance with IFRS 7

Market risk EUR million

Altia defines market risk as arisk where the fair values of financial instruments or future cash EUR-SEK 164 197

flows fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. The most significant market risks for the EUR-NOK 16 08

Group are currency risk, interest rate risk and price risks for barley and electricity. EUR-USD 27 45
EUR-AUD 1.7 2.1

1. Currency risk

Altiais exposed to currency risks resulting from export and import, intra-group trade across The Group's net currency position at 31 December
borders of the euro-area, as well as internal loans and investments in foreign subsidiaries. The including also the hedged commercial cash flows
objective of the Group’s currency risk management is to limit the uncertainties associated with EUR million

foreign exchange rates and their effect on the Group’s profit, cash flows and balance sheet. EUR-SEK 1.8 24
EUR-NOK 0.3 1.1
Transaction risk EUR-USD 0.3 0.6
EUR-AUD 0.2 0.1

Transaction risk is caused by foreign currency denominated items in the balance sheet and future
cash flows related to sales, purchases and return of capital. Transaction risk management aims to
hedge the Group's profit against the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The objective is to hedge 60-80% of highly probable commercial cash flows. The average hedging
ratio has remained at the target level. Hedging transactions are executed with forward exchange
contracts or options for the following 12 months at the most, predominantly following the pricing
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Translation risk

Translation risk is mainly caused by the parent company’s foreign currency denominated net
investments in foreign subsidiaries, which cause a translation difference in equity in the Group’s
balance sheet upon consolidation. The Group Treasury regularly analyses the translation risk and
reports any material issues to the management. The most significant net investments are denomi-
nated in the Swedish and Norwegian kroner. The translation risk has not been hedged.

2. Interest rate risk

The objective of interest rate risk management is to minimise the impact of fluctuations arising
from interest rate changes on the Group’s profit. At 31 December 2019 the total nominal amount
of loans was EUR 82.8 million (2018: 89.3) and was divided as follows:

e TheEUR 15.0 million loan matures in January 2022 with annual EUR 5 million instalments.
The interest rate on the loan is based on three -month market rate. Currently these interest
payments are not hedged.

e The EUR 55.0 million portion of the loan matures in January 2023. The interest rate on the
loan is based on three-month market rate. Altia has hedged these interest payments to fixed
interest rate by using an interest rate derivative amounting to EUR 20 million. Hedge ac-
counting principles are applied to this interest rate derivative. The hedge has been regarded
as effective.

e The EUR 12.8 million pension loan matures in January 2028. The interest rate is fixed for the
whole loan period.

The maximum amount under Altia’s domestic commercial paper program is EUR 100 million.
There were no issued commercial papers at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Altia’s maximum limit for sale of trade receivables amounts to EUR 145 million and is approved

by Board of Directors. The sold trade receivables are derecognised at the time of trade with no
obligation to repurchase. The related costs are recognised in other financial expenses. The trade
receivables are current receivables and the related interest rate risk is not hedged. The amount of
the sold trade receivables was EUR 76.7 million at 31 December 2019 (2018: 80.2 million).

3. Price risk associated with commodities
Barley
In 2019, Altia used approximately 212 (212) million kilos of Finnish grain to produce ethanol and

starch. The availability of high-quality domestic barley is ensured with contract cultivation and co-
operation with grain growers and grain handling companies. The market price of barley fluctuates
significantly year by year as a result of various factors that affect the Finnish barley supply and
demand and is therefore considered a significant risk for Altia. The price risk has not been hedged
with derivative instruments.

Electricity

Strongincrease in the market price of electricity is a significant risk for Altia. The risk is managed
by following Altia’s principles for electricity procurement. These principles determine the hedging
limits, within which the electricity price risk is hedged. The hedges are done with OTC-derivatives
of Nasdag OMX Oslo ASA. The hedging service for electricity procurement has been outsourced.

Cash flow hedge accounting in accordance with IFRS 9 is applied to the hedges against electricity
price risk, and hedge effectiveness is tested quarterly. The hedged risk is the euro dominated
sourcing of electricity in Finland. To hedge the risk system priced, Finnish price area and price area
derivative is used. With system priced derivatives is hedged Nordic electricity price and with price
area derivative is hedged the price difference between Finnish price area and system price.

At the end of 2019, the hedging ratio for deliveries for the next 12 months was 53.7.% (2018:
64.1%), in line with the set targets. In 2019 the average hedging ratio was 66.0% (68.0%). All
hedging was effective in 2019 as it was in 2018.

Altia purchases its electricity straight from the Nord Pool Spot markets as a delivery tied to the
spot price of the Finnish price area.

4. Sensitivity to market risks

The following table describes the sensitivity of the Group’s profit and equity (before taxes) to
changes in electricity prices, interest and foreign exchange rates. When Altia applies hedge ac-
counting, the sensitivity is directed at equity. When hedge accounting is not applied, the sensitivity
is recognised as a potential impact on profit or loss.

The sensitivity to foreign exchange rate changes is calculated from the net currency position
resulting from financial instruments.
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TABLE 2: SENSITIVITY ANALYSES Liquidity risk

2019 2018

Sensitivity of financial instruments to
market risks (before taxes) in accordance

with IFRS 7
EUR million

Income
Equity statement

Income

statement Equity

+/-10% electricity = +/-0.2 - +/-0.3
+/-10% change in EUR/NOK exchange rate -/+0.0 +/-0.2 -/+0.1 +/-0.2
+/-10% change in EUR/SEK exchange rate -/+0.2 +/-1.8 -/+0.2 +/-2.2
+/-10% change in EUR/USD exchange rate -/+0.0 -/+0.2 -/+0.1 -/+0.4
+/-10% change in EUR/AUD exchange rate -/+0.0 -/+0.2 -/+0.0 -/+0.2
+1%-points parallel shift in interest rates -0.5 +0.4 -0.5 +0.6

+10 % increase in EUR/SEK exchange rate would have an EUR -0.2 million effect in income statement. Other risks with
same principle.

At the end of 2019 the total group floating rate liability position consists of floating rate liabilities
EUR 70.0 million (2018: EUR 75.0 million) and floating leg of interest rate swap EUR 20 million
(2018: EUR 20.0 million) which is netting the interest rate risk.

In order to manage the liquidity risk, Altia continuously maintains sufficient liquidity reserves,
which at the end of 2019 comprised Group’s EUR 10 million overdraft facility and a EUR 60
million revolving credit facility. At the end of December 2019 no revolving credit facility was in
use (2018: EUR 0.0 million). The revolving credit facility matures in January 2023. More detailed
information on the Group’s external loans is provided in the interest rate risk section.

TABLE 3: LIQUIDITY RESERVES

Cash and cash equivalents and unused

committed credit limits

EUR million

Cash and cash equivalents 64.2 42.0
Overdraft facilities 10.0 10.0
Revolving credit line 60.0 60.0
TOTAL 134.2 112.0
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TABLE 4: MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Contractual payments on Cash flows 2020 Cash flows 2021 Cash flows 2022-
financial liabilities Total
2019 contractual Variable Re- Variable Re- Variable Re-
EUR million cash flows rate payment rate payment rate payment
Non-derivative:
Loans from financial institutions* -72.2 - -0.7 -5.0 - -0.7 -5.0 - -0.8 -60.0
Loans from pension institutions? -13.4 -0.1 - -1.5 -0.1 - -1.5 -0.4 - -9.8
Lease liabilities -10.5 - - -3.4 - - -3.0 - - -4.1
Trade payables -25.7 - - -25.7 - - - - - -
Derivative:

Currency derivatives, hedge accounting

Inflow 24.2 - - 24.2 - - - - - -
Outflow -24.6 - - -24.6 - - - - - -
Currency derivatives, non-hedge accounting
Inflow 3.9 - - 3.9 - - - - - -
Outflow -3.9 - - -3.9 - - - - - -
Interest rate derivatives, hedge accounting -1.2 -0.4 - - -0.4 - - -0.5 - -
Commodity derivatives, hedge accounting -0.3 - - -0.2 - - -0.1 - - -
TOTAL -123.8 -0.5 -0.7 -36.3 -0.5 -0.7 -9.6 -0.9 -0.8 -73.9

*Loans from financial institutions mature 2022 and 2023
2 Loans from pension institutions mature 2028
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TABLE 4: MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Contractual payments on Cash flows 2019 Cash flows 2020 Cash flows 2021 -
financial liabilities Total
2018 contractual Variable Re- Variable Re- Variable Re-
EUR million cash flows rate payment rate payment rate payment
Non-derivative:
Loans from financial institutions* -77.9 - -0.8 -5.0 - -0.7 -5.0 - -1.4 -65.0
Loans from pension institutions? -15.1 -0.2 - -1.5 -0.1 - -1.5 -0.5 - -11.3
Finance lease liabilities -0.4 - - -0.2 - - -0.2 - - 0.0
Trade payables -25.8 - - -25.8 - - - - - -
Derivative:

Currency derivatives, hedge accounting

Inflow 30.9 - - 30.9 - - - - - -
Outflow -30.8 - - -30.8 - - - - - -
Currency derivatives, non-hedge accounting
Inflow 33.7 - - 33.7 - - - - - -
Outflow -33.6 - - -33.6 - - - - - -
Interest rate derivatives, hedge accounting -1.3 -0.3 - - -0.3 - - -0.7 - -
Commodity derivatives, hedge accounting -1.3 - - -0.9 - - -0.4 - - -0.1
TOTAL -121.7 -0.5 -0.8 -33.2 -0.5 -0.7 -71 -1.2 -14 -76.4

*Loans from financial institutions mature 2022 and 2023
2 Loans from pension institutions mature 2028

Credit risk The maximum amount of credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets.
The objective of Altia’s credit risk management is to minimise the losses if one of the Group's No significant risk concentrations relate to trade receivables. The aim is to minimise credit risks by
counterparties fails to meet its obligations. The principles of credit risk management are described ~ active credit management and by taking into account customers’ credit rating when determining
in the Group's credit policy. the payment term of invoices.

Credit risks are caused by a counterparty not fulfilling its contractual payment obligations or the
counterparty’s credit rating changing in a manner that affects the market value of the financial
instruments it has issued.
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4.2. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The target of Altia’s capital management is to secure an effective capital structure that supports
the profitable growth of the operations. The Board of Directors monitors the Group’s capital
structure regularly.

Altia monitors its capital based on gearing (the ratio of interest-bearing net liabilities to equi-
ty). Interest-bearing net liabilities consist of the borrowings and lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents. The current level of gearing is distinctly lower than the limit determined in the
Group's loan terms.

During the business cycle, the company’s net gearing is likely to fluctuate, and the objective is to
retain a sufficiently strong capital structure to secure the Group’s financing needs. At 31 Decem-

ber 2019 and 31 December 2018 the gearing ratio was as follows:

TABLE 5: GEARING

Gearing as of 31 December 2019 2018
EUR million

Borrowings 82.6 89.4
Lease liabilities 10.5 -
Cash and cash equivalents 64.2 42.0
Net debt 28.9 47 .4
Total equity 151.2 150.1

GEARING AT 31 DECEMBER 19.1% 31.6%
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5. Consolidation

5.1. GENERAL CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

Consolidation

Consolidation, consolidation method and classification of ownership interests depends on
whether the Group has power to control or jointly control the entity or have significant
influence or other interests in the entity. When the Group has power to control the entity, it is
consolidated as a subsidiary according to principles described in Note 5.2. Subsidiaries. When
the Group has joint control or significant influence over an entity but does not have power to
control, entity is accounted for by using the principles set in Note 5.3. Associated companies,
joint ventures and interests in joint operations. If the Group does not have power to control
nor significant influence in the entity, its ownership interests are classified as Financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income and accounted for according to principles
described in Note 3.2.1.

Foreign currency items

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the functional and pres-
entation currency of the parent company. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to
euro at average foreign exchange rates published by the European Central Bank on banking
days. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date
are translated to euro at the average exchange rates prevailing at that date. Foreign currency
differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains and
losses related to purchases and sales are recognised in the respective items and included in
operating result. Foreign currency gains and losses arising from loans denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in finance income and expenses.

Income and expenses for the statements of comprehensive income of foreign subsidiaries
that operate outside the eurozone are translated using the average rates of the European
Central Bank’s exchange rates at the end of the month. The statements of financial position
of foreign subsidiaries are translated using the average exchange rates ruling at the reporting
date. Foreign currency differences arising on the translation of profit or loss for the period
with different exchange rates in the statement of comprehensive income and in the balance
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sheet are recognised in other comprehensive income and included in translation differences
in equity. Changes in translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

In the consolidated financial statements, exchange rate differences arising from the trans-
lation of foreign currency denominated loans to foreign subsidiaries, which form a part of
net investments in foreign companies, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
included in translation differences within equity.

Translation differences arising from elimination of the cost of foreign subsidiaries and from
translation of the foreign subsidiaries’ post-acquisition profits and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income and presented as a separate item within equity. Goodwill and
the fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of foreign units are
accounted for as assets and liabilities of the respective foreign units, which are translated to
euro at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. If these foreign units are entirely
or partly disposed of, related exchange rate differences are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.

5.2. SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries consolidation principles

Consolidated financial statements of Altia include the parent company, Altia Plc, and all

subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all those in which the parent company exercises control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involve-
ment with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. The financial statements of acquired subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

All business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition method. The consider-
ation transferred and the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquired
company are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. The amount exceeding the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of non-controlling interests and any
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of the net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill.

All acquisition-related costs, with the exception of costs to issue debt or equity securities, are
expensed. The consideration transferred does not include any transactions accounted for
separately from the acquisition. Any contingent consideration is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date and it is classified as either liability or equity. Contingent consideration
classified as a liability is measured at fair value at each reporting date and any resulting gain
orloss is recognised in profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, receivables, liabilities and unrealised gains, as well as the distribu-
tion of profits within the Group are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial state-
ments. Unrealised losses are not eliminated if the loss in question results from impairment.

The Group had no non-controlling interests at 31 December 2019 or 31 December 2018.
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Altia Plc had 23 subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period 5.3. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
(23 subsidiaries at 31 December 2018).

Associated companies
Associated companies are all entities over which the Group accompanies a shareholding of

Parent company's Group's

759

share of share of Country of ) ) ; o ] .

ownership (%) ownership (%) incorporation over 20% of voting rights or otherwise has significant influence, but not control. Altia has an
A-Beverages Oy 100.00 100.00 Finland investment in an associated company Palpa Lasi Oy.
Altia Eesti AS 100.00 100.00 Estonia
Altia Denmark A/S 100.00 100.00 Denmark Associated companies are consolidated by using the equity method. Under the equity meth-
Altia Holding Sweden AB . 100.00 Sweden od, the investment is initially recognised at cost and subsequently adjusted with the change in
SIA Altia Latvia 100.00 100.00 Latvia the net assets of the investee after the acquisition date, consistent with the ownership inter-
Altia Norway AS 100.00 100.00 Norway est of the Group. After the acquisition the Group’s share in the associated company’s profit
Altia Sweden AB 100.00 100.00 Sweden and loss for the period is separately disclosed after operating result. If the Group's share in
Altia Sweden Services AB - 100.00 Sweden the associated company’s loss exceeds the carrying amount of the investment, the invest-
Alpha Beverages Oy 100.00 100.00 Finland ment is recognised at zero value in the consolidated balance sheet and the loss exceeding the
Best Buys International AS 100.00 100.00 Norway

carrying amount is not consolidated, unless the Group has committed to fulfil the company’s

B§VCO AB . 10000 Sweden obligations. An investment in an associated company includes goodwill arisen on acquisition.
Bibendum AB : 10000 Sweden The Group's share in changes in the associated company’s other comprehensive income is
Bibendum AS 100.00 100.00 Norway . . . L

) recognised in consolidated other comprehensive income.
ExCellar Oy 100.00 100.00 Finland
Harald Zetterstrém oy/ab 100.00 100.00 Finland . . . .
Interbey AS 10000 10000 Norway Results from the transa.c‘uons between the Qroup and |.ts associates are recogm.sed only to
Larsen SAS 100.00 100.00 France the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. The Group determines at each
Philipson & Séderberg AB . 100.00 Sweden reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate
Prime Wines Oy 100.00 100.00 Finland is impaired. In case of such indications, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
Premium Wines AS 100.00 100.00 Norway the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its’ carrying value. The
Strom AS 100.00 100.00 Norway impairment is recognised in share of results in associated companies.
Vinuversum AB - 100.00 Sweden
Oy Wennerco Ab 100.00 100.00 Finland Financial statements of associated companies have been changed where necessary to corre-

spond with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. If financial statements for the peri-
od are not available, the share of the profit is included in the consolidated financial statements
based on the preliminary financial statements or latest available information.

Joint arrangements
Ajoint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have contractually
agreed joint control which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require
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the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint arrangement is either a joint
operation or a joint venture.

Altia has an interest through a receivable in Roal Oy based on the contractual relationship
with the other party to the joint operation. The interest in Roal Oy is accounted for as a joint
operation.

Joint ventures are consolidated by using the equity method. Altia has an investment in a joint
venture Von Elk Company.

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

2019 2018
Share of

ownership %

Share of
ownership %

Roal Oy, Finland 50.00 50.00
Palpa Lasi Oy, Finland 25.53 25.53
Von Elk Company Qy, Finland 20.00

Roal Oy engages enzyme business. The joint operation’s other owner is ABF Overseas Ltd.

Altia has joint control over Roal but the option right held by the other shareholder represents in
substance a receivable with a fixed rate of return and Altia does not have a right to 50% of the net
assets until the option lapses. Accordingly, the interest is classified as a joint operation with Altia
accounting for its share of assets as a receivable with the annual minimum dividend accounted for
as interest income. The receivable amounted to EUR 7.6 million as at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018.

Palpa Lasi Oy engages in the recycling and re-use of glass beverage packages.
Von Elk Company is a Finnish family enterprise which engages in alcoholic beverage business.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES

EUR million 2019 2018
At the beginning of the period 0.3 -
Additions 0.2 -
Share of result for the period 0.7 0.3
At the end of the reporting period 1.2 0.3
FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES

EUR million 2019 2018
Assets 8.8 7.6
Liabilities 4.9 6.3
Net assets 3.9 1.3
Net sales 185 18.3
Result for the period 2.6 2.8

Related party transactions with associated companies and joint arrangements are presented in
Note 6.3.
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6. Other notes

6.1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense

The Group's income tax expense recognised through profit or loss comprises current tax
based on taxable income for the period, any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous
periods and deferred taxes. Current income tax based on taxable income is calculated accord-
ing to the local tax regulations of each Group company.

Tax effects related to transactions or other events recognised in profit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss. If the taxes relate to items of other comprehensive income or transactions or
other events recognised directly in equity, income tax expense is recognised within the respec-
tive items. The Group's share of profit or loss in associated companies and joint ventures is
reported as calculated from the net profit and thus including the income tax effect.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are principally recognised for all temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. The most significant temporary differences arise from
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, carry forward of unused tax losses and
fair value allocations on business combinations. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be utilised. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in full. Deferred taxes are calculated
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
taxis recognised for foreign subsidiaries undistributed earnings only when related tax effects
are probable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are set off when they are levied by same taxing authority
and Altia has legally enforceable right to set off the balances.

Critical estimates and management judgements - Deferred tax assets
Judgment is required in assessing whether deferred tax assets are recognised on the balance
sheet. Deferred tax assets are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not
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that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable
profits. Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s
estimates of future cash flows. These future cash flow estimates depend on estimates of
future sales volumes, price levels of main raw materials, capital expenditure and other compo-
nents affecting profitability of the operations. These estimates and assumptions are subject to
risk and uncertainty, hence it is possible that changes in circumstances will alter expectations,
which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets recognised on the balance sheet and the
amount of any other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. Altia’s ability to
generate taxable profit is also subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative
and regulatory factors that are beyond its control. If Altia generates lower future taxable
profits than what management has assumed in determining the amounts of the recognised
deferred tax assets, the assets would become impaired, either partly or in full. Accordingly,
amounts recognised in balance sheet could potentially be reversed through profit and loss.
Changes in circumstances may also result in recognition of deferred tax assets for tax losses
not yet recognised as an asset.

Uncertain tax positions
@ The tax positions are evaluated in periodically by the management to identify the situations

in which tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Based on the evaluation uncertain tax
positions are recognized when it is more likely than not that certain tax position will be
challenged by tax authorities. The impact of the uncertainty is measured using either the most
likely amount or the expected value method, depending on which method better predicts the
resolution of the uncertainty.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
EUR million 2019 2018
Current income tax expense 5.3 38
Adjustments to taxes for prior periods 0.7 0.2
Deferred taxes:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 0.2 0.0
Impact of changes in tax rates = -0.4

TOTAL 6.2 3.6

The reconciliation of the tax expense recognised in profit and loss and the tax expense calculated
using Altia Group's domestic corporate tax rate (20.0%):

EUR million 2019 2018
Result before taxes 24.6 18.6
Income tax using the parent company’s tax rate 4.9 3.7
Effect of tax rates of subsidiaries in foreign jurisdictions -0.0 0.3
Tax-exempt income -0.2 -0.3
Non-deductible expenses 0.2 0.1
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses = -0.0
Adjustments to taxes for prior periods 0.7 0.2
Share of profit in associated companies, net of tax -0.1 -0.1
Effect of changes in tax rates - -0.4
Tax on undistributed earnings 0.1 -0.0
Other items 0.6 0.0
TAX EXPENSE IN PROFIT OR LOSS 6.2 3.6
INCOME TAX RECOGNISED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2019 Before Net of
EUR million tax Tax tax
Cash flow hedges -1.3 0.3 -1.0
Translation differences -2.4 - -2.4
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations -0.2 0.0 -0.2
TOTAL -3.9 0.3 -3.6
2018 Before Net of
EUR million tax Tax tax
Cash flow hedges 0.4 -0.1 0.3
Translation differences -3.5 - -3.5
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations 0.0 -0.0 -0.0
TOTAL -3.1 -0.1 -3.2
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Change in deferred tax assets Recognised in other
and liabilities during 2019: Recognised in comprehensive Exchange rate
EUR million 1Jan 2019 profit or loss income differences 31 Dec 2019
Deferred tax assets:
Tax losses 0.1 -0.1 - 0.0 0.0
Fixed assets 2.0 -0.3 - 0.0 1.7
Pension benefits 0.3 -0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3
Provisions 0.1 -0.1 - - 0.0
Internal margin of inventories 0.1 0.0 - -0.0 0.1
Recognised in hedge reserve 0.0 - 0.2 -0.0 0.3
Other temporary differences 0.1 0.1 - 0.0 0.2
Total deferred tax assets 27 -0.5 0.3 0.0 25
Offset against deferred tax liabilities -1.9 -1.6
Net deferred tax assets 0.8 0.9
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets 52 -0.0 - -0.0 52
Recognised in hedge reserve 0.0 - -0.0 0.0 0.0
Fair value allocation on acquisitions 2.1 -04 - -0.0 1.7
Deductable goodwill depreciation 9.7 0.0 - -0.1 9.6
Undistributed profits of foreign subsidiaries 17 0.1 - - 1.8
Other temporary differences 0.0 - - - 0.0
Total deferred tax liabilities 18.8 -0.3 -0.0 -0.1 18.3
Offset against deferred tax assets -1.9 -1.6

Net deferred tax liabilities 16.8 16.7
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Recognised in other

and liabilities during 2018: Recognised in comprehensive Exchange rate
EUR million 1Jan 2018 profit or loss income differences 31 Dec 2018
Deferred tax assets:
Tax losses 0.3 -0.2 - -0.0 0.1
Fixed assets 24 -0.4 - -0.0 2.0
Pension benefits 0.3 0.0 -0.0 -0.0 0.3
Provisions - 0.1 - - 0.1
Internal margin of inventories 0.1 0.0 - -0.0 0.1
Recognised in hedge reserve 0.1 - -0.1 - 0.0
Other temporary differences 0.2 -0.0 - -0.0 0.1
Total deferred tax assets 3.3 -04 -0.1 -0.0 2.7
Offset against deferred tax liabilities -2.3 -1.9
Net deferred tax assets 1.0 0.8
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets 52 -0.0 - -0.0 52
Recognised in hedge reserve 0.0 - 0.0 -0.0 0.0
Fair value allocation on acquisitions 2.7 -0.5 - -0.1 2.1
Deductable goodwill depreciation 104 -04 - -0.3 9.7
Undistributed profits of foreign subsidiaries 1.7 -0.0 - - 1.7
Other temporary differences 0.0 -0.0 - - 0.0
Total deferred tax liabilities 20.0 -0.9 0.0 -0.4 18.8
Offset against deferred tax assets -2.3 -1.9
Net deferred tax liabilities 17.7 16.8

At 31 December 2019, the Group had EUR 1.6 million (2018: EUR 1.0 million) of tax loss carry
forwards for which no deferred tax was recognised. EUR 0.9 million of these temporary differenc-
es expire in three years and EUR 0.6 million have unlimited expiry. Altia management estimates
these losses arise in subsidiaries which have neither indication of future taxable income nor other
convincing evidence that tax losses can be utilised and deferred tax asset be recognised in balance
sheet.

Altia Oyj's fully owned French subsidiary Larsen SAS has been undergoing a regular audit by
the local tax authorities. In December 2019 the company received the tax assessment decision
regarding the outcome of the audit resulting in a tax claim amounting to EUR 1.1 million relating

to the mark-up used in the transfer pricing for products sold to other Group companies. Based on
the tax assessment the company has accrued for the tax claim in the 2019 financial statements.

Altia Group will however submit its counter arguments against the claim and should the French
authorities maintain its position, Altia Group will proceed through the Mutual Agreement Proce-
dure (MAP) with the aim to eliminate a potential double taxation related to the increased mark-up
in France which is to be deducted in the tax jurisdictions where the Altia Group companies buying
the products have been operating. Altia has recorded a EUR 0.4 million tax receivable in respect of
the potential MAP application.
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6.2. COLLATERALS, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT If the realised emissions exceed the granted emission allowances, the obligation arising from
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES the excess emissions is recognised at fair value as a liability in the balance sheet at the report-

ing date. If the realised emissions fall below the granted emission allowances, the difference is
not recognised in the balance sheet but it is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements,

EUR million 2019 2018 measured at fair value.

Collaterals and commitments

Collaterals gi behalf of G i - - . .
ONIaterdls gIVen on benait o broup companies Altia’s actual emissions are below the emission allowances granted. The following table presents

Mortgages 185 185 . . s
838 changes in allowances for financial years 2019 and 2018, as well as their fair values:
Guarantees 5.9 5.3
TOTAL COLLATERALS 24.4 23.8
Other commitments Emission allowances, kilotons 2019 2018
Operating lease obligations Emission allowances received 264 26.9
Less than one year 0.2 3.9 Excess emission allowances from the previous period 30.6 45.6
Between one and five years 01 93 Adjustments related to prior year's estimates -0.0 0.0
More than five years - 05 Sold emission allowances -330 -20.0
Total operating lease obligations 03 13.6 Realised emissions -20.0 -21.9
Other commitments 208 155  EMISSION ALLOWANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 40 30.6
TOTAL COMMITMENTS 211 29.1 Fair value of emission allowances at 31 December, EUR million 0.1 0.7
Collaterals given on behalf of Group companies all relate to commitments to authorities. The emission allowances received during year 2019 and the realised emissions are estimates,

Operating lease obligations consists mainly of laptops. which will be adjusted during the spring 2020. Altia continues to operate within the emission

Other commitments include mainly purchase obligations of wine and cognac. trading system for the trading period 2013-2020.

Assets not recognized in the balance sheet, emission allowances

The Group participates in the European Union emission trading scheme, where it has been
granted a certain number of carbon dioxide emission allowances for a certain period of time,
free of charge. Altia Plc discloses its carbon dioxide emission allowances granted free of
charge on net basis. Following from this, the Group does not recognise in the balance sheet
the granted emission allowances, nor the obligation to deliver allowances corresponding to
the realised emissions. The Group does not recognise income or expenses arising from emis-
sion allowances through profit or loss when the emission allowances granted are sufficient to

cover the obligation to deliver allowances corresponding to the amount of emissions made.
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6.3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
The Company's related parties include the subsidiaries, associated companies, joint ventures EUR million 2019 2018
and joint operations. The subsidiaries are presented in Note 5.2. and associated companies, joint CEO
L. . . . . . Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 0.3 0.3
ventures and joint operations in Note 5.3. Related party transactions include such operations that
o . , R . Performance bonus and the bonuses from long-term - 0.3
are not eliminated in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. incentive plan
Pension benefits 0.1 0.1
Related party also include the Board of Directors, the CEO, the members of the Executive Man- TOTAL 0.4 0.7
agement Team and their family members as well as entities controlled or jointly controlled by Members of the Executive Management Team (CEO not
these persons. Also, entities that are controlled or jointly controlled by, or are associates of the '“d”#ed)
State, are related parties of Altia. Altia has applied the exemption to report only material transac- Salaf'es and other short-term employee benefits 1.2 19
tions with the government related entities. Transactions with related parties are entered into on Pension benefits 02 0.3
. . . L . TOTAL 14 2.2
market terms. Altia has related party transactions on a continuous basis with its major customer X
Members and deputy members of the Board of Directors 0.3 0.3

Alko. Transactions with Alko have been presented below under Other companies considered relat-
ed parties.

THE FOLLOWING TRANSACTIONS HAVE TAKEN PLACE WITH RELATED PARTIES

EUR million 2019 2018
Sales of goods and services
Associates, joint ventures and joint operations 0.8 0.9
Other companies considered related parties 76.5 79.2
TOTAL 77.3 80.1
Purchases of goods and services
Associates, joint ventures and joint operations 1.9 2.8
Other companies considered related parties 1.2 1.3
TOTAL 3.2 41
Outstanding balances from sales and purchases of goods
and services
Trade receivables
Associates, joint ventures and joint operations = 0.1
Other companies considered related parties 0.9 32
Trade payables
Associates, joint ventures and joint operations 0.2 0.3

Other companies considered related parties 0.1 0.0

No monetary loans have been granted to the CEO or the members of the Board of Directors, nor
any collaterals or commitments granted on their behalf.

The retirement age of the CEQ of the parent company is 63 years.



@ BUSINESS BOARD CORPORATE FINANCIAL
OVERVIEW REPORT SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 171
@

6.4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has share-based incentive plan which is settled in shares and in cash. The granted
shares are measured at fair value at a grant date and are recognized as personnel expenses
o’ over the vesting period with corresponding increase in equity. Non-market conditions are

not included in fair value of share-based instruments but in the number of instruments that

are expected to vest. At each reporting period closing date, the estimates about number of

instruments are revised and the impact is recognized in income statement. Also share-based

payments to be paid in cash are classified as paid by equity and recognized in equity measured

at fair value at grant date.

The Board of Directors of Altia Plc has decided on the establishment of a new share-based long-
term incentive scheme for the management and key employees of Altia Group. The objectives of
the share-based long-term incentive scheme are to align the interests of Altia’'s management and
key employees with those of the Company’s shareholders and, thus, to promote shareholder value
creation in the long term, and to commit the management and key employees to achieving Altia’'s
strategic targets as well as the retention of Altia’s valuable key resources.

PSP 2019-2021 performance period started in the beginning of 2019 and the potential share
reward will be paid in spring 2022 in Altia shares. The performance targets based on which the
potential share reward under PSP 2019-2021 will be paid are the relative total shareholder re-
turn (relative TSR) of Altia’s share and earnings per share (EPS). Approximately 20 individuals are
included into the plan.

If all the performance targets set for PSP 2019-2021 are fully achieved, the aggregate maximum
number of shares to be paid based on the planis approximately 250 000 Altia shares. This number
of shares represents a gross earning, from which the applicable payroll tax is withheld, and the
remaining net value is paid to the participants in shares.

The combined amount of variable compensation paid to an individual participant any given year,
including the long-term incentive scheme and the short-term incentive scheme, may not exceed
120% of the individual's annual gross base salary.

If the individual's employment with Altia Group terminates before the payment date of the share
reward, the individual is, as a main rule, not entitled to any reward based on the plan.

Altia applies a share ownership recommendation to the members of its Executive Management
Team. According to this recommendation each member of the Executive Management Team is
expected to retain in his/her ownership at least half of the net shares received under the share-
based incentive schemes of Altia until the value of his/her share ownership in Altia corresponds to
at least his/her annual gross base salary.

Share-based incentives during the period 1.1.2019-31.12.2019

Plan Long-term incentive Plan 2019-2024
Type Share
Instrument Performance period 2019-2021
Grant date 28/02/2019
Beginning of earning period 01/01/2019
End of the earning period 31/12/2021
Vesting date 31/03/2022
Vesting conditions Relative TSR and EPS
Maximum contractual life, years 3.25
Remaining contractual life, years 2.25
Number of persons at the end of reporting year 18

Payment method Cash and equity

Changes during period: Performance period 2019-2021

01/01/2019

Outstanding in the beginning of the period 0
Changes during period

Granted 219000
Forfeited 0
31/12/2019

Outstanding at the end of the period 219000
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The lease liability is measured by discounting the expected lease payments to the current value.
Fair-value determination Lease payments include fixed lease payments, expected payments related to residual value guar-
Valuation parameters for instruments granted during period antees and the possible exercise price of the purchase option if the use of the option is reasonably
Share price at grant, € 754 certain. The lease period is the non-cancellable period of the lease. Any extension options are
Share price at the reporting period end, € 8.18 added to the lease period if it is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise such options.
Expected dividends, € 1.17
Risk free rate, % -0.29 Lease payments are discounted at the internal rate of return of the lease if such a rate can be
Fair value, € 1395030  readily determined. If an internal rate of return cannot be readily determined, the interest rate for

additional credit is used as the discount rate.
EUR million 2019 2018
Effect of share -based incentives on the result The lease liability is remeasured and adjusted against the right-of-use asset if the cash flow in
Expenses for the financial year, share based payments paid in equity 00 . accordance with the original terms and conditions of lease changes; for example, if the lease pe-
f_gp_fgies for the financial year, share based payments paid in cash 81 " riod changes or if the lease payments change based on a variable index or interest rate. The lease

6.5. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED IFRS
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Altia has adopted new accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board, IFRS 16, Leases, effective on January 1, 2019.

IFRS 16 Leases
Altia has applied the new IFRS 16 Leases standard since 1 January 2019.

Altia applies the simplified approach, according to which the comparison information is not adjust-
ed. The new standard mainly affects the accounting treatment applied by the lessees. As a result
of the new standard, nearly all leases are recognised on the balance sheet. Altia mainly acts as the
lessee. The Group's leases are related to normal business operations, such as leases on facilities,
warehouses, vehicles, forklifts and office technology. The new standard removes the previous
distinction between operating and finance leases. In accordance with the new standard, an asset
item (right of use of the leased asset) and a financial liability concerning lease payments have been
recognised for most of Altia’s leases.

liability is divided into current and non-current liability and is presented on a separate line on the
balance sheet.

Right-of-use assets are measured at acquisition cost based on the amount of the initial measure-
ment of the lease liability. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease period or their useful
lives, depending on which is shorter.

Right-of-use assets related to tangible assets are presented on a separate line on the balance sheet.

The IFRS 16 standard includes exemptions concerning leases of less than 12 months and low-val-
ue assets. Altia treats leases with less than 12 months remaining of the lease period at the time

of transition as current underlying asset items that are not recognised on the balance sheet. The
selection is made based on the class of the underlying asset. Exemptions apply to all underlying
asset items other than vehicles and offices, which are recognised on the balance sheet even if their
remaining lease period is less than 12 months at the time of transition. Lease liabilities are not
recognised for low-value assets. Altia considers assets with an acquisition cost of less than EUR
5,000 to be low-value. Finance leases included in exemptions as short-term or low value were
derecognized from balance sheet. Lease expenses related to leases included in the exemptions are
recognised in equal instalments over the lease period.
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The criteria used to determine the discount rate includes the class of the underlying asset, geo-
graphical location, currency, the maturity of the risk-free interest rate and the lessee’s credit risk
premium.

At the time of transition, on 1 January 2019, a right-of-use asset item of EUR 10.7 million was
recognised on the opening consolidated balance sheet, in addition to EUR 7.1 million in long-term
lease liabilities and EUR 3.6 million in short-term lease liabilities.

RECONCILIATION OF LEASE LIABILITIES AND
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS ON TRANSITION

Operating lease commitments 31December 2018 13.6
Discounting effect -0.5
Exempted from recognition -0.2
Leases not yet commenced but to which Altia is committed -2.5
Other changes 0.3
TOTAL 10.7

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities on January 2019 was
1.14%.

The IFRS 16 standard affects many of Altia’s reported key figures. The adoption of the standard
also affects net debt, which includes financial liabilities and lease liabilities. Gearing will increase,
and the equity ratio will decrease. The adoption of the standard does not have a negative effect

in terms of the company’s financial covenants. On the cash flow statement, the cash flows from
operating activities are higher than before because the share of lease liability repayments of all
payments is classified as financing activities. Only the share of the interest expense of all payments
continues to be presented in cash flows from operating activities.

The reporting period 1 January to 30 December 2019 includes the adoption of the IFRS standard
as of 1 January 2019. The IFRS 16 standard had a positive effect of EUR 3.8 million on the compa-
rable EBITDA, a negative effect of EUR 3.7 million on depreciation, and a negative effect of EUR
0.1 million on financial expenses. On the consolidated balance sheet on 31 December 2019, the

amount of asset items based on rights of use is EUR 10.4 million, the amount of long-term lease
liabilities is EUR 7.1 million and the amount of short-term lease liabilities is EUR 3.4 million. In
the cash flow statement, cash payments for the capital portion of the lease liability are presented
under financing activities, and the interest portion of the lease liability is presented in cash flows
from operating activities. Previously, all operating lease payments were presented in cash flows
from operating activities. This had a positive effect of EUR 3.8 million on the Group’s cash flows
from operating activities and a negative effect of EUR 3.7 million on its cash flows from financing
activities in January-December 2019.

IFRIC 23

IFRIC 23 clarifies the recognition and measurement requirements In IAS 12 Income taxes, when
there is uncertainty over income tax treatment. Altia has adopted the interpretation 1.1.2019 and
it had no impact on opening balance of 1.1.2019.

6.6. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 January, the proposals by the Shareholders’ Nomination Board to the Annual General
Meeting were announced. The Nomination Board proposes that the number of members of the
Board of Directors would be seven and that of the present members Tiina Lencioni, Jukka Ohtola,
Anette Rosengren, Torsten Steenholt and Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae would be re-elected and that
Jukka Leinonen and Jyrki Maki-Kala would be elected as new members.

Further, the Nomination Board proposes that the remuneration to be paid to the members of the
Board of Directors during the next term would consist of a monthly term of office fee as follows:
EUR 4 000 per month, Chairman; EUR 2 500 per month, Vice Chairman; EUR 2 000 per month,
member. In addition to the monthly fee, the Board members would receive a meeting fee for the
Board of Directors and Board Committee meetings of EUR 600 per meeting for Board members
residing in Finland and EUR 1 200 per meeting for Board members residing abroad. Travel expens-
es would be reimbursed in accordance with the company’s travel policy.

In addition, the Nomination Board proposes to amend the Charter of the Shareholders’ Nomina-
tion Board so that the three largest shareholders shall be determined on the first banking day of
June eachyear (currently determined on the first banking day of September each year).
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Parent Company Financial Statements
ALTIA PLC INCOME STATEMENT (FAS)
1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec
EUR million Note 2019 2018 EUR million Note 2019 2018
NET SALES 1 208.7 205.3 Finance income and expenses 5.
Increase (+) / decrease (=) in inventories of finished goods -1.8 -0.1 Income from Group companies 27.7 6.7
and work in progress Income from participating interests 0.9 0.9
Other operating income 2. 184 200 Income from other investments held as non-current
Materials and services assets
Raw materials. consumables and goods From others = 0.1
Purchases during the period -121.2 -128.9 Other interest and finance income
Change in inventories -3.9 53 From Group companies 0.3 0.4
External services -0.1 -0.1 From others than Group companies 3.0 3.3
Total materials and services -125.1 -123.6 Interest and other finance expenses
Personnel expenses 3. To Group companies -0.2 -0.1
Wages and salaries -22.5 -23.8 To others than Group companies -4.7 -54
Indirect employee expenses Total finance income and expenses 26.9 6.0
Pension expenses -6.0 -5.8 RESULT BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES 39.9 14.8
Other indirect employee expenses -0.7 -0.9 Appropriations 6.
Total personnel expenses -29.2 -30.6 Depreciation difference increase (-) /decrease (+) 1.1 1.0
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Group contribution = -0.0
Depreciation and amortisation according to plan -11.8 -11.6 Income tax expense 7.
Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses -11.8 -11.6 Current period taxes -24 -1.7
Other operating expenses 4. -46.2 -50.5 Deferred taxes -0.1 0.1
OPERATING RESULT 13.0 8.9 Other direct taxes 0.1 -0.1
Total income taxes -2.5 -1.7
RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 38.6 141
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ALTIA PLC BALANCE SHEET (FAS)

EUR million 31Dec2019 31 Dec 2018

ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS Inventories 9.

Intangible assets Materials and supplies 17.9 218
Intangible rights 10.0 12.0 Work in progress 10.3 10.3
Other capitalised long-term expenditure 6.2 7.7 Finished goods 9.8 11.6
Prepayments 2.0 1.7 Advance payments 0.1 -

Intangible assets total 18.1 214 Inventories total 38.1 43.7

Tangible assets Non-current receivables 10.

Land and water areas 24 2.4 Receivables from Group companies 14.8 15.8
Buildings and structures 210 21.9 Deferred tax assets 0.6 0.5
Machinery and equipment 26.1 27.8 Non-current receivables total 15.4 16.3
Other tangible assets 0.5 0.5 Current receivables 11

Prepayments and assets under construction 1.5 1.5 Trade receivables 26.7 253

Tangible assets total 51.6 54.2 Receivables from Group companies 113.0 12.2

Investments Receivables from participating interest undertakings 0.1 0.1
Holdings in Group companies 206.8 206.8 Other receivables 0.0 0.0
Participating interests 8.2 8.0 Accrued income and prepaid expenses 82 3.6
Other shares and investments 0.8 0.8 Current receivables total 143.1 413

Investments total 215.9 215.7 Cash at hand and in banks 61.0 40.6

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 285.6 291.3 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 257.6 141.9

TOTAL ASSETS 543.2 433.2
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ALTIA PLC BALANCE SHEET (FAS)

EUR million Note 31Dec2019 31Dec2018
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 13.
Share capital 60.5 60.5
Invested unrestricted equity fund 1.2 1.2
Hedge reserve -0.9 0.0
Retained earnings 57.1 56.8
Profit for the period 38.6 14.1
TOTALEQUITY 156.6 132.6
Appropriations 14.
Depreciation difference 20.5 21.6
Provisions
Other provisions = 0.5
Liabilities
Non-current 15.
Loans from financial institutions 65.0 70.0
Loans from pension institutions 11.3 12.8
Liabilities to Group companies 20 1.8
Deferred tax liabilities = 0.0
Other liabilities 4.9 4.9
Non-current liabilities total 83.2 89.5
Current
Loans from financial institutions 5.0 5.0
Loans from pension institutions 1.5 1.5
Trade payables 13.1 10.4
Liabilities to Group companies 16. 208.4 117.7
Other liabilities 37.2 39.2
Accrued expenses and deferred income 17. 17.8 15.3
Current liabilities total 283.0 189.1
TOTAL LIABILITIES 366.2 278.6

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 543.2 433.2
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ALTIA PLC STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (FAS)
1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec 1Jan-31Dec

EUR million 2019 2018 EUR million Note 2019 2018

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Result before taxes 41.0 15.8 Proceeds from current borrowings 16. 17.9 6.9

Adjustments Repayment of current borrowings 16. -1.6 -20.7
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 11.8 11.6 Proceeds from non-current borrowings - 20.0
Gain/loss from disposal of property, plant and -0.0 -0.5 Repayment of non-current borrowings 15. -6.5 -21.3
equipment and intangible assets Dividends paid and other distributions of profits 13. -13.7 -
Finance income and costs -26.9 -6.0 Share issue, personnel offering R 1.2
Change in depreciation difference -1.1 -1.0 Group contributions paid 00
Other adjustments 0.5 06 NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -3.9 -13.8

-16.7 48 CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 205 -8.8

Change in working capital Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 40.6 494
Change in inventories, increase (-) / decrease (+) 5.6 -5.2 Change in cash and cash equivalents 205 88
Change in trade and other receivables, -0.1 -7.2 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 61.0 40.6
increase (-) / decrease (+) THE END OF THE PERIOD
Change in trade and other payables, 1.3 -1.9
increase (+) / decrease (-)

Change in working capital 6.7 -14.3

Interest paid -1.5 -1.5

Interest received 0.5 0.7

Other finance income and expenses paid -0.6 -0.6

Income taxes paid -0.9 -3.2

Financial items and taxes -2.5 -4.5

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 28.6 1.7

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for property, plant and equipment and -5.9 -7.0

intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.0 0.5

and intangible assets

Investments in participating interest companies -0.2 -

Repayment of loan receivables 1.0 2.0

Dividends received 0.9 7.8

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -4.2 3.3
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Notes to Altia Plc financial statements Cash Pool

Accounting policies for financial statements
The financial statements of the parent company are prepared in accordance with the Finnish
accounting legislation.

Non-current assets and depreciations
Non-current assets are recognised in the balance sheet at acquisition cost less depreciations. The
depreciation periods for non-current assets are:

Trademarks 10-15 years
IT- development and software 3-5 years
Buildings and structures 10-40 years
Machinery and equipment 10 years
Other tangible assets 3-10 years

Holdings in Group companies and other shares and investments included in non-current assets
are measured at acquisition cost or fair value, if lower.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Self-manufactured prod-
ucts are measured at standard prices, except cognac products, which are measured at weighted
average cost. Fixed production costs are allocated to the cost of own production. Raw materials,
supplies and trading goods are measured at weighted average cost. Repacked trading goods are
measured at standard cost in repacking plant.

The cost of finished products and work in progress includes raw materials, direct labour costs,
other direct costs as well as an allocable proportion of variable procurement and production costs
and fixed overheads in case of finished products, determined based on normal operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the esti-
mated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Pension plans

The pension plans of the parent company are arranged through pension insurance companies.
Pension expenses are accrued to correspond to the performance-based salaries in the financial
statements.

The Group has applied the so called cash pool arrangement, which enables efficient management
of the parent company's and subsidiaries' cash and cash equivalents.

Leases
All lease payments are recognised as rental expenses.

Financial Derivatives
Fair value measurement compliant with Chapter 5, section 2a of the Accounting Act is applied to
the accounting treatment of financial derivatives.

Derivatives are included in financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss when
they do not meet the criteria of hedge accounting. These derivatives are recognised at fair value
on the trade date and they are subsequently measured at fair value at the reporting date. The
fair values of derivatives equal the amount that Altia Plc would have to pay or it would receive
from the termination of the derivative contract at the reporting date. The fair values of forward
exchange contracts are determined by using the market prices at the reporting date. The fair
values of interest rate derivatives are determined by discounting the related future cash flows.
The valuation of commodity derivatives is determined based on the fair values received from the
financial markets.

All derivatives for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are cate-
gorised within the fair value hierarchy level 1-3. The levels of fair value hierarchy reflect the signif-
icance of inputs used in determining the fair values. In level one, fair values are based on public
quotations of identical financial instruments. In level two, the inputs used in determining the fair
values are based on quoted market rates and prices observable for the asset or liability in question
directly (i.e. price) or indirectly on discounted future cash flows. Fair values of other financial
assets and liabilities in level two reflect their carrying value. In level three, the fair values of assets
and liabilities are based on inputs that are not based on observable market data for all significant
variables, and instead are, to a significant extent, based on management estimates and their use in
generally accepted valuation techniques.

The fair values of the financial instruments are determined by using the market prices on the
closing date of the reporting period.
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Hedge accounting

The parent company applies hedge accounting when the change in fair value is recognised in the
hedge reserve under equity. In Altia Oyj, cash flow hedging is applied to part of the interest rate,
foreign currency and electricity derivatives based on case-by-case assessment. In cash flow hedg-
ing, Altia Qvyj is hedging against changes in cash flows related to a specific asset or liability recog-
nised in the balance sheet or to a highly probable future business transaction. In the beginning of
the hedging arrangement, company documents the relationship between each hedging instrument
and hedged item, as well as the objectives of risk management and the strategy in engaging in
hedging. Effectiveness means the ability of a hedging instrument to offset the changes in the fair
value of the hedged item or changes in the cash flows of the hedged transaction attributable to the
hedged risk. The hedging relationship is regarded to be highly effective when there is an economic
relationship between the hedged item and the value of the hedging instrument and the value of
the hedged item moves to the opposite direction due to same risk. Hedge accounting is discontin-
ued when the criteria for hedge accounting is no longer met.

The gains and losses arising from fair value changes of derivative contracts, to which hedge
accountingis applied, are presented in congruence with the hedged item. The effective portion of
the unrealised changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedg-
es are recognised in the hedge reserve in equity. The ineffective portion is immediately recognised
in profit or loss in finance income or expense.

The cumulative gain or loss in equity on derivative instruments related to commercial items is
recognised in profit or loss as an adjustment to purchases or sales simultaneously with the hedged
item in the period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss. Realised gain or loss on electrici-
ty derivatives is included in operating result in electricity procurement expenses. WWhen a hedging
instrument designated as a cash flow hedge expires, is sold or no longer meets the criteria of
hedge accounting, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised through profit or loss either
as an adjustment to purchases or sales when hedging is effective or as finance income or expense
when hedge accounting criteria is not met.
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Research and development expenditure
Research and development expenditure is recognised as an annual expense as incurred.

Financial securities
Financial securities are recognised at acquisition cost or lower.

Receivables
Receivables are measured at acquisition cost or probable value, if lower.

Sale of trade receivables
The sold receivables are derecognised when the receivable has been sold and the sales price for it
has been received. The related costs are recognised in other financial expenses.

Non-current financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities are recognised at acquisition cost.

Income taxes

Income taxes in the income statement include taxes calculated for the financial year based on
Finnish tax legislation, adjustments to taxes in previous financial years and the change in deferred
taxes.

Foreign currency denominated items
Foreign currency denominated receivables and liabilities are translated to Finnish currency at the
rates of the closing date of the reporting period.
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o
1. NET SALES
The average number of personnel 2019 2018
Net sales by business areas during the reporting period
Alcohol beverages 105.0 100.7 Workers 210 209
Industrial services 103.4 102.8 Clerical employees 208 218
Other 0.3 1.8 TOTAL 418 427
TOTAL 208.7 205.3
Net sales by geographic areas
Finland 157.0 154.9 Management remuneration, EUR million 2019 2018
Europe 50.3 493 CEO 0.3 0.6
Rest of the world 1.4 1.0 Board members 0.3 0.3
TOTAL 208.7 205.3
Pension commitments of the Board and CEO
The retirement age of the CEO of the company is 63 years.
2. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
4. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Rental income 11 10 EUR million 2019 2018
Income from energy sales 34 34 Rental expenses 20 22
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 0.0 0.5 Marketing expenses 5.9 6.2
Service income 11.6 13.3 Energy expenses 72 72
Other income 2.4 18 Travel and representation expenses 11 1.3
TOTAL 184 20.0 Repair and maintenance expenses 6.0 6.2
IT expenses 5.6 64
Qutsourcing services 5.4 6.8
3.NOTES RELATED TO PERSONNEL Variable sales expenses 55 57
Other expenses 74 8.6
EUR million 2019 2018 TOTAL 46.2 50.5
Wages and salaries 22.5 238 Auditor's fees
Pension expenses 6.0 5.8 Audit fees 02 01
Other social expenses 0.7 0.9 Tax consultation 00 00
TOTAL 29.2 306 Other fees 0.2 0.5
TOTAL 0.4 0.6
EUR million 2019 2018
Fringe benefits (taxable value) 0.7 0.7 Environmental expenses

The company's environmental expenses did not have a significant impact on the profit for the period and on
the financial position.
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5. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 6. APPROPRIATIONS
EUR million 2019 2018 EUR million 2019 2018
Dividend income Difference between depreciations according to plan and
From Group companies 277 67 depreciations made in taxation:
From participating interest undertakings 0.9 0.9 Intangible rights 0.1 03
From others B 01 Other intangible assets = -0.0
Total dividend income 286 78 Buildings and structures 0.8 0.7
Interest income Machinery and equipment 0.2 0.6
From Group companies 03 04 Other tangible assets -0.0 -0.0
From others 0.2 0.1 TOTAL 11 10
Total interest income 0.5 0.4
Other finance income
From others 27 33 7.INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Total other finance income 2.7 3.3
TOTAL FINANCE INCOME 31.9 g b nillion 2017 AU
Interest expenses Income taxes from current period -2.4 -1.7
To Group companies 0.2 0.1 Income taxes from previous periods 0.1 -0.1
Toothers 14 16 Change in deferred tax assets -0.1 0.1
Total interest expenses 1.6 1.7 TOTAL 25 17
Other finance expenses
To others 33 3.8
Total other finance expenses 3.3 3.8
TOTAL FINANCE EXPENSE 4.9 55
TOTAL FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 26.9 6.0
The following items are included in finance items of the
income statement from fair value hedges:
Other finance income
Fair value changes of derivatives -0.0 0.1
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8.SPECIFICATION OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS
EUR million 2019 2018 EUR million 2019 2018
Intangible assets Tangible assets
Intangible rights Land and water areas
Acquisition cost at 1 January 32.7 30.1 Acquisition cost at 1 January 24 2.5
Additions 0.1 09  Disposals - -00
Disposals i} 00 CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 24 24
Transfers between items 1.5 1.7 Buildings and structures
Acquisition cost at 31 December 34.3 32.7 Acquisition cost at 1 January 759 4.8
Accumulated amortisation at 1 January -20.7 -17.5 Additions - = 10
Accumulated amortisation on disposals and transfers - 0.0 E):asng:arlz between items 07 82
Amortisation for th? pe.r|od 87 82 Acquisition cost at 31 December 97.8 95.9
Accumulated amortisation at 31 December -24.3 -20.7 L
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January -74.0 -71.8
EARRVINGANM OIS DECENMEER 200 220 Accumulated depreciation on disposals and transfers = 0.5
Goodwill Depreciation for the period -2.7 -2.7
Acquisition cost at 1 January 17.6 17.6 Accumulated depreciation at 31 December -76.8 -74.0
Acquisition cost at 31 December 17.6 17.6 CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 21.0 21.9
Accumulated amortisation at 1 January -17.6 -17.6 Machinery and equipment
Accumulated amortisation at 31 December -17.6 -17.6 Acquisition cost at 1 January 1162 1101
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER - - Additions 1.3 30
Other intangible assets Disposals -0.0 1.0
Acquisition cost at 1 January 24.3 24.3 Transfers between items 0.8 40
Additions = 0.0 Acquisition cost at 31 December 118.3 116.2
Acquisition cost at 31 December 24.3 24.3 Accumulated depreciation at 1 January -88.4 -85.1
Accumulated amortisation at 1 January -16.6 -15.0 Accumulated depreciation on disposals and transfers 0.0 0.8
Amortisation for the period -1.6 -1.6 Depreciation for the period -3.8 -4.1
Accumulated amortisation at 31 December -18.2 -16.6 Accumulated depreciation at 31 December -92.2 -88.4
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 6.2 7.7 CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 26.1 27.8
Prepayments in intangible assets Other tangible assets
Acquisition cost at 1 January 1.7 28 Acquisition cost at 1 January 0.5 0.5
Additions 18 06 Acquisition cost at 31 December 0.5 0.5
Transfers between items 15 17 CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 0.5 0.5
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 20 17 Prepayments and assets under construction
Acquisition cost at 1 January 1.5 4.7
Additions 1.5 1.5
Transfers between items -1.5 -4.7
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 1.5 1.5
CARRYING AMOUNT OF MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 25.6 271

USED IN PRODUCTION AT 31 DECEMBER
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11. CURRENT RECEIVABLES
EUR million 2019 2018 EUR million 2019 2018
Investments Receivables from Group companies
Holdings in Group companies Trade receivables 3.2 3.0
Acquisition cost at 1 January 358.3 358.3 Loan receivables* 103.2 -
Additions 103.2 - Cash Pool receivables 0.5 0.4
Disposals -103.2 - Other receivables 4.6 4.8
Acquisition cost at 31 December 358.3 358.3 Derivatives 0.2 0.1
Accumulated impairment at 1 January -151.5 -151.5 Accrued income and prepaid expenses 1.4 3.9
Accumulated impairment at 31 December -151.5 -151.5 Total 113.0 12.2
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 206.8 206.8 Receivables from participating interest undertakings
Participating interests Trade receivables 0.1 0.1
Acquisition cost at 1 January 8.0 8.0 Total 0.1 0.1
Additions 0.2 - Receivables from others
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 8.2 8.0 Trade receivables ** 26.7 253
Other shares and investments Other receivables 0.0 0.0
Acquisition cost at 1 January 0.8 0.8 Accrued income and prepaid expenses 82 3.6
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 0.8 0.8 Total 29.9 29.0
TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES 143.1 41.3
9.INVENTORY Accrued income and prepaid expenses
Significant items in accrued income and prepaid expenses:
There is no significant difference between the repurchase price and cost of inventories. Derivatives 0.4 1.6
Taxes = 0.6
Others 2.9 1.5
10. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES Total 3.2 3.6

EUR million 2019 2018
Receivables from Group companies

Loan receivables 14.8 15.8
Deferred tax assets

Recognised in hedge reserve 0.2 -
Provisions = 0.1
Fixed assets deferred depreciations 0.4 0.4
Deferred tax assets total 0.6 0.5

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES 154 16.3

*

relates to Group internal structural changes
** Does not include the sold trade receivables
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12. DISCLOSURES ON FAIR VALUES (DERIVATIVES)

EUR million

Fair value
31 Dec
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2019
Changes in the fair

value recognised in
the income statement

Changes in the fair
value recognised in
fair value reserve

Fair value
31 Dec

2018

Changes in the fair
value recognised in
the income statement

Changes in the fair
value recognised in
fair value reserve

Derivative instruments

Interest rate derivatives (level 2) -1.2 - -1.2 -1.3 - -1.3
Foreign exchange derivatives (level 2) -0.2 -0.0 -0.2 0.1 0.1 -0.0
Commodity derivatives (level 2) 0.3 0.3 1.3 - 1.3
TOTAL -11 -0.0 -11 0.1 0.1 0.0
13. EQUITY 14. APPROPRIATIONS

EUR million 2019 2018 EUR million 2019 2018
Restricted equity Depreciation difference

Share capital at 1 January 60.5 60.5 Intangible rights 2.6 2.7
Share capital at 31 December 60.5 60.5 Other intangible assets 0.1 0.1
Hedge reserve at 1 January 0.0 -0.4 Buildings and structures 2.7 35
Additions and disposals -0.9 0.4 Machinery and equipment 15.1 15.3
Hedge reserve at 31 December -0.9 0.0 Other tangible assets -0.0 -0.0
Total restricted equity 59.6 60.5 TOTAL 20.5 21.6
Unrestricted equity

Invested unrestricted equity fund 1.2 1.2

Retained earnings at 1 January 70.9 56.8 15. LIABILITIES

Distribution of dividends =137 -

Profit for the period 38.6 14.1 EUR million 2019 2018
Total unrestricted equity 96.9 721 Non-current

TOTALEQUITY 156.6 132.6 Loans from financial institutions 65.0 70.0
Distributable unrestricted equity Loans from pension institutions 11.3 12.8
Calculation of distributable equity Liabilities to Group companies 2.0 1.8
Invested unrestricted equity fund 12 1.2 Deferred tax liabilities - 0.0
Retained earnings 70.9 56.8 Other liabilities 4.9 4.9
Distribution of dividends 137 - TOTAL 83.2 89.5
Profit for the period 38.6 14.1

TOTAL DISTRIBUTABLE UNRESTRICTED EQUITY 96.9 721

Company's share capital:

Number of shares outstanding at the end of the period 36 140485 36 140485
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16.LIABILITIES TO GROUP COMPANIES 18. COLLATERALS AND COMMITMENTS
EUR million 2019 2018 EUR million 2019 2018
Trade payables 0.7 1.3 Collaterals given on behalf of the Group companies
Liabilities to Group companies* 103.2 29.3 Mortgages 18.5 18.5
Cash Pool liabilities 102.1 84.3 Guarantees 5.9 5.3
Derivative instruments 0.0 0.1 TOTAL COLLATERALS 244 238
Other accrued expenses 24 2.8 Commitments and other contingencies
TOTAL 208.4 117.7 Operating and finance lease obligations
*relates to Group internal structural changes Not [ater than one year 0.6 06
Later than one year 0.7 0.5
17. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME Total L 12 11
Lease obligations
EUR million 2019 2018 Not later than one year 0.6 0.7
Significant items under accrued expenses: Later than one year 08 14
Holiday pay and other wages and salaries 5.1 54 Total 15 21
Contract discount 0.7 0.5 Other obligations
Procurement expenses and other accrued expenses 9.6 7.9 Not later than one year 51 36
Taxes 08 B Total 51 3.6
Derivative instruments 1.7 1.5 TOTAL COMMITMENTS 7.8 6.8

TOTAL 17.8 153
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VAT liability for real estate investments

The company is liable to review VAT deductions made for real estate investments completed in
2011-2019 if the use subject to VAT decreases during the review period. The maximum liability is
EUR 1.3 million and the last year to review is 2028.

Derivative contracts 2019 2018
EUR million
Electricity derivatives

Fair value 0.3 1.3

Nominal value 1.3 1.9

Amount (TWh) 0.1 0.1
Parent company's external forward exchange contracts

Fair value -0.4 0.1

Nominal value 28.3 64.6
Parent company's internal forward exchange contracts

Fair value 0.2 0.0

Nominal value 13.8 18.9
Interest rate derivatives

Fair value -1.2 -1.3

Nominal value 20.0 20.0
Emission allowances (kilotons) 2019 2018
Emission allowances received 264 26.9
Excess emission allowances from the previous year 30.6 45.6
Adjustments related to prior year's estimates -0.0 0.0
Sold emission allowances -33.0 -20.0
Realised emissions -20.0 -21.9
EMISSION ALLOWANCES AT 31 DECEMBER 4.0 30.6
Fair value of the remaining emission allowances, EUR million 0.1 0.7

The received emission allowances and the realised emission of the year 2019 are estimates which
will be adjusted during spring 2020 if necessary. Altia continues to operate within the emission
trading system for the trading period 2013-2020.

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions are carried out at market value. More information about related party
transactions is presented in Group Note 6.3. Management remuneration is presented in Altia Plc
Note 3.
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Board of Directors’ proposal for the distribution of profits The Auditors’ Note
According to the balance sheet at 31 December 2019, Altia Plc’s distributable earnings amount ~ An auditor’s report concerning the performed audit has been given to date.
to EUR 96,936,528.11 including profit for the period of EUR 38,585,786.54.

Helsinki, 12 February 2020
There have been no significant changes to the parent company’s financial position at the end of the
financial year. PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorised Public Accountants
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.42 per
share be paid for the financial year 2019.

Signatures to the Board of Directors’ Report and to the financial statements Ylva Eriksson

Authorised Public Accountant
Helsinki, 12 February 2020

Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae

Chairman
Anette Rosengren Kim Henriksson Tiina Lencioni
Torsten Steenholt Kai Telanne Jukka Ohtola

Pekka Tennila
CEO
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AllditOI"S RGI)OI‘t (Translation of the Finnish Original) Independence

To the Annual General Meeting of Altia Oyj We are independent of the parent company and of the group companies in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our audit, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements To the best of our knowledge and belief, the non-audit services that we have provided to the par-
Opinion ent company and to the group companies are in accordance with the applicable law and regula-
In our opinion tions in Finland and we have not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5(1)
e the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position  of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. The non-audit services that we have provided are disclosed in

and financial performance and cash flows in accordance with International Financial Report- note 1.6 to the Financial Statements.

ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU
« thefinancial statements give a true and fair view of the parent company’s financial perfor- Our Audit Approach

mance and financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the Overview

preparation of the financial statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements.

MATERIALITY
Our opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee. e Overall group materiality: € 3.5 million
MATERIALITY

What we have audited GROUP SCOPING

We have audited the financial statements of Altia Oyj (business identity code 1505555-7) for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The financial statements comprise:
e theconsolidated balance sheet, income statement, statement of comprehensive income,

e Thegroup audit included the parent
company and all significant subsidiaries
covering the vast majority of net sales,

statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes, including a summary of assets and liabilities.

significant accounting policies

GROUP
e theparent company’s balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows and notes.

SCOPING KEY AUDIT MATTERS
¢ Revenuerecognition
e Valuation of inventories

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. Our responsibilities
under good auditing practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report.

KEY AUDIT

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a MATTERS

basis for our opinion.
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As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to ob-
tain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materi-
ality, including the overall group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as set out in
the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope
of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of
misstatements on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality € 3.5 million

How we determined it 1% of net sales

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

The group’s result has been volatile over the last few
years and the profitability has been impacted e.g. by fluc-
tuations in barley prices. Therefore, we chose net sales as
the benchmark because it provides a consistent year-on-
year basis for determining materiality. In addition, it is a
benchmark against which the performance of the group
is commonly measured by users.

We used 1 % of net sales, which is within the range of
acceptable quantitative materiality thresholds in auditing
standards.

How we tailored our group audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit, taking into account the structure of the group, the accounting
processes and controls, and the size, complexity and risks of individual subsidiaries. Altia Group
has operations in the Nordic countries, Baltics and France. The main accounting areas for subsidi-
aries inthe Nordic countries are handled centrally in Finland.

We performed group audit procedures on all significant account balances covering the vast major-
ity of the group’s net sales, assets and liabilities. In addition, we performed analytical procedures
at group level of the remaining balances.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that repre-
sented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
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Key audit matter in the audit

of the group

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 1.1 in the consolidated financial
statements

Altia’s revenue flows are generated by the
sale of own products and partner brands,
contract manufacturing and sale of industrial
products.

The transaction price may include variable
considerations such as volume discounts,
bonuses, marketing support and product
returns.

Due to a variety of contractual terms, the
calculation of period’s variable components
is a complex accounting area that include
management judgement. We have accord-
ingly considered the risk that revenue is not
recorded in the correct period to be a key
audit matter.

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included e.g. the
following:

¢ We gained an understanding of the na-
ture of the revenue flows and different
contractual terms used.

We compared the accounting treatment
of a sample of sales transactions and
variable consideration to the terms of
underlying contracts.

o Weassessed the Group's accounting
policies over revenue recognition.

o Wetested asample of sales transactions
against incoming cash.

o Wetested asample of sales invoices re-
corded in December 2019 and January
2020 to evaluate that revenue had been
recognised in the right period.

e Forselected revenue and accounts re-
ceivable balances we obtained customer
confirmations.

Key audit matter in the audit
of the group

Valuation of inventory

Refer to note 2.4 in the consolidated financial
statements

Inventory forms a significant part of the
Group's assets, amounting to EUR 92,0
million as of 31 December 2019.
Inventories are measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Self-manufac-
tured products are measured at standard
prices or weighted average cost. Fixed
production costs are allocated to the cost of
own production.

Management exercises judgement and ap-
plies assumptions when estimating the need
for an obsolescence provision. This includes
identification of slow moving and seasonal
products, changes in product portfolio and
consideration of sales forecasts.

Given the factors described above, we have
considered valuation of inventory to be a key
audit matter.

We have no key audit matters to report with respect to our audit of the parent company financial statements.
There are no significant risks of material misstatement referred to in Article 10(2c) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 with respect to the consolidated financial statements or the parent

company financial statements.

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Our audit procedures included e.g. the
following:

¢ We gained an understanding of the con-
trols established in relation to inventory
valuation.

e Weassessed the adequacy of the obso-
lescence provision and checked adher-
ence to the Group's accounting policy.

*  Wetested, onasample basis, the accu-
racy of cost for self-manufactured prod-
ucts by comparing the actual production
costs to market and other price data.

o Wetested asample of inventory items
to confirm whether they are held at the
lower of cost and net realisable value,
through comparison to vendor invoices
and sales prices.

o Forasample of warehouses, we attend-
ed the physical stock-take counting or
reconciled third party confirmations
with the accounting records.



@ BUSINESS BOARD CORPORATE FINANCIAL
OVERVIEW REPORT SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 191
@

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the

Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of consoli-
dated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of financial statements that give a true

and fair view in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of financial
statements in Finland and comply with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors and the
Managing Director are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for assessing the parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going con-
cern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting. The financial statements are prepared using the going concern basis of accounting
unless there is an intention to liquidate the parent company or the group or to cease operations,
or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audi-
tor’'s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with good auditing practice will always detect
amaterial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are con-
sidered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing practice, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrep-

resentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent company’s or the group’s internal control.

» FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of account-
ing estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude onthe appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the parent company’s or the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the parent company
or the group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events so that the financial statements give a true and fair view.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the enti-
ties or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant defi-
ciencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with rel-
evant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relation-
ships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
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period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Other Reporting Requirements

Appointment

We were first appointed as auditors by the annual general meeting on 29 March 2016. Our ap-
pointment represents a total period of uninterrupted engagement of 4 years.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the report of the Board of Directors and the information included in
the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
We have obtained the report of the Board of Directors prior to the date of this auditor’s report
and the Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. With respect to the report of the Board of Directors, our
responsibility also includes considering whether the report of the Board of Directors has been
prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion

e theinformationinthe report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in
the financial statements

e thereport of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable
laws and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Helsinki 12 February 2020

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Authorised Public Accountants

Ylva Eriksson
Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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Strong result in an exceptional market

environment

January—June 2020 compared to January—June 2019
+  Reported net sales decreased by 9.5% to EUR 149.3 (165.0) million

. In constant currencies, net sales decreased by 8.4%

«  The Finland & Exports segment’s net sales were EUR 53.0 (59.6) million

*  The Scandinavia segment’s net sales were EUR 50.1 (50.7) million; in constant currencies net sales grew by 2.5%

« Altia Industrial’s net sales were EUR 46.1 (54.7) million

«  Comparable EBITDA was EUR 18.8 (13.7) million, 12.6% (8.3%) of net sales
. Reported EBITDA was EUR 18.0 (13.5) million, 12.1% (8.2%) of net sales

«  Net cash flow from operating activities was EUR 10.3 (-4.0) million

* Net debt / comparable EBITDA (rolling 12 months) was 0.6 (2.0)

April-June 2020 compared to April-June 2019

. Reported net sales were EUR 81.0 (91.2) million

* In constant currencies, net sales decreased by 10.3% compared to previous year
*  Comparable EBITDA was EUR 13.2 (9.4) million, 16.3% (10.4%) of net sales
. Reported EBITDA was EUR 12.6 (9.2) million, 15.5% (10.1%) of net sales

*  Guidance remains suspended due to the prolonged uncertainties related to COVID-19. A new guidance will be
provided if the impacts of COVID-19 on the operating environment and business conditions can be assessed in a

reliable manner.

This half-year report has been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting as approved by the EU. The figures in the report are unaudited. A reconciliation of alternative key ratios to IFRS

figures is presented in appendix 1 on page 32.

KEY FIGURES

Net sales, EUR million
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million
% of net sales
EBITDA, EUR million
Comparable operating result, EUR million
% of net sales
Operating result, EUR million
Result for the period, EUR million
Earnings per share, EUR
Net cash flow from operating activities, EUR million
Net debt / comparable EBITDA, rolling 12 months

Average number of personnel

Q220 Q219 H120 H119 2019
81.0 91.2 149.3 165.0 359.6

13.2 9.4 18.8 13.7 44.8
16.3 10.4 12.6 8.3 12.4
12.6 9.2 18.0 13.5 43.1
8.9 5.0 9.9 4.7 26.8
10.9 5.5 6.7 2.9 7.5
8.2 4.8 9.2 4.5 25.1
6.1 3.6 7.5 4.0 18.4
0.17 0.10 0.21 0.11 0.51
25.7 24.7 10.3 -4.0 52.6
0.6 2.0 0.6 2.0 0.6
659 705 651 701 682
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o
CEO Pekka Tennila:

“Considering the exceptional conditions, | am proud to say that we are managing the COVID-19 crisis extremely well,
and Altia has shown resilience. During the second quarter of 2020, COVID-19 impacted our business significantly and it
brought uncertainties to our operating environment. We reacted quickly to keep our operations running efficiently and
stayed active in the sales channels that remained open, while securing the safety of our employees. At the same time, we
made an important contribution to society by meeting the high demand for denatured ethanol for hand sanitisers. To
mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 we implemented remote and part-time work as well as temporary lay-offs and cost
savings measures. | want to express my sincere thanks to all our skilled employees for their commitment and hard work
during these challenging times.

In Q2, the important sales channels - travel retail, on-trade and exports - were closed and our beverage net sales
decreased, but not in the extent that we expected in the Q1 report. With consumers shifting purchases to the
monopolies, the volume growth in the monopolies has been at an all-time high. Our performance in the monopoly
channel has been strong led by double-digit net sales growth in spirits in all monopoly countries. Net sales in the
Finland & Exports segment declined due to sales in travel retail, exports and on-trade being close to zero. However, in
Finland, sales growth in the monopoly and grocery trade channels, and our focus on revenue management increased
total beverage sales and improved profitability. In the Scandinavia segment, the reported net sales decline was driven by
lower sales in Denmark due to the new business model and the closing of on-trade. In Sweden, our overall sales grew
with strong growth in spirits sales, supported by market share growth in the strategically important gin, rum and liqueur
categories. In Norway, performance was strong across all categories and we have continued to gain market share.

In Altia Industrial, thanks to a strong commitment by our employees and a clear focus on production continuity, our
operations have run without major disruptions during the crisis. In industrial products, our performance was solid,
driven by strong ethanol sales partly due to the increased demand for hand sanitisers. On the contract manufacturing
side, we have seen a decline in volumes due to COVID-19. We are, however, extremely pleased about the renewal of the
Finlandia Vodka production agreement with Brown-Forman. The renewed agreement runs until 2035 and continues a
long-lasting strategic collaboration between Altia and Brown-Forman, which began already in 2000.

In the first half of the year, our profitability improved significantly from the previous year and all segments improved in
a tough environment. Altia Industrial’s strong result improvement is due to the normalised barley price and the high
volumes of technical ethanol. In both consumer segments, strong sales growth in the monopoly channel, revenue
management and cost savings measures implemented throughout the organisation have supported positive profitability
development. Comparable Group EBITDA improved by 37% or EUR 5.1 million to EUR 18.8 (13.7) million.

Altia’s financial position strengthened further during the first six months with a solid positive development of net cash
flow from operations. The improvement of EBITDA and the positive development of net working capital contributed to
the development and net cash flow from operations totalled EUR 10.3 (-4.0) million at the end of the period. Also, the
liquidity position of the Group has remained strong throughout the period.
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Altia is a forerunner in sustainability in our industry. For us, sustainability is both a strategic priority and a key success
factor in business. In April, our sustainability work was recognised with a Gold Medal in the EcoVadis Corporate Social
Responsibility rating. More than 55 000 companies were rated by EcoVadis and Altia was ranked among the top 2%. We
got positive feedback for our advanced management system in environmental topics.

Preliminary forecasts for the barley harvest have been published and based on these the barley crop this year is likely to
be smaller than last year, but in line with the long-term average crop.

Guidance for the rest of the year remains suspended due to the prolonged uncertainties related to COVID-19. New
guidance will be provided if the impacts of COVID-19 on the operating environment and business conditions can be
assessed in a reliable manner.”
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Financial review

Seasonality

Substantial seasonal fluctuations in the consumption of alcoholic beverages impact Altia’s net sales and cash flow. The
company typically generates large amounts of its revenue and cash flow during the fourth quarter of the year, and
significantly lower amounts during the first quarter. In addition, excise taxes related to the high season at the end of the
year are paid in January, resulting in large cash outflows at the beginning of the year.

Net sales

H1

In January-June, reported net sales decreased by 9.5% to EUR 149.3 (165.0) million. In constant currencies, net sales
decreased by 8.4%. The decline in net sales is due to COVID-19 restrictions which have closed the travel retail, exports
and on-trade sales channels, and has significantly impacted contract manufacturing volumes. Furthermore, the
normalised barley price and the business model change in Denmark (Q2 2019) have impacted net sales negatively.

The impacts of the COVID-19 restrictions are visible across all beverage categories. Net sales of beverage products in
constant currencies decreased by 4.9%. In the monopoly channel, where market volumes have been at an exceptionally
high level, Altia’s net sales have grown, mainly driven by double-digit net sales growth in spirits in all three monopolies
and solid growth in wine. Partner portfolio changes in Q2 impacted wine sales slightly negatively. The net sales decline
in Other beverages is due to partner portfolio changes last year.

Q2

In the second quarter, reported net sales decreased by 11.1% to EUR 81.0 (91.2) million. In constant currencies, net sales
decreased by 10.3%. In Q2, partner changes in the wine portfolio have impacted wine sales negatively. In addition, the
release of a tax provision (EUR 0.5 million) in Q2 2019 impacts year-on-year comparison negatively.

NET SALES BY SEGMENT

EUR million Q219 Change, % H1 20 H1 19 Change, % 2019
Finland & Exports 29.2 34.7 -15.9 53.0 59.6 -11.2 128.6
Scandinavia 28.1 29.0 -3.0 50.1 50.7 -1.1 120.7
Altia Industrial 23.8 27.5 -13.7 46.1 54.7 -15.6 110.2
Total 81.0 91.2 -11.1 149.3 165.0 -9.5 359.6
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NET SALES BY PRODUCT CATEGORY

EUR million Change, % Change, % 2019
Spirits 28.8 31.6 -9.0 53.2 56.3 -5.5 121.3
Wine 28.0 30.9 -9.3 48.8 52.3 -6.7 1249
Other beverages 0.5 1.2 -57.4 1.2 1.7 -29.4 3.1
Industrial products and services 23.8 27.5 -13.7 46.1 54.7 -15.6  110.2
Total 81.0 91.2 -11.1  149.3 165.0 -9.5 359.6

Profitability and result for the period

H1

In January-June, comparable EBITDA, i.e. EBITDA excluding items affecting comparability (IAC), was EUR 18.8 (13.7)
million, which is 12.6% (8.3%) of net sales. In January-June, items affecting comparability totalled EUR -0.7 (-0.2) million
and were related to restructuring and costs related to the closed voluntary pension scheme. Reported EBITDA was EUR
18.0 (13.5) million.

For the first half of the year, the improvement in comparable EBITDA amounted to EUR 5.1 milllion. The drivers of this
solid profitability development are Altia Industrial segment, strong sales and continued focus on revenue management
in the monopolies, and Group-wide cost savings.

Altia Industrial’s comparable EBITDA improved by EUR 3.8 million to EUR 7.1 (3.3) million. The normalised barley price
and the strong demand for technical ethanol have fully offset the negative impact from lower contract manufacturing
volumes.

Due to COVID-19 restrictions the activity level has been low in travel retail, exports and on-trade. However, despite the
negative impact due to the restrictions, profitablity has improved in both consumer segments. In the Finland & Exports
segment, comparable EBITDA improved by EUR 0.1 million to EUR 8.3 (8.2) million. Strong sales development in the
monopoly channel, revenue management and the implemented cost savings measures have offset the significant profit
shortfall from travel retail, exports and on-trade. In the Baltics, sales and profit development was positive. In the
Scandinavia segment, comparable EBITDA improved by EUR 1.1 million to EUR 2.8 (1.7) million. The solid sales to the
monopolies, revenue management and the implemented cost savings measures have compensated for the shortfall in
on-trade. Further, in the Scandinavia segment, the comparable EBITDA was impacted negatively by the development of
the exchange rates, especially the Norwegian krona.

The release of a tax provision (EUR 0.5 million) in Q2 2019 impacts year-on-year comparison negatively.

COMPARABLE EBITDA BY SEGMENT

EUR million Q2 20 Q219 H1 20 H1 19 2019
Finland & Exports 5.5 5.3 8.3 8.2 20.6
Scandinavia 2.9 2.0 2.8 1.7 12.1
Altia Industrial 4.9 2.3 7.1 3.3 11.4
Other -0.1 -0.2 0.6 0.5 0.7
Total 13.2 9.4 18.8 13.7 44.8
% net sales 16.3 10.4 12.6 8.3 12.4
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ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY

EUR million Q2 20 Q219 H1 20 H1 19 2019
Comparable EBITDA 13.2 9.4 18.8 13.7 44.8
Net gains or losses from business and assets disposals = -0.1 = -0.1 0.1
Costs for closure of business operations and restructurings -0.2 -0.1 -0.3 -0.1 -0.2

Major corporate projects

Costs related to the closed voluntary pension scheme -0.5 - -0.5 - -1.6
Total items affecting comparability -0.7 -0.2 -0.7 -0.2 -1.7
EBITDA 12.6 9.2 18.0 13.5 43.1

Items affecting comparability are presented in appendix 1 on page 32.

In January-June, other operating income amounted to EUR 2.9 (3.9) million, including proceeds of sales of fixed assets
of EUR 0.0 (0.0) million; income from the sales of emission allowances of EUR 0.0 (0.5) million; income from the sales of
mainly steam, energy and water of EUR 1.6 (1.6) million; and rental income of EUR 0.7 (0.7) million.

Employee benefit expenses totalled EUR 23.0 (23.1) million, including EUR 17.6 (17.9) million in wages and salaries.
Accruals for short-term incentives are not included in the H1 2019 numbers.

Other operating expenses amounted to EUR 27.1 (32.9) million.

Net financial expenses amounted to EUR 1.0 (1.1) million. The share of profit in associates and joint ventures and
income from interests in joint operations totalled EUR 1.1 (1.2) million.

Taxes for the first six months were EUR 1.9 (0.7) million which corresponds to an effective tax rate of 20.0% (15.4%).

The result for the period amounted to EUR 7.5 (4.0) million, and earnings per share were EUR 0.21 (0.11).

Q2
In the second quarter, comparable EBITDA was EUR 13.2 (9.4) million, 16.3% (10.4%) of net sales. Iltems affecting
comparability totalled EUR -0.7 (-0.2) million. Reported EBITDA was EUR 12.6 (9.2) million.

Cash flow, balance sheet and investments

H1

In January-June, net cash flow from operations totalled EUR 10.3 (-4.0) million. The strong development in net cash flow
from operations was driven by the improved EBITDA and the positive development in net working capital. All working
capital items developed positively. The receivables sold amounted to EUR 67.1 (61.0) million at the end of the period.
The increase in sold receivables relates to the increased receivables from the monopolies due to higher sales in the
monopoly channels in Sweden and Finland together with calendar effect.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s net debt amounted to EUR 29.9 (81.3) million. Cash and cash equivalents
amounted to EUR 101.2 (27.7) million while the interest-bearing debt amounted to EUR 131.1 (109.0) million. Gearing
ratio at the end of the reporting period was 20.0% (59.1%) while the equity ratio was 34.9% (35.5%). The reported net
debt to comparable EBITDA was 0.6 (2.0) times. Altia Group’s liquidity position has been strong throughout the period
due to the positive development of operational cash flow and due to the actions to secure liquidity during the pandemic
by issuing commercial papers.

The Group has a revolving credit facility of EUR 60.0 (60.0) million, of which EUR 0.0 (0.0) million was in use at the end

of the reporting period. The nominal value of commercial papers issued amounted to EUR 45.0 (14.0) million at the end
of the reporting period.
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The total in the consolidated balance sheet was EUR 428.9 (387.7) million at the end of the period. The growth of the
total balance sheet is related to the excess cash position maintained by the Group following commercial paper issues
and a strong operational cash flow.

In January-June, gross capital expenditure totalled EUR 2.5 (3.2) million. Capital expenditure was related to production

process investments at Rajamaki and a number of smaller improvement and maintenance investments at the Rajamaki
and Koskenkorva plants have been carried out.

Q2

In the second quarter, net cash flow from operations totalled EUR 25.7 (24.7) million.

BALANCE SHEET KEY FIGURES

H1 20 H1 19 2019
Reported net debt / comparable EBITDA 0.6 2.0 0.6
Borrowings, EUR million 121.8 97.3 82.6
Net debt, EUR million 29.9 81.3 28.9
Equity ratio, % 34.9 35.5 37.8
Gearing, % 20.0 59.1 19.1
Capital expenditure, EUR million -2.5 -3.2 -6.8
Total assets, EUR million 428.9 387.7 400.2

Impacts of COVID-19

The restrictions and instructions from governments and health authorities have a significant impact on Altia’s operating
environment. The visibility for the rest of the year continues to be poor and forecasting is difficult. Uncertainty in the
economy remains at a high level and the risk of an economic slowdown is high. COVID-19 key impacts and uncertainties
are described below.

Consumer beverages (Finland & Exports and Scandinavia segments)
. Sales to the monopolies and the grocery trade are affected by the recovery of travel retail and on-trade channels.

. Despite consumers shifting purchases of alcoholic beverages to monopolies and the exceptionally high monopoly
volumes, the sales to monopolies will not compensate the shortfall coming from travel retail, exports and on-trade.

. A possible second wave of COVID-19 could impact consumer behaviour.

+  The recovery of travel retail, exports and on-trade depends on the level and extent of governmental restrictions and
recommendations on travelling, movement and social distancing.

«  The pace of recovery is difficult to estimate. It is affected by changes in consumer behaviour and expected to vary
across sales channels: on-trade channels could be expected to recover faster than travel retail.

. Uncertainty in the sales to the monopoly channel is related to 1) the monopoly channel remaining open and
continuing normal operations which could be dependent on for example the health of the monopolies’ personnel
and political decision-making, and to 2) Altia’s ability to deliver products.

Altia Industrial

. Uncertainty is high both in industrial products and services. The demand for starch has slightly weakened due to
the soft paper industry market. The stable development of feed component volumes are expected to continue. The
demand for technical ethanol is expected to remain at a higher level than in the previous year. Volumes in industrial
services are expected to be negatively impacted by COVID-19.

. Uncertainty in Altia’s ability to deliver to the open sales channels (monopolies and grocery trade) relates to the
availability of products and raw materials such as bulk wine, partner goods and dry goods.

. Uncertainty in production is related to the health and safety of Altia’s employees and the availability of machinery
spare parts and maintenance workforce.
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Measures to adjust cost structure

. Close follow-up of sales and profitability development continues, and additional cost savings actions are
implemented when necessary.

Group financial position

*  The strict focus on net working capital management will continue in the upcoming quarters together with other
liquidity securing actions.

. Due to the COVID-19 uncertainties, Altia has assessed the impact of the pandemic on its financial position and has
considered the values of assets and liabilities that include critical accounting estimates and require management
judgement. Based on this assessment, Altia has not identified any indication of goodwill impairment.

. The credit risk of trade receivables and the amount of bad debt provision has been analysed at the end of reporting
period with the conclusion being there is sufficient provision in place.
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Market development in January—June

The exceptionally high market volumes in the Nordic monopolies are related to COVID-19 restrictions and consumers
shifting purchases from travel retail and on-trade to the monopolies. In January-June, the market volumes in the Nordic
monopolies grew in total by 15.6%. Spirits grew by 15.7% and wine by 15.6%.

DEVELOPMENT OF WINE AND SPIRITS SALES VOLUMES IN THE NORDIC RETAIL MONOPOLIES

% change compared to previous year Q2 20 Q219 H1 20 H1 19 2019
Nordics, total sales volumes +20.9 +2.4 +15.6 -1.3 +0.1
Spirits +23.3 +4.8 +15.7 0.0 +1.0
Wine +20.6 +2.0 +15.6 -1.5 +0.0
Finland, total sales volumes +21.5 +0.8 +14.6 -2.9 -2.6
Spirits +16.3 +0.3 +10.1 -2.4 -2.0
Wine +23.3 +1.0 +16.4 -3.1 -2.8
Sweden, total sales volumes +12.2 +2.3 +10.0 -0.7 +1.0
Spirits +24.1 +7.9 +17.4 +2.3 +3.9
Wine +11.1 +1.8 +9.3 -1.0 +0.7
Norway, total sales volumes +45.7 +4.0 +32.7 -1.6 +0.4
Spirits +34.4 +7.7 +23.1 +0.3 +1.6
Wine +47.4 +3.5 +34.2 -1.9 +0.2

Source: Based on sales volumes by litre published by Alko, Systembolaget, Vinmonopolet.

Finland

In January-June, the Finnish retail monopoly’s spirits and wine sales volumes were up by 14.6% compared with the same
period last year.

Spirits category grew by 10.1%. The high growth categories were whiskies, rum and gin. The wine category grew by
16.4%. The large red and white wine categories grew by 17.3% and 19.0% respectively. Rosé wines grew by 46.5%.

Sweden

In January-June, the Swedish retail monopoly’s spirits and wine volumes were up by 10.0% compared with the same
period last year.

The spirits category grew by 17.4%. The high growth categories were whiskies, gin, rum and bitters. The wine category
grew by 9.3%. The large red and white wine categories grew by 7.0% and 9.8% respectively. Rosé wines grew by 22.7%.

Norway

In January-June, the Norwegian retail monopoly’s spirits and wine volumes were up by 32.7% compared with the same
period last year.

The spirits category grew by 23.1%. The high growth categories were aquavit, gin, rum and whiskies. The wine category
grew by 34.2% with all categories show exceptional growth rates.
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Business Review

Finland & Exports

The Finland & Exports segment comprises the import, sale and marketing of wines, spirits and other beverages in
Finland and the Baltics, as well as exports and travel retail.

Q220 Q219 Change, % H120 H119 Change, % 2019

Net sales, EUR million 29.2 34.7 -15.9 53.0 59.6 -11.2 128.6
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million 5.5 5.3 4.4 8.3 8.2 0.6 20.6
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales 18.9 15.2 15.6 13.8 16.0
Average number of personnel 91 90 90 93 89
EUR million Change, % Change, %

Spirits 15.7 19.2 -18.2 30.5 34.6 -11.8 75.1
Wine 13.1 15.2 -13.7 21.9 24.6 -11.0 52.5
Other beverages 0.4 0.3 18.5 0.6 0.4 50.0 1.0
Total 29.2 34.7 -15.9 53.0 59.6 -11.2 128.6
Net sales

In January-June, net sales in the Finland & Exports segment were EUR 53.0 (59.6) million, down by 11.2% from the
previous year. The decline is due to the sales drop in travel retail, exports and on-trade following COVID-19 restrictions
issued in March. Altia’s net sales in the monopoly channel grew as consumers shifted purchases to the monopoly. Net
sales growth in the monopoly was driven mainly by the double-digit net sales growth in spirits and bag-in-box wines.
Partner portfolio changes in Q2 impacted wine sales slightly negatively. Net sales in the grocery trade channel grew
slightly. In the Baltics, domestic grocery trade continued a stable positive development.

In the second quarter net sales were EUR 29.2 (34.7) million, down by 15.9% from the previous year. The gradual lifting
of COVID-19 restrictions in Finland started in June, but the recovery of the affected sales channels was slow. In Q2,
partner changes in the wine portfolio has impacted wine sales negatively. In addition, the release of a tax provision (EUR
0.5 million) in Q2 2019 impacts year-on-year comparison negatively.

Comparable EBITDA

In January-June, comparable EBITDA was EUR 8.3 (8.2) million, 15.6% (13.8%) of net sales. The positive channel mix,
revenue management and the implemented cost savings measures have offset the negative impact of lost volumes in
travel retail, exports and on-trade.

In the second quarter, comparable EBITDA was EUR 5.5 (5.3) million, 18.9% (15.2%) of net sales. The release of a tax
provision (EUR 0.5 million) in Q2 2019 impacts year-on-year comparison negatively.

Business events

Altia has partnered with Underberg to enter the German market with Koskenkorva Vodka and O.P. Anderson Aquavit.
The long-term partnership includes the sales, marketing and distribution of Koskenkorva Vodka Original and O.P.
Anderson Original Aquavit.

Altia has launched several new innovations in Finland during the period. The Koskenkorva Vodka brand was extended
with Koskenkorva 7 Botanicals, Koskenkorva Lemon and Koskenkorva Mojito. Further, Koskenkorva Green, the first
organic ready-to-drink product in the Koskenkorva RTD offering was launched. Leijona brand was extended with new
mild spirits such as Leijona Bahama Mango Mojito and Leijona Yuzu Raspberry, and a shot with a smoky flavour, Leijona
Savu.

Thanks to the persistent long-term work in search engine and campaign optimisation the traffic to Viinimaa.fi continued
growing: +27 % during the first half of 2020 compared to the previous year. In June, we experienced an all time record
number, over 179 000 visits in a month.
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Scandinavia

The Scandinavia segment comprises the import, sale and marketing of wines, spirits and other beverages in Sweden,
Norway and Denmark.

Change,% H120 H119 Change, % 2019

Net sales, EUR million 28.1 29.0 -3.0 50.1 50.7 -1.1  120.7
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million 2.9 2.0 45.9 2.8 1.7 67.8 12.1
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales 10.4 6.9 5.5 3.3 10.0
Average number of personnel 74 74 72 80 74
EUR million Q2 20 Q219 Change, % H1 20 H1 19 Change, % 2019
Spirits 13.1 12.4 5.3 22.7 21.7 4.6 46.2
Wine 14.9 15.7 -5.1 26.9 27.7 -2.9 72.4
Other beverages 0.2 0.9 -82.7 0.5 1.3 -61.5 2.1
Total 28.1 29.0 -3.0 50.1 50.7 -1.1 120.7
Net sales

In January-June, the Scandinavia segment’s net sales were EUR 50.1 (50.7) million, down by 1.1% from the previous year
due to the business model change in Denmark (Q2 2019). In constant currencies, net sales grew by 2.5%. Altia’s net
sales in the monopoly channels grew as consumers shifted purchases to the monopolies. In Sweden, the double-digit
sales growth in spirits was supported by solid sales and market share growth in the strategically important gin, rum and
liqueur categories. In Norway, net sales growth was strong across all categories and market share development was
positive. COVID-19 restrictions have impacted on-trade negatively. Partner portfolio changes in Q2 impacted wine sales
slightly negatively. The net sales decline in Other beverages is due to partner portfolio changes last year.

In the second quarter net sales were EUR 28.1 (29.0) million, down by 3.0% from the previous year due to the business
model change in Denmark (Q2 2019). In constant currencies, net sales decreased by 0.6%. The gradual lifting of COVID-
19 restrictions in the Norwegian on-trade started in May, but the recovery was slow. In Q2, partner changes in the wine
portfolio has impacted wine sales negatively.

Comparable EBITDA

In January-June, comparable EBITDA was EUR 2.8 (1.7) million, 5.5% (3.3%) of net sales. Profitability improvement is
related to growth in monopoly sales, revenue management and implemented cost savings measures. Comparable
EBITDA was impacted negatively by the development of the exchange rates, especially the Norwegian krona.

In the second quarter, comparable EBITDA was EUR 2.9 (2.0) million, 10.4% (6.9%) of net sales.

Business events

Altia has made several product launches in Sweden and Norway during the period. The O.P. Anderson brand was
extended with an organic dry gin, which was awarded the Master medal in July by Spirits Business in the category
London Dry Gin. Other successful gin launches included Explorer Pink Gin and Hernd Pink Gin. Koskenkorva liqueurs
such as Koskenkorva Ginger and Koskenkorva Lemon were introduced. Xanté brand was extended with Xanté Rum &
Pear and Xanté Coconut Cream & Pear. The iconic “Grénstedts Bla Punsch” (arrack liqueur) was relaunched in Sweden.

The number of visits to folk o folk website have dramatically increased during the period peeking at 560 000 sessions in
one single month. It is a result of successful search engine optimisation and increased presence in social media.

In June, Altia launched a new site, folkofolkki.se, that addresses consumers in Sweden with a Finnish background. The
site promotes Altia’s Finnish assortment including products that have not earlier been available in Sweden.
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Altia Industrial

The Altia Industrial segment comprises Koskenkorva plant operations, starch, feed component and technical ethanol
businesses, as well as contract manufacturing services. It also includes supply chain operations, i.e. production
operations in different countries, customer service and logistics.

Q220 Q219 Change, % H120 H119 Change, % 2019

Net sales, EUR million 23.8 27.5 -13.7 46.1 54.7 -15.6 110.2
Comparable EBITDA, EUR million 4.9 2.3 110.8 7.1 3.3 113.4 11.4
Comparable EBITDA, % of net sales 20.7 8.5 15.4 6.1 10.4
Average number of personnel 414 446 408 431 426
Net sales

In January-June, Altia Industrial’s net sales were EUR 46.1 (54.7) million, down by 15.6% from the previous year. The
decline is mainly due to lower contract manufacturing volumes and the normalised barley price. Following COVID-19,
the demand for technical ethanol has been strong and the volumes have remained at a higher level compared to last
year. Starch volumes were below last year’s level due to weaker demand in the paper industry while feed component
volumes were on last year’s level.

In the second quarter net sales were EUR 23.8 (27.5) million, down by 13.7% from the previous year.

Comparable EBITDA

In January-June, comparable EBITDA was EUR 7.1 (3.3) million, 15.4% (6.1%) of net sales. The improvement in
profitability is related to the normalised barley price as well as the higher volumes and increased overall market prices of
ethanol.

In the second quarter, comparable EBITDA was EUR 4.9 (2.3) million, 20.7% (8.5%) of net sales.

Production volumes and key projects

During the first half of the year, the Rajamdki alcoholic beverage plant in Finland produced 24.5 (31.1) million litres of
spirits and wine.

The Koskenkorva Plant Distillery has been running at full capacity during the period and 107.4 (105.9) million kilos grain
was used at the plant. Grain spirits production was 11.6 (11.1) million kilos including technical ethanols, starch

production was 31.9 (33.2) million kilos, and feed component production was 33.1 (32.9) million kilos.

During the period, production process investments at Rajamaki and a number of smaller improvement and maintenance
investments at the Rajamaki and Koskenkorva Distillery plants were carried out.
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Key events during January—June 2020

The key events during the period were:

« 29 January: Proposals by Altia’s Shareholders’ Nomination Board to the Annual General Meeting 2020
« 13 February: Altia’s Financial Statements Bulletin 2019: Solid Q4 supported profitability improvement
. 13 February: Notice of the Annual General Meeting 25 March 2020

* 13 February: New earning period in the share-based long-term incentive scheme for the management and key
employees of Altia

* 2 March: Annual Report 2019 and Remuneration Policy published

« 17 March: Altia delivers large amounts of ethanol to be used as key ingredient in hand sanitisers - deliveries enough
to create up to 200 000 sanitiser bottles per day

. 18 March: Altia postpones its Annual General Meeting 2020

» 30 March: Altia adjusts its operations and prepares for changes in the amount of work

* 6 April: Altia partners with Underberg to enter the German market with Koskenkorva Vodka and O.P. Anderson
Aquavit

e 29 April: Q1 2020 Business Review: Profitability improved in a solid Q1, uncertainty for the rest of the year,
guidance is suspended

* 4 May: Change in Altia’s Executive Management Team

« 13 May: Notice of the Annual General Meeting

. 13 May: Altia’s Board of Directors amends its previous dividend proposal to the Annual General Meeting

* 4 June: Decisions taken by Altia’s Annual General Meeting 2020 and Altia’s Board of Directors

Altia’s share

Altia’s shares are listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki. All shares carry one vote and have equal voting rights. The trading code
of the shares is “ALTIA”, and the ISIN code is FI4000292438.

Issued shares and share capital

At the end of the reporting period, Altia Plc's share capital amounted to EUR 60 480 378.36 and the number of issued
shares was 36 140 485.

Shareholders and trading

At the end of June 2020, Altia had 20 209 shareholders. During January-June, the highest share price was EUR 8.82 and
the lowest price was EUR 7.01. The closing price of Altia’s share on 30 June 2020 was EUR 7.98, and the market
capitalisation was approximately EUR 288 million.
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OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE BY SECTOR (AT THE END OF THE PERIOD)

Sector Number of shares % of shares
Public sector 15 698 309 43.4
Financial and insurance corporations 9 880 699 27.3
Households 7 802 346 21.6
Non-financial corporations 1 853 389 5.1
Non-profit institutions 543 589 1.5
Rest of the world 362 153 1.0
Total 36 140 485 100.0

Source: Euroclear Finland

10 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (AT THE END OF THE PERIOD)

Shareholder Number of shares % of shares
1 Valtion Kehitysyhtié Vake Oy* 13 097 481 36.2
2 llmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1113300 3.1
3 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1 050 000 2.9
4 Veritas Pension Insurance Company Ltd. 420 000 1.2
5 WestStar Oy 207 868 0.6
6 Saadstopankki Pienyhtiot 156 233 0.4
7  Saastopankki Kotimaa 150 000 0.4
8 Petter and Margit Forsstrém“s Foundation 140 200 0.4
9  Erikoissijoitusrahasto Visio Allocator 140 000 0.4
10 Mandatum Life Insurance Company Limited 137 798 0.4

Total 16 612 880 46.0

Nominee-registered shares 9 053 965 25.17

*) State’s Business Development Company
Source: Euroclear Finland

Governance

Annual General Meeting 2020

Altia’s Annual General Meeting was held in Helsinki on 4 June 2020. The meeting adopted the financial statements and
discharged the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO from liability for the financial year 2019.

Dividend payment

The meeting approved the proposal by the Board of Directors to pay a dividend of EUR 0.21 per share. The dividend was
paid on 15 June 2020.

Further, the AGM authorised the Board of Directors to resolve on the payment of dividend so that the amount of
dividend to be paid based on the authorisation shall not exceed EUR 0.21 per share. The authorisation is valid until the
end of 2020.

Unless the Board of Directors decides otherwise for a justified reason, the authorisation will be used to pay dividend one
time during the period of validity of the authorisation. The Board of Directors will make a separate resolution on the
possible payment of dividend no later than in the fourth quarter of 2020. The company shall make a separate
announcement of such resolution and confirm the record and payment dates in such announcement.
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Adoption of the Remuneration Policy for governing bodies

The Annual General Meeting adopted the Remuneration Policy for the governing bodies.

Remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors

The meeting decided based on the proposal by the Shareholders’ Nomination Board that the remuneration to the
members of the Board of Directors during the next term consists of a monthly term of office fee as follows:

. EUR 4 000 per month, Chairman
. EUR 2 500 per month, Vice Chairman
EUR 2 000 per month, member

In addition to the monthly fee, the members of the Board of Directors receive a meeting fee for the Board of Directors
and Board Committee meetings of EUR 600 per meeting for Board members residing in Finland and EUR 1 200 per
meeting for Board members residing abroad. Travel expenses are reimbursed in accordance with the company’s travel
policy.

Composition of the Board of Directors

The meeting approved the number of members of the Board of Directors to be seven. The meeting re-elected Sanna
Suvanto-Harsaae as Chairman of the Board and Tiina Lencioni, Jukka Ohtola, Anette Rosengren and Torsten Steenholt as
members of the Board. Jyrki Madki-Kala and Jukka Leinonen were elected as new members. Jyrki Maki-Kala was further
elected as Vice Chairman of the Board.

The term for the members of the Board of Directors lasts until the end of the next Annual General Meeting.

Auditor

In accordance with the recommendation by the Audit Committee, the Annual General Meeting re-elected
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy as the company’s auditor for a term that ends at the close of the next Annual General
Meeting. PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy has informed the company that Authorized Public Accountant Ylva Eriksson
continues as the auditor in charge. The meeting decided that the auditor’s fees be paid against an invoice approved by
the company.

Amendment of the Articles of Association

The AGM approved the proposal by the Board of Directors to amend the first sentence of Article 4 of the company’s
Articles of Association to set the maximum number of members of the Board of Directors of the company at eight
members instead of the current seven members, as follows:

“The company’s Board of Directors shall comprise a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of eight (8) members.”
Article 4 of the Articles of Association remains otherwise unchanged.

Further, the AGM approved that Article 11 of the company’s Articles of Association is amended so that the Annual
General Meeting shall decide, in addition to the items that currently appear from Article 11, also on the adoption of the
remuneration policy when necessary, and on the adoption of the remuneration report. Article 11 of the Articles of
Association remains otherwise unchanged.

Authorisation of the Board of Directors to resolve on the repurchase of the company’s own
shares

The AGM approved the Board’s proposal to authorise the Board of Directors to resolve on the repurchase of the
company’s own shares. The number of shares to be repurchased by virtue of the authorisation shall not exceed 360,000
own shares in the company, which corresponds to approximately one percent of all the company’s shares at the time of
the proposal, subject to the provisions of the Finnish Companies Act on the maximum amount of shares owned by the
company or its subsidiaries.

The shares may be repurchased in one or several instalments and either through a tender offer made to all shareholders
on equal terms or in another proportion than that of the existing shareholdings of the shareholders in the company in
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public trading at the prevailing market price. The shares would be repurchased with funds from the company’s
unrestricted shareholders’ equity.

The shares could be repurchased for the purpose of implementing the company’s share-based incentive plans or share
savings plans. The Board of Directors would be authorized to resolve on all other terms and conditions regarding the
repurchase of the company’s own shares.

The authorisation is valid until the close of the next Annual General Meeting, however, no longer than until 30 June
2021.

Amendment of the charter of the Shareholders’ Nomination Board

The AGM approved the proposal by the Shareholders’ Nomination Board to amend section 2 of the charter of the
Shareholders’ Nomination Board so that the Value Day is the first banking day of June each year instead of the current
Value Day, which is the first banking day of September.

Organisational meeting of the Board of Directors

Altia’s Board of Directors held its organisational meeting after the Annual General Meeting and elected members of the
Audit and Human Resources Committees as follows:

. Audit Committee: Jyrki Mdki-Kala (Chairman), Tiina Lencioni, Torsten Steenholt and Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae

. Human Resources Committee: Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae (Chairman), Jukka Leinonen and Jukka Ohtola

The Board of Directors has assessed that all members of the Board of Directors are independent of the company.
Furthermore, all members of the Board of Directors, with the exception of Jukka Ohtola, are independent of the
company’s significant shareholders. Jukka Ohtola is a member of the Board of Directors of Valtion Kehitysyhtié Vake Oy
and holds an office in the Ownership Steering Department of the Finnish Prime Minister’s Office and is therefore not
independent of a significant shareholder of the company.

Changes in Altia’s Executive Management Team

On 4 May, it was announced that Altia’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and member of the Executive Management Team,
Niklas Nylander has resigned from his position. Niklas Nylander will continue in his position and as a member of the
Executive Management Team until further notice, but no longer than until the end of October 2020. Recruitment for a
new CFO is ongoing.

Group structure

In order to simplify the Group structure, Altia Oyj’s Finnish subsidiaries excluding Oy Wennerco Ab were merged to Altia
Oyj and all Swedish subsidiaries to Altia Sweden AB as of 30 April 2020.

Personnel

During January-June 2020, Altia Group employed on average of 651 (701) persons. At the end of June, Altia Group
employed 663 (711) persons, of whom 411 (449) were employed in Finland, 110 (114) in Sweden, 4 (4) in Denmark, 22
(28) in Norway, 33 (31) in Latvia, 58 (61) in Estonia, and 25 (24) in France.

The temporary lay-offs that were implemented in Finland, Sweden and Norway affected approximately 180 persons.



Sustainability

As of February 2020, sustainability has been incorporated into the core of Altia’s strategy, together with Altia’s purpose,
Let’s Drink Better, which aims for a more sustainable drinking culture. For Altia, sustainability is both a strategic priority
and a key success factor in business. Koskenkorva Distillery and it’s award-winning circular economy case are found

at the heart of Altia’s sustainabilty thinking. Altia’s sustainaiblity work in all fronts aim to achieve the position of the
most sustainable drinks company in the Nordics.

Altia’s new Sustainability Roadmap in implementation

Altia has been guiding it’s responsibilty efforts according to the new Sustainability Roadmap from beginning of 2020.
The key target Altia is aiming to is carbon neutrality of own production already in 2025.

The new Sustainabilty Roadmap sets ambitious, numerical target to all chosen focal areas:

e Our Distillery - Carbon neutral production
*  Our Drink - 100% recyclable packaging
*  Our Society - 10% of portfolio low or non-alcoholic drinks

e Our People - Zero absence due to injuries

Altia awarded gold medal in Ecovadis sustainability rating

In April, Altia was awarded Gold Medal in EcoVadis Corporate Social Responsibility rating. Altia got 71/100 points and
scored higher than 98% of all the companies rated. Over 55 000 companies have been rated by EcoVadis across 198
purchasing categories and 150 countries. Altia strengths included its advanced management system in environmental
topics. Key development feedback was to develop even further the formalised policies in sustainable procurement.

Occupational safety

Occupational safety is one of the focus areas of Altia's Sustainability Roadmap and the tool to reach the goal of zero
absence due to injuries.

The injury frequency has decreased during the reporting period. Safety observations have been on the same good level
as in 2019 and have not increased. Altia received level 2 rating to it’s operations in Finland from Zero Accidents Forum,
which is a network of Finnish companies coordinated by The Finnish Institute for Occupational Health. Altia has been
improving its rating yearly and the aim is level 1.

Altia has started a project called Human Factor® at the Rajamdki production plant. The aim is to include human factors
as a part of investigating near miss situations and accidents. The project also aims to improve and develop safety
culture. The project started in 2019 and will continue until the end of 2020.

During the reporting period Altia has introduced and implemented minimum requirements for the most important safety

areas at all operational sites. The requirements cover: personal protective equipment, external craftsmen
(subcontractors), chemical handling and working at height.
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SUSTAINABILITY KEY FIGURES

The progress of the key figures during the reporting period has been according to the targets.

H1 20 H1 19 2019

Sickness absences, % 3.8 3.8 3.7
Total Registered Injury Frequency, TRIF (H1 20 exluding commuting) 12 22 14
Lost Time Injury Frequency, LTIF (H1 20 excluding commuting) 4 11 9

Both TRIF and LTIF are reported without commuting as of 2020. H1 2019 data includes commuting.

H1 20 H1 19 2019
Kosken— Rajamaki Kosken— Rajamaki Kosken- Rajamaki
and and and
korva korva korva
Tabasalu Tabasalu Tabasalu
E ffici MWh/m3 of product or t f
nergy efficiency (MWh/m3 of product or tonne o 078  0.32 0.80  0.31 063 027
barley)
Water efficiency (m3/m3 of product or tonne of 218 1.96 1.80 1.70 1.49 1.65
barley) (1)
Quality of waste water (kg COD/m3 of product or
3.93 2.10 3.66 2.48 3.37 2.29

tonne barley) (2)

(1) With regards to Rajamadki, the indicator includes water consumption at the alcohol beverage plant. The water consumption indicator
for the Rajaméki plant of the Industrial Products Unit is not material to the operations. (2) The waste water quality indicator is not
monitored at the Tabasalu plant.

Short-term risks and uncertainties

The most significant uncertainties in the company’s operations relate to the overall economic development and its
impacts on consumption, as well as the effects of alcohol taxes and legislation on consumer behaviour. Unexpected and
unforeseen disruptions in production and deliveries form the major short-term risks related to operations, as well as
sudden and significant changes in prices of raw materials, especially related to barley.

Altia PIc’s Board of Directors has confirmed the Group Risk Management Policy. Risk management is aimed at supporting
the implementation of Altia Group’s strategy, the identification of risks and methods for reducing the probability and
impacts of risks, as well as ensuring business continuity. Risks may arise from internal or external events.

Outlook for 2020

Market outlook

The development of the Group’s business operations and profitability are affected by the competitive environment, the
overall economic outlook and changes in alcohol taxation and regulation. Uncertainty related to changes in consumer
buying behaviour and consumer demand continues. In addition, overall fluctuations of direct product costs affect the
Group’s profitability.

COVID-19 update: Uncertainty in the operating environment is high. The recovery of the market depends on the level
and extent of governmental restrictions and recommendations on travelling, movement and social distancing. The pace
of recovery is difficult to estimate and it is affected by changes in consumer behaviour and is expected to vary across
sales channels.

Seasonality

There are substantial seasonal fluctuations in the consumption of alcoholic beverages impacting the net sales and cash
flow of Altia. The company typically generates large amounts of its revenue and cash flow during the fourth quarter of
the year, whereas the first quarter of the year is significantly lower. In addition, excise taxes related to the high season
at the end of the year are paid in January, resulting in large cash outflows at the beginning of the year.
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Guidance

Guidance for 2020 remains suspended due the prolonged uncertainties related to COVID-19. New guidance will be
provided if the impacts of COVID-19 on the operating environment and business conditions can be assessed in a
reliable manner.

The restrictions and instructions from governments and health authorities have a significant impact on Altia’s operating
environment. The visibility for the rest of the year continues to be poor and forecasting is difficult. Uncertainty in the
economy remains at a high level and the risk of an economic slowdown is high.

The recovery of the consumer beverage sales depends on the level and extent of governmental restrictions and
recommendations on travelling, movement and social distancing. The pace of recovery is difficult to estimate and it is
affected by changes in consumer behaviour and is expected to vary across sales channels: on-trade channels could be
expected to recover faster than travel retail.

Previous guidance published on 13 February 2020:

The continued decline in market volumes in Finland puts pressure on profitability growth. The uncertainties in global
travelling impacts border trade and travel retail regionally and in Asia. Guidance assumes a normal barley price level
following the 2020 harvest. Industrial services are impacted by phasing of volumes between the years.

The comparable EBITDA is expected to be at the same level as or higher than in 2019 (2019: EUR 44.8 million).

Financial calendar for 2020

Altia will publish the Business Review for January-September 2020 on 6 November.

Events after the period

On 1 July, the composition of Altia’s Shareholder’s Nomination Board was announced. Altia’s three largest registered
shareholders (shareholder register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd as per 1 June 2020) have nominated the
following representatives to the Shareholders’ Nomination Board:

. Pekka Hurtola, the Ownership Steering Department in the Prime Minister’s Office
*  Annika Ekman, llmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company

. Hanna Kaskela, Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company

In its organising meeting on 1 July 2020 the Nomination Board elected Pekka Hurtola as its Chairman. The Chairman of
Altia’s Board of Directors, Sanna Suvanto-Harsaae acts as an expert member in the Nomination Board.

Helsinki, 18 August 2020
Altia Plc
Board of Directors
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

EUR million Q220 Q219 H120 H119 2019
NET SALES 81.0 91.2 149.3 165.0 359.6
Other operating income 1.4 2.0 2.9 3.9 7.6
Materials and services -45.4 -54.4 -84.1 -99.4 -213.1
Employee benefit expenses -11.5 -11.6 -23.0 -23.1 -45.9
Other operating expenses -13.0 -18.0 -27.1 -32.9 -65.0
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -4.4 -4.5 -88 -9.0 -17.9
OPERATING RESULT 8.2 4.8 9.2 4.5 25.1
Finance income -0.1 1.0 0.2 2.5 3.5
Finance expenses -06 -14 -1.2 -3.5 -5.7
Share of profit in associates and joint ventures
and income from interests in joint operations 0.1 0.2 1 12 16
RESULT BEFORE TAXES 7.6 4.5 9.3 4.7 24.6
Income tax expense -1.5 -09 -19 -0.7 -6.2
RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 6.1 3.6 7.5 4.0 18.4
Result for the period attributable to:

Owners of the parent 6.1 3.6 7.5 4.0 18.4
Earnings per share for the result attributable to owners of the parent, EUR

Basic and diluted 0.17 0.10 0.21 0.11 0.51
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EUR million Q2 20 Q219 H1 20 H1 19 2019
Result for the period 6.1 3.6 7.5 4.0 18.4
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations - - - - -0.2
Related income tax - - - - 0.0
Total - - - - -0.2
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Cash flow hedges -0.2 -0.4 -0.0 -0.8 -1.3
Translation differences 3.6 -1.3 -1.7 -2.1 -2.4
Income tax related to these items 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.3
Total 3.5 -1.7 -1.7 -2.8 -3.5
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 3.5 -1.7 -1.7 -2.8 -3.6
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 9.6 2.0 5.8 1.2 14.8
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 9.6 2.0 5.8 1.2 14.8
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill 80.0 79.8 80.1
Other intangible assets 22.5 27.1 25.2
Property, plant and equipment 59.1 62.5 60.9
Right-of-use assets 8.9 11.5 10.4
Investments in associates and joint ventures and interests in joint operations 8.9 8.2 8.8
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1.4 1.4 1.4
Deferred tax assets 1.5 1.4 0.9
Total non-current assets 182.3 192.1 187.7
Current assets

Inventories 101.1 111.6 92.0
Contract assets = 0.1 0.2
Trade and other receivables 41.5 51.9 54.4
Current tax assets 2.7 4.5 1.6
Cash and cash equivalents 101.2 27.7 64.2
Total current assets 246.6 195.7 212.4
TOTAL ASSETS 428.9 387.7 400.2
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 60.5 60.5 60.5
Invested unrestricted equity fund 1.2 1.2 1.2
Fair value reserve 0.6 0.6 0.6
Legal reserve 0.1 0.1 0.1
Hedge reserve -1.0 -0.7 -1.0
Translation differences -23.7 -21.7 -22.1
Retained earnings 111.9 97.5 111.9
Total equity 149.5 137.6 151.2
Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 16.4 16.7 16.7
Borrowings 70.4 76.8 76.1
Lease liabilities 5.7 8.2 7.1
Employee benefit obligations 1.3 1.3 1.4
Total non-current liabilities 93.7 103.0 101.3
Current liabilities

Borrowings 51.5 20.5 6.5
Lease liabilities 3.5 3.4 3.4
Trade and other payables 127.9 122.4 134.7
Contract liabilities = 0.2 0.5
Current tax liabilities 2.8 0.6 2.5
Total current liabilities 185.7 147.1 147.6
Total liabilities 279.4 250.1 249.0
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 428.9 387.7 400.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners Invested
of the parent unrestricted Fair

Share equity value Legal Hedge Translation Retained
EUR million capital fund reserve reserve reserve differences earnings

Equity at 1 January 2019 60.5 1.2 0.6 - 0.0 -19.6 107.3 150.1
Total comprehensive income
Result for the period - - - - - - 4.0 4.0
Other comprehensive income (net of tax)
Cash flow hedges - - - - -0.7 - - =07
Translation differences - - - - - -2.1 0.0 -2.1
Total comprehensive income for the period - - - - -0.7 -2.1 4.0 1.2

Transactions with owners

Dividend distribution - - - - - - -13.7 -13.7
Share based payments - - - - - - 0.1 0.1
Total transactions with owners - - - - - - -13.7 -13.7
Transfer to reserve - - - 0.1 - - -0.1 0.0
Equity at 30 June 2019 60.5 1.2 0.6 0.1 -0.7 -21.7 97.5 137.6
Equity at 1 January 2020 60.5 1.2 0.6 0.1 -1.0 -22.1 111.9 151.2
Total comprehensive income
Result for the period - - - - - - 7.5 7.5
Other comprehensive income (net of tax)
Cash flow hedges - - - - -0.0 - -  -0.0
Translation differences - - - - - -1.7 -0.0 -1.7
Total comprehensive income for the period - - - - 0.0 -1.7 7.5 5.8
Transactions with owners
Dividend distribution - - - - - - -76 -7.6
Share based payments - - - - - - 0.1 0.1
Total transaction with owners - - - - - - -74 -7.4
Equity at 30 June 2020 60.5 1.2 0.6 0.1 -1.0 -23.7 111.9 149.5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EUR million Q220 Q219 H120 H119 2019
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Result before taxes 7.6 4.5 9.3 4.7 24.6
Adjustments

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4.4 4.5 8.8 9.0 17.9
.Sh.are of prc?flt in associates and joint ventures and income from interests in 0.1 0.2 1 12 16
joint operations

Net gain on sale of non-current assets = -0.0 = -0.0 -0.0
Finance income and costs 0.6 0.5 1.0 1.1 2.2
Other adjustments 0.2 -0.4 0.0 -0.4 -0.8

5.1 4.3 8.7 83 17.7
Change in working capital
Change in inventories, increase (-) / decrease (+) 0.9 -2.9 -9.4 -12.2 7.4
Change in contract assets, trade and other receivables, increase (-) / decrease 39 58 1.8 8.8 53
(+)
h i tract liabilities, trad d oth bles, i d

(C_)ange in contract liabilities, trade and other payables, increase (+) / decrease 10.2 15.5 55 87 38
Change in working capital 14.9 18.4 -3.0 -12.1 16.5
Interest paid -0.4 -0.3 -0.8 -0.8 -1.6
Interest received 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2
Other finance income and expenses paid -0.1 -0.6 -0.4 -1.3  -1.7
Income taxes paid -1.5 -1.6 -3.6 -2.9 -3.1
Financial items and taxes -2.0 -2.5 -4.7 -49 -6.1
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 25.7 24.7 10.3 -4.0 526
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -1.5 -2.1 -2.5 -3.2 -6.8
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1
Investments in associated companies and joint ventures = - = - -0.2
Interest received from investments in joint operations = - 0.9 0.9 0.9
Dividends received = - 0.2 - -
NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -1.5 -2.1 -1.3 -2.2 -6.0
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Changes in commercial paper program -10.0 4.0 45.0 14.0 -
Repayment of borrowings = - -5.7 -5.8 -6.5
Repayment of lease liabilities -0.9 -0.9 -1.7 -1.9 -3.7
Dividends paid and other distributions of profits -7.6 -13.7 -7.6 -13.7 -13.7
NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -18.4 -10.6 299 -7.4 -23.9
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5.8 12.0 389 -13.6 22.7
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 92.6 16.3 64.2 42.0 42.0
Translation differences on cash and cash equivalents 2.8 -0.6 -1.9 -0.8 -0.5
Change in cash and cash equivalents 5.8 12.0 38.9 -13.6 22.7
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 101.2 27.7 101.2 27.7 64.2
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Accounting principles

This half-year report has been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting as approved by the EU. This half-year report should be read together with Altia’s
Financial Statements 2019.

All the figures have been rounded and consequently the sum of individual figures can deviate from the presented
aggregate figure.

The Group adopts the guidance on alternative performance measures issued by the European Securities and Market
Authority (ESMA). In addition to key ratios, The Group releases other commonly used alternative key ratios mainly
derived from the statement of comprehensive income and consolidated balance sheet. In addition to IFRS and alternative
key ratios, the adjusted alternative key ratios are used by adding or deducting items affecting comparability.

Seasonality

There are substantial seasonal fluctuations in the consumption of alcoholic beverages impacting the net sales and cash
flow of Altia. The company typically generates large amounts of its revenue and cash flow during the fourth quarter of
the year, whereas the first quarter of the year is significantly lower. In addition, excise taxes related to the high season
at the end of the year are paid in January, resulting in large cash outflows at the beginning of the year.

Impacts of COVID-19 on Group financial position

*  The strict focus on net working capital management will continue in the upcoming quarters together with other
liquidity securing actions.

. Due to the COVID-19 uncertainties, Altia has assessed the impact of the pandemic on its financial position and has
considered the values of assets and liabilities that include critical accounting estimates and require management
judgement. Based on this assessment, Altia has not identified any indication of goodwill impairment.

®  The credit risk of trade receivables and the amount of bad debt provision has been analysed at the end of reporting
period with the conclusion being there is sufficient provision in place.

Segment information

NET SALES BY SEGMENT

EUR million Q220 Q120 Q419 Q319 Q219 Q119 Q418 Q318 Q218 Q118
Finland & Exports 29.2 23.8 37.8 31.2 34.7 25.0 39.5 31.8 35.4 27.1
Scandinavia 28.1 22.0 44.5 25.6 29.0 21.7 42.8 25.0 27.4 22.5
Altia Industrial 23.8 22.4 27.8 27.7 27.5 27.1 28.6 28.9 24.2 24.0
Total 81.0 68.2 110.1 84.5 91.2 73.8 1109 85.7 87.1 73.5
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EUR million

Finland & Exports

Change, %

Change, %

Net sales total 29.4 34.8 -15.5 53.3 59.8 -10.9 129.0

Net sales, internal -0.2 -0.1 100.0 -0.3 -0.2 50.0 -0.4

Net sales, external 29.2 34.7 -15.9 53.0 59.6 -11.2 128.6
Scandinavia

Net sales total 28.2 29.2 -3.4 50.3 51.0 -1.4 121.4

Net sales, internal -0.1 -0.2 -50.0 -0.2 -0.3 -33.3 -0.7

Net sales, external 28.1 29.0 -3.0 50.1 50.7 -1.1 120.7
Altia Industrial

Net sales total 34.2 38.0 -10.0 64.2 72.2 -11.2 149.7

Net sales, internal -10.4 -10.5 -1.0 -18.1 -17.5 3.4 -39.4

Net sales, external 23.8 27.5 -13.7 46.1 54.7 -15.6 110.2
Group

Net sales total 91.8 102.0 -10.0 167.8 183.0 -8.3 400.0

Net sales, internal -10.7 -10.8 -0.9 -18.5 -18.0 2.8 -40.5
Net sales, external 81.0 91.2 -11.1 149.3 165.0 -9.5 359.6
COMPARABLE EBITDA BY SEGMENT
EUR million Q2 20 Q219 H1 20 H1 19 2019
Finland & Exports 5.5 5.3 8.3 8.2 20.6
Scandinavia 2.9 2.0 2.8 1.7 12.1
Altia Industrial 4.9 2.3 7.1 3.3 11.4
Other -0.1 -0.2 0.6 0.5 0.7
Total 13.2 9.4 18.8 13.7 44.8
% net sales 16.3 10.4 12.6 8.3 12.4

Finland & Exports 5.5 2.8 7.3 5.0 5.3 3.0 6.2 4.9 4.6 3.4
Scandinavia 29 -0.1 9.1 1.3 20 -0.3 8.0 0.8 1.5 -0.1
Altia Industrial 4.9 2.2 4.5 3.6 2.3 1.0 2.2 4.8 2.5 1.4
Other -0.1 0.7 -1.3 1.5 -0.2 0.6 -0.6 -0.3 0.2 0.4
TOTAL comparable EBITDA 13.2 55 19.7 114 9.4 43 159 103 8.7 5.2
Items affecting comparability -0.7 -0.1 0.2 -1.6 -0.2 - -1.5 0.0 -0.4 -4.1
EBITDA 12.6 54 19.8 9.8 9.2 43 144 103 8.3 1.1
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -44 -44 -45 -45 -45 -45 -3.7 -36 -35 -35
Operating result 8.2 1.0 15.3 5.3 48 -0.3 10.7 6.6 4.8 -2.5
NET SALES BY PRODUCT CATEGORY (IFRS 15)

EUR million Q2 20 Q2 19 Change, % H1 20 H1 19 Change, % 2019
Spirits 28.8 31.6 -9.0 53.2 56.3 -5.5 121.3
Wine 28.0 30.9 -9.3 48.8 52.3 -6.7 124.9
Other beverages 0.5 1.2 -57.4 1.2 1.7 -29.4 3.1
Industrial products and services 23.8 27.5 -13.7 46.1 54.7 -15.6 110.2
Total 81.0 91.2 -11.1 149.3 165.0 -9.5 359.6
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Notes to the tables

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Property, Right-

Intangible
< Goodwill plantand of-use
- assets )

EUR million equipment  assets
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2020 148.1 128.3 247.9 14.1 538.4
Additions 0.4 - 2.4 0.3 3.1
Disposals -0.0 - -0.8 - -0.8
Effect of movement in exchange rates -1.6 -11.7 -0.1 -0.1 -13.6
Acquisition cost at 30 June 2020 146.9 116.5 249.4 14.3 527.1

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment

-123.0 -48.2 -187.0 -3.7 -361.8
losses at 1 January 2020
Depreciation and amortisation -3.0 - -4.1 -1.7 -8.8
A lated d iati d tisati di I d
ccumulated depreciation and amortisation on disposals an 0.0 ~ 0.7 ~ 0.7
transfers
Effect of movement in exchange rates 1.6 11.6 0.1 0.0 13.3
Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment
-124.4 -36.6 -190.3 -5.4 -356.7
losses at 30 June 2020
Carrying amount at 1 January 2020 25.2 80.1 60.9 10.4 176.6
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 22.5 80.0 59.1 8.9 170.4
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2019 147.3 128.0 244.6 - 519.9
IFRS 16 acquisition cost 1 January 2019 - - - 10.7 10.7
Acquisition cost as at 1 January 2019, restated 147.3 128.0 244.6 10.7 530.6
Additions 0.9 - 2.3 2.9 6.1
Disposals -0.1 - -1.2 -0.1 -1.4
Effect of movement in exchange rates -1.5 1.9 -0.2 -0.1 0.1
Acquisition cost at 30 June 2019 146.6 129.9 245.5 13.5 535.5
Accumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairment
-117.8 -47.3 -179.9 - -345.0
losses at 1 January 2019
Depreciation and amortisation -3.0 - -4.0 -1.9 -9.0
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation on disposals and
0.1 - 0.9 - 1.0
transfers
Effect of movement in exchange rates 1.2 -2.9 0.1 - -1.6
A lated d iation, tisati di i t
ccumulated depreciation, amortisation and impairmen 119.5 _50.2 -182.9 1.9 -3546
losses at 30 June 2019
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 29.6 80.7 64.6 - 174.9
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 27.1 79.8 62.5 11.5 181.0
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions have taken place with related parties:

EUR million H1 20 H1 19 2019
Sales of goods and services

Associates, joint ventures and joint operations 0.5 0.3 0.8
Other companies considered related parties 38.0 34.7 76.5
Total 38.5 35.0 77.3
Purchases of goods and services

Associates, joint ventures and joint operations 0.9 1.0 1.9
Other companies considered related parties 0.7 0.7 1.2
Total 1.6 1.7 3.2
Outstanding balances from sales and purchases of goods and services 30 Jun 2020 30 Jun 2019 31 Dec 2019

Trade receivables

Associates, joint ventures and joint operations 0.1 - -
Other companies considered related parties 2.3 1.2 0.9
Trade payables

Associates, joint ventu